

FSD PHARMA INC.

Annual Information Form for the year ended December 31, 2019

March 3, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM	
MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA	
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	
CORPORATE STRUCTURE	
Name, Address and Incorporation	- 9 -
Intercorporate Relationships	
History of FV Pharma	- 9 -
History of Prismic	
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS	
Three Year History	10 -
DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS	18 -
Overview	18 -
Licenses	
The Facility	
Products and Sales	
Specialized Knowledge and Personnel	
Competitive Conditions	
Environmental Matters	
Employees	
Cannabis Industry Overview	
Biosciences Division & Industry Overview	24 -
Reorganizations	
RISK FACTORS	
Risks Related to the Cannabis Production Business	
Risks Related to the Medical Cannabis Industry	
General Corporate Risks	
Risks Related to the Pharmaceutical Business	
Risks Related to our Intellectual Property	
DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS	
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE	
MARKETS FOR SECURITIES	
Trading Price and Volume	
Prior Sales	
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION	
TRANSFER	
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	
Name, Occupation and Security Holding	
Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions	
Conflicts of Interest	
PROMOTERS	
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS	
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS	84 -
TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR	
MATERIAL CONTRACTS	
AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION	
Composition of the Audit Committee	
Relevant Education and Experience	
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures -	8/-
Reliance on Certain Exemptions.	
Auditors' Fees INTERESTS OF EXPERTS	
	88 - 88 -

ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

In this Annual Information Form (this "AIF"), unless otherwise noted or the context indicates otherwise, references to "FSD Pharma", "FSD", the "Corporation", "we", "us" and "our" refer, collectively, to FSD Pharma Inc., a corporation formed under the OBCA (as defined herein) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including FV Pharma and Prismic (as such terms are defined herein).

All financial information in this AIF is prepared in Canadian dollars and using International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The information contained herein is dated as of March 3, 2020, unless otherwise stated.

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

This AIF includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources, including industry publications. The Corporation believes that its industry data is accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party sources generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data is believed to be reliable, the Corporation has not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this AIF or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The information provided in this AIF, including information incorporated by reference, contains certain "forward-looking information" or "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Canadian securities laws and United States securities laws (collectively, "Forward-Looking Statements"). Forward-Looking Statements relate to future events or future performance, business prospects or opportunities of the Corporation that are based on forecasts of future results, estimates of amounts not yet determined and assumptions of management made in light of management's experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments. All statements other than statements of historical fact may be Forward-Looking Statements.

Any statements that express or involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not statements of historical fact and may be Forward-Looking Statements. Forward-Looking Statements are often, but not always, identified by words or phrases such as "seek", "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "will", "predict", "intend", "forecast", "future", "target", "project", "capacity", "could", "should", "might", "focus", "proposed", "scheduled", "outlook", "potential", "may" or similar expressions and includes suggestions of future outcomes, including, but not limited to statements about: the Corporation's intention to increase its production through its proposed expansion of the Facility (as defined herein) owned by the Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary and the expected costs and timing thereof; the Corporation's proposed partnership and joint ventures with, and investments in, other entities; the Corporation's expected production capacity; the estimated costs of the Corporation's proposed capital projects and future investments; the potential proceeds from the exercise of the Corporation's outstanding share purchase warrants; the actions taken by the Corporation, or that the Corporation may take in the future, to adjust its capital structure; the improvements to the Corporation's cultivation, manufacturing and standardization processes; the potential future supply agreements; the potential effects of regulations under the Cannabis Act and Cannabis Regulations (as such terms are defined herein) and related legislation introduced by provincial governments; the undertaking of clinical research to study the effects of the Corporation's products on client health; the Corporation's strategy of becoming a leading provider of quality products for the medical cannabis market; and the future sales opportunities in other emerging medical markets. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on Forward-Looking Statements as the Corporation's actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed or implied.

The Corporation has made certain assumptions with respect to the Forward-Looking Statements regarding, among

other things: the Corporation's ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations and obtain financing, if needed, on acceptable terms or at all; the general economic, financial market, regulatory and political conditions in which the Corporation operates; the expected yield from the Corporation's cultivation operations; the interest of potential purchasers in the Corporation's products; competition from other licensed producers; anticipated and unanticipated costs; the government regulation of the Corporation's activities and products; the timely receipt of any required regulatory approvals; the Corporation's ability to obtain qualified staff, equipment and services in a timely and cost efficient manner; the Corporation's ability to conduct operations in a safe, efficient and effective manner; and the Corporation's expansion plans and timeframe for completion of such plans.

Although the Corporation believes that the expectations and assumptions on which the Forward-Looking Statements are based are reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the Forward-Looking Statements, because no assurance can be given that such statements will prove to be correct. Since Forward-Looking Statements address future events and conditions, by their very nature they involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially and adversely from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors and risks. These include, but are not limited to: reliance on the license issued by Health Canada (as defined herein) designating that, pursuant to the Cannabis Act, FV Pharma is authorized to cultivate, process cannabis and sell cannabis to other holders of licenses under the Cannabis Act pursuant to its Cultivation License, Processing License and Sale for Medical Purposes License (as such terms are defined herein); the limited operating history of the Corporation; the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern; the highly speculative nature of drug development; the Corporation's ability to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable; the Corporation's ability to raise the capital necessary for it to execute its strategy; the Corporation's dual class share structure; risks inherent in an agricultural business; rising energy costs; the Corporation's reliance on key persons; the Corporation's compliance with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations; insurance risks; the Corporation's failure to realize its cannabis production targets; interruptions in the supply chain for key inputs; demand for skilled labour, specialized knowledge, equipment, parts and components; the Corporation's reliance on the Facility as its only property for cannabis cultivation and related ancillary business; the expansion of the Facility; the Corporation's ability to manage its growth effectively; the Corporation's ability to successfully implement and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures; the Corporation not having been required to certify that it maintains effective internal control over financial reporting or effective disclosure controls and procedures; increased costs as a result of operating as a public company in the United States; risks related to the Corporation's status as a foreign private issuer; the Corporation taking advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies; the Corporation's ability to successfully identify and execute future acquisitions or dispositions; expansion of international operations; reliance on the operations of the Corporation's partners; results of litigation; conflicts of interest between the Corporation and its directors and officers; payment of dividends; the partial dependence of the Corporation's operations on the maintenance and protection of its information technology systems; unforeseen tax and accounting requirements; tax risks related to the Corporation's status as a "passive foreign investment company"; regulatory risks relating to the Corporation's compliance with the Cannabis Act; changes in laws, regulations and guidelines; the Corporation's ability to maintain the Cannabis Licenses (as defined herein); changes to the market price of cannabis; the ability of the Corporation to produce and sell cannabis supply; failure to execute definitive agreements with entities in which the Corporation has entered into letters of intent or memoranda of understanding; changes in government; changes in government policy; failure of counterparties to perform contractual obligations; the Corporation's ability to successfully develop new products or find a market for their sale; lack of certainty regarding the expansion of the cannabis market; the ability of key employees of the Corporation to obtain or renew security clearances in the future; the ability of the Corporation's employees or shareholders to enter the United States; unfavorable publicity or consumer perception of the Corporation and the cannabis industry; the Corporation's ability to promote and sustain its brands; marketing constraints in the cannabis industry; product liability claims or regulatory actions; the shelf life of inventory; fair value adjustments to the Corporation's biological assets; the impact of any future recall of the Corporation's products; increased competition in the cannabis market in Canada and internationally; the impact of any negative scientific studies on the effects of cannabis; reputational risks to third parties with whom the Corporation does business; the Corporation's ability to produce and sell its medical products outside of Canada; co-investment risks; failure to comply with laws and regulations; the Corporation's reliance on its own market research and forecasts; competition from synthetic production and new technologies; the Corporation's ability to transport its products;

liability arising from any fraudulent or illegal activity; the existence and growth of the cannabis industry; the Corporation's inability to complete clinical trials and attain the regulatory approvals it needs to commercialize pharmaceutical products; the Corporation's product candidates being in the preclinical development stage; the Corporation's ability to obtain regulatory approval in jurisdictions for any product candidates; delays in clinical trials; failure of clinical trials to demonstrate substantial evidence of the safety and/or effectiveness of product candidates; results of earlier studies or clinical trials not being predictive of future clinical trials; difficulties enrolling patients in clinical trials; side effects, adverse events or other properties or safety risks of product candidates; regulatory regimes of locations for clinical trials outside of the United States; failure to obtain approval to commercialize product candidates outside of the United States; published clinical trial data may change in future trials; manufacturing problems resulting in delays in development or commercialization programs; inability to successfully validate, develop and obtain regulatory approval for companion diagnostic tests for drug candidates; changes in funding for the FDA and other government agencies; product liability lawsuits; misconduct or other improper activities by employees, independent contractors, consults, commercial partners and vendors; failure to achieve market acceptance in the medical community; inability to establish sales and marketing capabilities; failure to comply with health and data protection laws; reliance on third parties to conduct clinical trials; loss of single-source suppliers; reliance on contract manufacturing facilities; inability to obtain or maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for the Corporation's products; third-party claims of intellectual property infringement; patent terms being insufficient to protect competitive position on product candidates; inability to obtain patent term extensions or non-patent exclusivity; inability to protect the confidentiality of trade secrets; inability to protect trademarks and trade names; filing of claims challenging the inventorship of the Corporation's patents and other intellectual property; invalidity or unenforceability of patents; claims regarding wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties; inability to protect property rights around the world; that additional issuances of the Corporation's shares could have a significant dilutive effect; and other factors beyond the Corporation's control.

The Corporation cautions that the foregoing list of important risk factors and uncertainties is not exhaustive. Although the Corporation has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in Forward-Looking Statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated, intended or projected. There is no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on Forward-Looking Statements. You should carefully consider the matters as further discussed under "Risk Factors".

The Forward-Looking Statements contained or incorporated by reference in this AIF are made as of the date of this AIF or as otherwise specified. Except as required by applicable securities law, we undertake no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any Forward-Looking Statements or the foregoing list of factors affecting those statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise or the foregoing lists of factors affecting this information.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

In addition to terms defined elsewhere in this AIF, the following terms, when used in this AIF, have the following meanings (unless otherwise indicated):

- "ACMPR" means the *Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations* (Canada), which were rescinded by the Parliament of Canada on October 17, 2018.
- "Acquireco" means 2620756 Ontario Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation incorporated under the OBCA for the purpose of carrying out the Amalgamation.
- "AGCO" means the Alcohol and Gaming Commission of Ontario.
- "AIF" has the meaning ascribed to herein under "Annual Information Form".
- "Amalco" means the amalgamated entity following the Amalgamation of Acquireco and FV Pharma, which continued under the name "FV Pharma Inc.".
- "Amalgamation" means the amalgamation of Acquireco and FV Pharma pursuant to the terms of the Amalgamation Agreement.
- "Amalgamation Agreement" means the business combination agreement dated March 9, 2018, entered into among the Corporation, Acquireco and FV Pharma in respect of the Amalgamation.
- "Articles of Amendment" means the amendment to the articles of the Corporation providing for the change of name of the Corporation from "Century Financial Capital Group Inc." to "FSD Pharma Inc.", and the concurrent reorganization of the Corporation's share capital, as further described herein.
- "Audit Committee" means the Audit Committee of the Board.
- "Auxly" means Auxly Cannabis Group Inc.
- "Bill C-45" means the Act respecting cannabis and to amend the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, the Criminal Code and other Acts.
- "Bill-36" means a new regulated private retail model for cannabis in Ontario by way of the Cannabis Statute Law Amendment Act, 2018.
- "Board" means the board of directors of the Corporation.
- "Business Combination" means the reverse takeover of the Corporation by the shareholders of FV Pharma.
- "Canada House" means Canada House Wellness Group Inc.
- "Cannabis Act" means the *Cannabis Act*, S.C. 2018, c.16, together with the regulations made thereunder from time to time (the "Cannabis Regulations").
- "Cannabis Licenses" has the meaning ascribed to herein under "Description of the Business Licenses Cannabis Licenses".
- "Cannara" means Cannara Biotech Inc.
- "Canntab" means Canntab Therapeutics Limited.

- "CBD" means Cannabidiol.
- "CDSA" means the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada).
- "Century Shares" means common shares in the capital of the Corporation prior to the reorganization of the Corporation's share capital as described in the Articles of Amalgamation.
- "Class A Shares" means the Class A multiple voting shares in the capital of the Corporation.
- "Class B Shares" means the Class B subordinate voting shares in the capital of the Corporation.
- "Coattail Agreement" means the coattail agreement dated May 24, 2018 among the Corporation, Computershare and certain of the Shareholders holding at least 80% of the Class A Shares.
- "Computershare" means Computershare Trust Company of Canada, the registrar and transfer agent of the Corporation.
- "Consolidation" has the meaning ascribed to herein under "Corporate Structure Name, Address and Incorporation".
- "Corporation" means FSD Pharma Inc. (formerly Century Financial Capital Group Inc.), a corporation formed under the OBCA.
- "CRO" means contract research organization.
- "CSA Notice" means the CSA Staff Notice 51-352 Issuers with U.S. Marijuana Related Activities.
- "CSE" means the Canadian Securities Exchange.
- "CTLS" means the Cannabis Tracking and Licensing System.
- "Facility" has the meaning ascribed to herein under "General Development of the Business The Facility".
- "FDA" means the U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
- "First Republic" means First Republic Capital Corporation, a company controlled by Anthony Durkacz.
- "Forward-Looking Statements" has the meaning ascribed to herein under "Forward-Looking Statements".
- "Founders" means, collectively, Anthony Durkacz, Zeeshan Saeed, and Thomas Fairfull, and "Founder" means any one of them.
- "FV Pharma" means FV Pharma Inc., a corporation incorporated under the OBCA and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.
- "High Tide" means High Tide Ventures Inc.
- "Licensed Producer" has the meaning ascribed to such term in the ACMPR.
- "MCTO" means management cease trade order.
- "Minister" means the Minister of Health of the Government of Canada.
- "MNP" means MNP LLP, auditors of the Corporation since November 29, 2019.

- "Nasdaq" means The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC.
- "NP 46-201" means National Policy 46-201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings.
- "OBCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Ontario).
- "OTCQB" means the OTCQB Venture Market.
- "PEA" means palmitoylethanolamide.
- "Pharmastrip" means Pharmastrip Corp.
- "Prismic" means Prismic Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of Delaware and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.
- "Processing License" means a Standard Processing License.
- "R&D" means research and development.
- "Regulations" means the Cannabis Act, including the Cannabis Regulations, and the new Industrial Hemp Regulations (Canada).
- "SAB" means the Scientific Advisory Board of the Corporation.
- "Sale for Medical Purposes License" has the meaning ascribed to herein under "Description of the Business Licenses Cannabis Licenses".
- "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Shareholders" means shareholders of the Corporation.
- "Solarvest" means Solarvest BioEnergy Inc.
- "Stock Options" means incentive stock options of the Corporation.
- "THC" means tetrahydrocannabinol.
- "USPTO" means the United States Patent and Trademark Office.
- "U.S. Exchange Act" means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- "Warrants" means warrants of the Corporation to purchase Class B Shares.
- "World Class" means World Class Extractions Inc.

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Name, Address and Incorporation

The Corporation was formed under the OBCA on November 1, 1998 pursuant to the amalgamation of Olympic ROM World Inc., 1305206 Ontario Corporation, 1305207 Ontario Inc., Century Financial Capital Group Inc. and Dunberry Graphic Associates Ltd.

On March 15, 2018, the Shareholders approved the amendments contemplated by the Articles of Amendment at the 2018 annual and special meeting of the Shareholders, pursuant to which, among other things, the Shareholders approved the redesignation of the Century Shares to Class B Shares, the creation of the new class of Class A Shares, and the elimination of the Corporation's existing non-voting Class A Preferred Shares and non-voting Class B Preferred Shares.

On May 24, 2018, FV Pharma completed a reverse takeover of the Corporation by way of a three-cornered amalgamation among the Corporation, FV Pharma and Acquireco, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation formed solely for the purposes of completing the Amalgamation. In connection with the completion of the Amalgamation, the Corporation: (i) changed its name from "Century Financial Capital Group Inc." to "FSD Pharma Inc."; and (ii) reorganized the capital structure of the Corporation to create a new class of Class A Shares, amend the terms of and re-designate the existing common shares as Class B Shares, and eliminate the existing non-voting Class A Preferred Shares and non-voting Class B Preferred Shares, pursuant to the Articles of Amendment.

On May 29, 2018, the Class B Shares commenced trading on the CSE under the trading symbol "HUGE". As a result of the completion of the Amalgamation, the Corporation's principal business activity became that of FV Pharma, being the cultivation of cannabis.

The Corporation's head office and principal place of business is located at 520 Williams Street, Coburg, Ontario, Canada K9A 3A5. The Corporation's registered office is located at 1 Rossland Road West, Suite 202, Ajax, Ontario, Canada L1Z 1Z2. As at the date of this AIF, the Corporation is a reporting issuer in each of the provinces of Canada (other than Québec).

On October 16, 2019, the Corporation amended its articles of incorporation to complete a consolidation of all of its issued and outstanding share capital. Pursuant to the amendment, all of the issued and outstanding Class A Shares and Class B Shares were consolidated on the basis of one post-consolidation share for every 201 pre-consolidation shares of the Corporation (the "Consolidation"). Unless otherwise noted, presentation in this AIF of the number of Class A Shares, Class B Shares, options, warrants and the issue or exercise prices and any other data related to the foregoing securities are all presented on a post-Consolidation basis.

Intercorporate Relationships

As at the date of this AIF, the Corporation has two material subsidiaries, each of which is directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Corporation: (i) FV Pharma Inc., formerly 2298519 Ontario Corp. which is wholly-owned by the Corporation and incorporated pursuant to the OBCA; and (ii) Prismic, which is wholly-owned by the Corporation and incorporated under the laws of the State of Arizona.

History of FV Pharma

FV Pharma was incorporated under the OBCA on September 12, 2011 under the name "2298519 Ontario Corp." and changed to its present name, "FV Pharma Inc.", on September 17, 2013. The registered and head office of FV Pharma is located at 1 Rossland Road West, Suite 202, Ajax, Ontario, L1Z 1Z2. FV Pharma's plant and operations are located at 520 William Street, Area 4, Bldg. #3, Cobourg, Ontario, Canada, K9A 3A5.

FV Pharma is a Licensed Producer of medical cannabis in Canada. FV Pharma intends to target all legal aspects of the cannabis industry, including cultivation, processing, manufacturing, extracts, and research and development.

History of Prismic

Prismic is incorporated under the laws of the State of Arizona. The registered and head office of Prismic is located at 474 Grove Street, Suite 740, Worcester, Massachusetts, United States, 06105.

Prismic is a U.S.-based specialty pharmaceutical company dedicated to addressing the opioid crisis by developing novel non-addictive prescription drugs for the treatment of pain, inflammation, and neurological disorders, based on formulations utilizing the Corporation's micro-PEA development platform (palmitoylethanolamide with particle sizes of 0.6-10 microns).

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

Three Year History

Business Combination with FV Pharma and Concurrent Financing

Prior to the closing of the Business Combination, the Corporation was engaged in the leasing of operating and manufacturing equipment such as industrial and construction machinery. As of August 31, 2016, all of the Corporation's former leases had been written off and the Corporation was inactive until the completion of the Amalgamation.

On March 9, 2018, the Corporation entered into a definitive Business Combination agreement with FV Pharma, which provided for the reverse takeover of the Corporation by the shareholders of FV Pharma. The Business Combination was carried out by way of a "three-cornered amalgamation" pursuant to the provisions of the OBCA. The three-cornered amalgamation included the following steps:

- (i) the Corporation filed Articles of Amendment, providing for the change of name of the Corporation from "Century Financial Capital Group Inc." to "FSD Pharma Inc." and the amendment and redesignation of the Corporation's share capitalization pursuant to which the existing Century Shares were re-designated as "Class B Shares", a new class of "Class A Shares" was created, and the existing classes of non-voting Class A Preferred Shares and non-voting Class B Preferred Shares were eliminated;
- (ii) Acquireco and FV Pharma amalgamated;
- (iii) each holder of FV Pharma Class A voting common shares transferred such shares to the Corporation in exchange for an aggregate of 15,000 fully paid and non-assessable Class A Shares on a one-for-one basis, and each holder of FV Pharma Class B non-voting common shares transferred such shares to the Corporation in exchange for an aggregate of 1,305,770,018 fully paid and non-assessable Class B Shares on a one-for-one basis (1,305,770,018 total, on a pre-Consolidation basis);
- (iv) the Corporation received one fully paid and non-assessable common share of Amalco for each common share of Acquireco held by the Corporation, following which all such common shares of Acquireco were cancelled;
- (v) all FV Pharma shares held by the Corporation as a result of the exchanges described above were cancelled and the Corporation received, for each FV Pharma share, one common share of Amalco and Amalco became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation; and
- (vi) Stock Options and Warrants were issued to the holders of the FV Pharma stock options and warrants, respectively, in exchange and replacement for, on an equivalent basis, such FV Pharma stock options and warrants, which were cancelled.

The Amalgamation resulted in Amalco becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation. Concurrently with the completion of the Amalgamation, the Corporation changed its name to "FSD Pharma Inc." and Amalco

continued under the name "FV Pharma Inc.". The Corporation continued the medical cannabis business of FV Pharma.

The valuation ascribed to FV Pharma in the Amalgamation was determined by arm's length negotiations between the Corporation and FV Pharma, and based in part upon FV Pharma's pre-Amalgamation financings. A formal third party valuation was not determined to be necessary.

The Amalgamation was approved by a special resolution of the holders of FV Pharma shares at a shareholder meeting held on May 15, 2018, and by the Corporation, in its capacity as sole shareholder of Acquireco. The Amalgamation was approved, pursuant to the policies of the CSE, by a majority (50% plus one vote) of the votes cast at the meeting of shareholders of FV Pharma.

Concurrently with the completion of the Business Combination, FV Pharma completed a multi-tranche private placement of subscription receipts of FV Pharma (each, a "Subscription Receipt") pursuant to the terms of an agency agreement (the "Agency Agreement") dated March 9, 2018 between FV Pharma and First Republic, as exclusive agent (the "Concurrent Financing"), and each Subscription Receipt converted into one Class B Share in connection with the closing of the Amalgamation. Under the Concurrent Financing, FV Pharma issued an aggregate of 371,159,913 Subscription Receipts at a price of \$0.09 per Subscription Receipt (the "Subscription Price") for aggregate gross proceeds of \$33,404,392.

On the closing of the Business Combination and the satisfaction of certain other escrow release conditions contained in the Agency Agreement and the subscription receipt agreement dated March 9, 2018 among FV Pharma, First Republic and Garfinkle Biderman LLP, as subscription agent, the Subscription Receipts converted into Class B Shares and the net proceeds from the Concurrent Financing (\$29,862,645) were released to the Corporation.

Investment in SciCann Therapeutics Inc.

On June 6, 2018, the Corporation announced that FV Pharma made an investment into SciCann Therapeutics Inc. ("SciCann") by executing a term sheet (the "Term Sheet") pursuant to which the Corporation invested approximately \$2 million and received shares of SciCann representing approximately 10.52% of SciCann's equity. On February 28, 2020, the Term Sheet was amended and certain of FV Pharma's rights thereunder were assigned to the Corporation.

Partnership Agreement with Cannara

On June 19, 2018, the Corporation announced the signing of a partnership agreement between FV Pharma and Cannara (the "Cannara Agreement"), effective May 31, 2018 concerning the development of Cannara's proposed cannabis cultivation facility outside of Montreal, Québec. In connection with the Cannara Agreement, the Corporation (via FV Pharma) received approximately 75 million shares of Cannara (each, a "Cannara Share"). On July 24, 2018, the Corporation announced that Cannara completed a \$17.66 million common share equity financing, during which the Corporation made an additional investment of \$1 million.

On February 20, 2020, the Corporation announced that it sold all of its direct and indirect equity interests in Cannara to a consortium of buyers for cash proceeds of approximately \$7.7 million. The terms of the sale were negotiated at arm's length with a group of buyers that included entities controlled by members of the Cannara board and senior management. A substantial portion of the Corporation's shareholdings in Cannara were subject to a statutory escrow period set to expire in December 2021. Under the terms of the transaction, the buyers agreed to acquire all of the Cannara Shares owned by the Corporation subject to escrow and, as such, assumed all of the associated market risk. The sale represents a 670% return on the Corporation's investment in Cannara.

Collaboration Agreement with Canntab

On September 18, 2018, the Corporation announced that it had signed a definitive collaboration agreement dated effective September 17, 2018 (the "Canntab Agreement") with Canntab. Under the terms of the Canntab Agreement, the Corporation will assist Canntab in obtaining a license to process and sell cannabis products pursuant

to the *Cannabis Act* and will provide Canntab with up to 10,000 square feet of space at the Facility. Canntab will build and install, at its expense, its own manufacturing facility within the Facility that will operate in accordance with Good Manufacturing Practices, at which it expects to produce a suite of novel cannabis oral dose delivery platforms, including gel capsules and tablets, and other types of cannabis-based products, including sleep aids and pain relievers (the "Canntab Products").

In consideration of the Corporation's services, Canntab will grant the Corporation certain royalty and profit sharing rights in connection with the sale of the Canntab Products. Canntab will provide the Corporation with 50% of the profits that Canntab receives on any retail sales of Canntab Products through channels that are established by the Corporation, and the Corporation will be entitled to retain 50% of the profits from the Corporation's sales of the Canntab Products. In addition, Canntab will pay the Corporation a royalty of 3.5% of Canntab's sale price for all Canntab Products that are manufactured and sold from the Canntab area of the Facility. Canntab may also purchase the oil that it requires for the Canntab Products from the Corporation.

Investment in High Tide

In April 2018 and October 2019, the Corporation completed two investments in High Tide for an aggregate purchase price of \$2.2 million. High Tide operates 19 licensed cannabis stores across Canada and holds provincial ecommerce licenses in Saskatchewan and Manitoba. On November 19, 2019, the Corporation sold all of the securities of High Tide it previously acquired to a third party for aggregate cash proceeds of \$614,520.

International Securities Listings

On August 14, 2018, the Corporation listed its Class B Shares on the Frankfurt exchange and trading under "WKN: A2JM6M" and the ticker symbol "0K9."

On September 19, 2018, the Corporation announced that the Class B Shares were upgraded to a listing on the OTCQB, trading under the ticker symbol "FSDDF".

Migration of Licenses to the Cannabis Act

On November 13, 2018, the Corporation announced that the Cultivation License, which was originally granted under the ACMPR, had been migrated to the Cannabis Act, effective November 8, 2018. The issuance of the new Cultivation License included the ability to sell cannabis products (excluding dried or fresh cannabis flower) to other Licensed Producers in accordance with subsection 11(5) of the Cannabis Regulations. As of November 7, 2018, FV Pharma also received license amendments approving all of the remaining 30,000 square feet currently built out for additional grow and operations. On June 21, 2019, the Cannabis Licenses were amended to allow the Corporation to sell or provide fresh or dried cannabis or cannabis oil to such other persons who are permitted to purchase medical cannabis products under the Cannabis Act.

Collaboration with World Class Extractions

On December 6, 2018, the Corporation announced that it had entered into a definitive Collaboration and License Agreement (the "WCE Agreement") with World Class, a company that has developed a unique extraction process designed to produce large-scale, quality, potent cannabis extracts. Under the terms of the WCE Agreement and a related lease, the Corporation agreed to (i) provide World Class with 5,000 square feet of space at the Facility, (ii) assist World Class in obtaining an extraction license from Health Canada, and (iii) provide World Class with raw cannabis needed to produce cannabis extracts.

In addition, World Class will use its specialized knowledge and procedures to produce cannabis extract for the Corporation. The Corporation will compensate World Class for such services by providing 7% of all cannabis extracts produced by World Class for the Corporation at the Facility to World Class, either in cash or cannabis extract, at World Class's option. In addition, World Class has granted the Corporation a 3% royalty right over the gross profits, as defined in the WCE Agreement, derived from World Class's sale of any cannabis extracts provided to World Class by the Corporation.

Anthony Durkacz, Executive Co-Chairman of the Corporation, is the chairman of the board of directors of World Class. Donal Carroll, Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation, also serves as a director of World Class. See "Directors and Executive Officers – Conflicts of Interest" and "Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Cannabis Production Business - Conflicts of interest may arise between the Corporation and its directors and officers as a result of other business activities undertaken by such individuals."

Investment in Huge Shops

Huge Shops operates as a cannabis retailer and offers cannabis products to consumers. Huge Shops has a strategic alliance with Chairman's Brands Corporation ("Chairman's Brands"), parent company of Coffee Time, a well-established operator of retail coffee shops with more than 75 locations in Canada and other locations worldwide.

On December 20, 2018, the Corporation announced that it had completed the purchase of 17,333,333 shares of Huge Shops (each, a "**Huge Shop Share**") based on the December 2018 subscription price of \$0.075 per Huge Shop Share, for a total investment of approximately \$1.3 million to acquire approximately 9.9% of the issued and outstanding shares of Huge Shops.

Solarvest Transactions

On May 7, 2019, the Corporation announced that it signed a definitive Collaboration and Research Development Agreement with Solarvest (the "Solarvest Agreement"). Under the Solarvest Agreement, Solarvest will conduct research (the "Solarvest Research Project") using its algal expression technology to develop pharma-grade cannabinoids (the "Project Cannabinoids"). The Corporation and Solarvest have allocated an initial budget of \$1 million for the Solarvest Research Project, over a two-year period, and created a joint scientific review committee to assess progress of the project against budgets and timelines.

If development of proof of concept that algae can express the Project Cannabinoids is achieved, the Corporation has the option to enter into an exclusive license agreement under which Solarvest will grant the Corporation an exclusive, worldwide license over any use of prescription drugs that can treat diseases affecting the central nervous system using a subset of the Project Cannabinoids. In consideration for the license, the Corporation will be required to pay Solarvest a royalty equal to 5% of the net profits from the sale of such products as well as reimburse Solarvest for the cost of production.

In addition to the licensing agreement, Solarvest will pay a royalty fee to the Corporation on the sale or licensing of any products that result from the project, other than the Corporation's licensed indications described above, equal to 5% of the net sales or net license fees. Once Solarvest has paid an aggregate of \$3 million in royalty fees, the royalty percentage will be reduced to 3%.

If the Project Cannabinoids are found to develop successfully in algae, then it may allow for the Corporation to manufacture pharmaceutical grade cannabinoid molecules at a fraction of the cost and time required to develop cannabinoids by standard cultivation and processing methods.

In connection with the Solarvest Agreement, (i) the Corporation issued 49,751 Class B Shares to Solarvest, at a deemed price of \$60.30 per Class B Share, (ii) Solarvest issued 3,000,000 units to the Corporation, at a deemed price of \$0.25 per unit (each, a "Solarvest Unit"), with each Solarvest Unit being comprised of one common share in the capital of Solarvest (each, a "Solarvest Share") and one common share purchase warrant with an exercise price of \$0.25 per Solarvest Share and a term of two years, and (iii) Solarvest issued a convertible debenture to the Corporation in the principal amount of \$2.4 million (the debenture has a five-year term, bears interest of 3% per annum, and is convertible into Solarvest Shares at a conversion price of \$1.00 per Solarvest Share, provided that the Corporation will be required to convert the debenture if Solarvest Shares close at a price of at least \$1.20 for a period of 20 consecutive trading days).

On February 4, 2020, the Corporation announced that it agreed to amendments to the Solarvest Agreement designed to accelerate the Solarvest Research Project. Under the amended Solarvest Agreement, the Corporation has agreed to issue an additional 225,371 Class B Shares to Solarvest, which will enable Solarvest to continue to fund the

Solarvest Research Project. In addition, Solarvest appointed Dr. Edward J. Brennan Jr., the President of the Corporation's BioSciences Division, to the board of directors of Solarvest.

Auxly Joint Venture

On March 3, 2018, the Corporation entered into a Definitive Strategic Alliance and Streaming Agreement (the "Auxly Agreement") with Auxly. On February 6, 2019, the Corporation sent Auxly a Notice of Default, thereby terminating the Agreement effective immediately. Later that same day, Auxly sent a Notice of Default to the Corporation in response. To date, neither party has taken further legal steps.

To fund the development, Auxly purchased 37,313 Class B Shares for the aggregate of \$7,500,000 from the treasury by way of private placement, which funds were placed in trust to be spent on construction and development costs in respect of the Facility. The funds were placed in a trust account to be administered by Auxly. Due to the termination of the Auxly Agreement and subsequent negotiations, it is indeterminable at this point as to the amount, if any, of these funds will be released to the Corporation. As a result, the Corporation entered a provision for loss against the funds, which loss has been recognized in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. Should any funds be released to the Corporation, those amounts will be recognized in future periods as gains on recovery. No other provision has been recorded for this matter as at December 31, 2019.

Investment in Pharmastrip

On September 6, 2018, the Corporation invested \$1.5 million in Clover Cannastrip Thin Film Technologies Inc. ("Clover"). The investment included units comprising 7,500,000 shares and 3,750,000 warrants. In connection with the investment, the Corporation entered into a definitive collaboration and profit sharing agreement with Pharmastrip (the "Pharmastrip Agreement"), an entity represented to be an affiliate of Clover, effective January 23, 2019. Under the terms of the Pharmastrip Agreement, the Corporation agreed to install Pharmastrip proprietary equipment at the Facility. The Corporation intended to use the equipment to manufacture and sell organic medical cannabis infused in oral thin film strips, subject to the receipt of all necessary approvals and licenses from Health Canada. Pharmastrip agreed to grant the Corporation an exclusive, perpetual license to manufacture and sell the oral thin film strips in Canada, and profits from the sale of any such products would be shared equally by the Corporation and Pharmastrip. As of the date of this AIF, Pharmastrip has not yet delivered equipment to the Facility so manufacturing has not commenced.

FSD was subsequently informed that certain principals of Clover were the subject of Federal Trade Commission proceedings in the U.S., and that the U.S.-based owner of the licensed technology had been placed into receivership. As a result of the foregoing, it may be difficult or impossible for us to realize a return on the investment in Clover and to commercialize the licensed Pharmastrip technology. The Corporation has written down the equity investment to \$0 in light of the circumstances.

Supply Agreement with Canntab and World Class

On February 12, 2019, the Corporation announced that it had entered into a supply agreement with Canntab and World Class (together, the "**Purchasers**") to purchase hemp flower from a supplier (the "**Supplier**"). Pursuant to this agreement, the Purchasers agreed to buy approximately 1,000 kg of the Supplier's 2018 organic hemp crop, for which the Corporation purchased a quantity with a value of \$100,000 prior to September 30, 2019. The Purchasers intend to extract CBD oil from the 2019-2024 organic hemp crops and process the oil into gel capsules and tablets at the Facility. The anticipated purchase price for the 2019 crop is \$1 million (plus applicable taxes). Of this amount, approximately \$500,000 will be paid by the Purchasers as a loan to the Supplier in the form of equipment, to be paid back in the form of hemp pursuant to a supply and loan agreement (the "**Supply and Loan Agreement**"). Pursuant to the Supplier's hemp crop for a period of five years commencing in 2019 at a purchase price of \$100 per kg per 1% of CBD extracted from the flower.

Canntab is a Canadian cannabis oral dosage formulation company based in Markham, Ontario, engaged in the R&D of advanced pharmaceutical-grade formulations of cannabinoids and trades on the CSE under the symbol "PILL".

World Class is understood to have developed a unique extraction process to produce quality, potent cannabis extracts using ultrasound to effectively produce extracts from cannabis and hemp and isolate essential compounds found in plant material.

Acquisition of Prismic

On April 23, 2019, the Corporation announced that it entered into a definitive securities exchange agreement with Prismic (the "Prismic Exchange Agreement"). Prismic is a U.S.-based specialty R&D pharmaceutical company, developing novel non-addictive prescription drugs with unique safety profiles with the goal of addressing the opioid crisis based on formulations utilizing micro-palmitoylethanolamide's "entourage" effect on certain drugs impacting the endocannabinoid system. When micro-PEA is administered simultaneously or in combination with other drugs such as opiates, certain anticonvulsants and cannabinoids (such as THC and CBD), at least one study has shown that the desired therapeutic effect may be achieved at a lower than normal dose of the opiate.

The acquisition of Prismic was completed on June 28, 2019. Pursuant to the terms of the Prismic Exchange Agreement, FSD acquired all outstanding securities of Prismic for an aggregate purchase price of US\$17.5 million (\$23.4 million based on an exchange rate of US\$1 to CAD\$1.3349 calculated based on the average daily exchange rate between April 5, 2019 and April 18, 2019), satisfied by the issuance of an aggregate of 510,940 Class B Shares at a deemed price of \$45.7275 (US\$34.2504) per Class B Share. The Class B Shares issued to the former Prismic shareholders are subject to an 18-month staggered escrow release pursuant to the terms of the Prismic Exchange Agreement. Additionally, the Corporation assumed approximately US\$2.90 million of outstanding Prismic liabilities on closing, some of which may be settled by the issuance of additional Class B Shares.

In accordance with the terms of the Prismic Exchange Agreement, all of the outstanding Prismic stock options and warrants were converted into options and warrants to purchase Class B Shares, with the number and exercise price of such securities having been adjusted in accordance with the exchange ratio under the Prismic Exchange Agreement. The Class B Shares underlying the replacement warrants and options issued to former Prismic securityholders are also subject to an 18-month staggered escrow release pursuant to the terms of the Prismic Exchange Agreement.

Zachary Dutton, co-founder of Prismic, agreed to continue to serve as the Chief Executive Officer of Prismic upon completion of the transaction. Peter Moriarty, co-founder and previous Chairman of the Board of Prismic, was named Chairman of the newly-formed FSD BioPharmaceutical Industry Advisory Board.

Agreement with Aura Health

On April 16, 2019, the Corporation entered into a share exchange agreement (the "Aura Exchange Agreement") with Aura Health Inc. ("Aura"). Pursuant to the Aura Exchange Agreement, FSD acquired common shares in the capital of Aura (each, an "Aura Share") valued at approximately \$3 million issued from treasury (13,562,386 Aura Shares at a deemed price of \$0.221 per Aura Share) in exchange for Class B Shares having an aggregate value of \$3 million (being 65,577 Class B Shares at a deemed price of \$45.7476 per Class B Share). Subsequent to September 30, 2019, Aura announced a name change to Pharmadrug Inc.

In addition to the Aura Exchange Agreement, Aura, through Pharmadrug Production GmbH ("**Pharmadrug DE**"), a company in which Aura holds an 80% equity interest, and the Corporation entered into: (i) a consulting agreement, whereby Pharmadrug DE will assist FV Pharma with obtaining euGMP certification at the Facility; and (ii) a supply agreement, whereby Pharmadrug DE committed to purchasing Canadian produced cannabis product from FV Pharma, provided that such product is saleable in the German market. Pharmadrug DE is one of the few cannabis distribution license holders in Germany. Strategically, this opens another channel for the Corporation to distribute cannabis products in the German market where prices for cannabis are often higher than in Canada.

In October 2019, FSD issued an additional 61,893 Class B Shares to Aura pursuant to a make whole provision under the Aura Exchange Agreement.

Changes to Management, Board of Directors and Advisors

On July 23, 2018, the Corporation announced the appointment of Mr. Donal Carroll to the role of interim Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"). Mr. Carroll is a finance executive with 20 years of corporate finance leadership and public company experience, as well as deep expertise in syndicate investing, both in equity and debt securities. Mr. Carroll has successfully guided companies for expansion and growth, and has worked with major companies such as Danaher and Unilever (NYSE:UL), where he was instrumental in major restructuring activities, mergers and acquisitions, and the implementations of new internal controls and enterprise resource planning systems resulting in significant efficiencies through periods of substantial change and strong company growth. Mr. Carroll has been an independent director of Bird River Resources Inc. and holds a CPA-CMA designation, as well as a Bachelor of Commerce degree, from University College Dublin.

On August 2, 2018, the Corporation announced the appointment of Dr. Raza Bokhari to its Board. Dr. Bokhari served as the Chairman & Chief Executive Officer of PCL, a global diagnostic provider of addiction screening and opioid prescription medication monitoring, including designer drugs and synthetic cannabinoids. He is also the managing partner of RBx Capital, LP and a recipient of Philadelphia Business Journal's "40 under 40" award. A physician-turned-entrepreneur, Dr. Bokhari has, over the past several years, developed expertise in aggregating and accelerating life sciences and healthcare services companies. He has a vast knowledge base of developing creative concepts, implementing programs and forming strategic alliances. An effective "change agent" with several years of experience and expertise in start-up and turn-around businesses, he is adept at turning around struggling companies. Dr. Bokhari recognizes the special role of public offerings, private equity funds, venture capital money, and leveraged debt partners in executing accelerated growth trends in healthcare services and cancer diagnostics and therapeutics.

On October 29, 2018, Dr. Bokhari was appointed as Executive Co-Chairman of the Board and interim Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. Further, the Corporation announced the appointment of Zeeshan Saeed as President of the Corporation and Anthony Durkacz as Executive Co-Chairman of the Board.

On November 14, 2018, the Corporation announced the appointment of David Urban to the Board. Mr. Urban is an accomplished business and government relations executive. He and his company advise organizations ranging in size from start-ups to the Fortune 100 companies on interactions with government in order to maximize stakeholder and shareholder value. In the field of politics, Mr. Urban has achieved success serving as an advisor to campaigns at the highest levels, including the President of the United States, the United States Senate and United States House of Representatives. In addition to his role as a business consultant and political advisor, Mr. Urban is a frequent contributor to CNN as a political commentator.

On November 26, 2018, the Corporation announced the appointment of Rupert Haynes as Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. Mr. Haynes was subsequently terminated as Chief Executive Officer on February 6 2019, and Dr. Raza Bokhari was appointed interim (and subsequently permanent) Chief Executive Officer.

On March 13, 2019, the Corporation announced the departure of Thomas Fairfull as President of FV Pharma and the subsequent appointment of Sara May as President of FV Pharma. Additionally, the Corporation announced the departure of Vladimir Klacar, a former Board nominee of Auxly, from the Board.

On April 4, 2019, the Corporation announced the appointment of Dr. Charles V. Pollack Jr. to its SAB. In this capacity, Dr. Pollack serves as a strategic guide and resource to the Corporation as it develops disruptive, science-based, cannabinoid therapeutics. Dr. Pollack founded The Lambert Center for the Study of Medicinal Cannabis and Hemp at Thomas Jefferson University, in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, in 2016. It is the only comprehensive academic resource for education, research, and practice around the use of medicinal cannabinoids to be housed in a U.S. university. Dr. Pollack is also an Editorial Board member of the Journal of Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research.

On May 28, 2019, the Corporation announced the appointment of pharmaceutical industry leader, Edward J. Brennan, Jr., M.D., FACS, as President of its Biosciences division. Dr. Brennan has more than 25 years' experience in leadership roles at major pharmaceutical companies and clinical research organizations. Dr. Brennan has extensive experience in all phases of clinical development across multiple therapeutic areas. As a Medical Director

with Wyeth-Ayerst Research and GlaxoSmithKline, he led teams through ten investigational new drug (IND) applications and advanced multiple compounds from pre-candidate selection (proof of concept) through clinical trial management and approval. At GlaxoSmithKline, he was also responsible for coordinating all clinical activities for external partners within its Center of Excellence in External Drug Discovery. He next founded IndiPharm, a full-service global CRO that was eventually acquired by a private equity company, Velocity Fund Partners. Dr. Brennan received his undergraduate Bachelor of Science Degree in Pharmacy from the Philadelphia College of Pharmacy and Science. He went on to study medicine at the Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland before receiving his medical degree from the Temple University School of Medicine.

On June 3, 2019, the Corporation announced that Dr. Raza Bokhari had been appointed as (permanent) Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation.

On June 6, 2019, the Corporation announced the addition of two cannabis researchers to the SAB, Dr. Ziva Cooper and Dr. Mallory Loflin. Ziva Cooper, Ph.D., is the Research Director of the University of California, Los Angeles ("UCLA") Cannabis Research Initiative in the Semel Institute for Neuroscience and Human Behavior in the Department of Psychiatry and Biobehavioral Sciences. Dr. Cooper has been overseeing and publishing studies investigating cannabis neurobiology and dependence for over 10 years, including studies examining the effects of these drugs on experimentally induced pain. After receiving her Ph.D. in Biopsychology in 2007 in the field of preclinical psychopharmacology, Dr. Cooper moved to Columbia University to focus on translating preclinical studies of psychoactive substances to the clinic using controlled human drug administration studies. Dr. Cooper's current research involves understanding the neurobiological, pharmacological, and behavioral variables that influence both the therapeutic potential and adverse effects of cannabis and cannabinoids. Dr. Cooper previously served on the National Academies of Sciences Committee on the Health Effects of Cannabis that recently published a comprehensive consensus report of the health effects of cannabis and cannabinoids. Dr. Cooper is a member of the Editorial Board of Cannabis and Cannabinoid Research.

Mallory Loflin, Ph.D., is a research scientist for Veterans Affairs San Diego Healthcare System (VASDHCS) and an Assistant Professor of Psychiatry within the University of California, San Diego (UCSD) School of Medicine. Dr. Loflin's entire research career has been dedicated to the study of cannabinoids, with the aim of informing both prevention efforts for problematic use and development of cannabinoid-based therapeutics. She is currently conducting as principal investigator for the first VA-funded cannabinoid clinical trial, "Cannabidiol as an Adjunctive to Prolonged Exposure for the Treatment of PTSD," as part of a Career Development Award (CDA-2) funded by Veterans Affairs Clinical Science Research & Development (CSR&D). Dr. Loflin is also a co-investigator and consultant on four other ongoing cannabis and cannabinoid research studies, and currently holds a U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration research registration for schedule 1 controlled substances at Veteran Affairs San Diego. She is currently engaged in training efforts for advanced specialization in private-public drug development as part of her CDA-2 award's training plan.

On June 12, 2019, the Corporation announced the appointment of James A. Datin and Robert J. Ciaruffoli to the Board. Mr. Datin is the current President and Chief Executive Officer of BioAgilytix Labs, LLC, a leading global bioanalytical CRO that supports the development of novel therapeutic biologics. Mr. Datin also has considerable experience managing growing companies throughout the U.S., Europe and Asia, and has completed various corporate transactions including venture investments, buyouts, acquisitions, mergers, initial public offerings, licensing and partnership agreements.

Mr. Ciaruffoli is a CPA and served as the Chairman and CEO of the Parente Beard/Baker Tilly accounting and advisory firm. During his tenure as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, he and his team transitioned the firm from a Pennsylvania practice to a multi-state super-regional firm. In 2014, he orchestrated a merger of the Parente Beard and Baker Tilly Virchow Krause firms to create the 12th largest U.S. accounting and advisory firm. Throughout his career, Mr. Ciaruffoli has served on numerous for-profit and not-for-profit boards.

On July 30, 2019, the Corporation announced the appointment of Dr. Larry Kaiser as Chairman of the SAB. In this capacity, Dr. Kaiser has served as a strategic guide and resource to the Corporation as it develops disruptive, science-based, cannabinoid therapeutics. Dr. Kaiser is the Dean, Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple University, President & CEO of Temple Health System and Senior Executive Vice President for Health Affairs at Temple University in Philadelphia, and was named one of the "50 Most Influential Clinical Executives" for 2019 by

Modern Healthcare. Before joining Temple University in 2011, Dr. Kaiser served as the President of the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston. He graduated from Tulane University School of Medicine and completed a residency in general surgery as well as a fellowship in surgical oncology at UCLA. Dr. Kaiser then completed a residency in cardiovascular and thoracic surgery at the University of Toronto. Following faculty appointments at Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center and the Washington University School of Medicine, Dr. Kaiser joined the University of Pennsylvania in 1991, where he held positions including Associate Professor of Surgery, Chief of General Thoracic Surgery, Founder and Director of Penn's Lung Transplantation Program, and Director of its Center for Lung Cancers and Related Disorders. In 2001, he was named the John Rhea Barton Professor and Chairman of the Department of Surgery and the University Health System's Surgeon-in-Chief. Dr. Kaiser maintains time in his schedule at Temple University for a limited surgical practice.

On October 11, 2019, Mr. Stephen Buyer, a former member of the U.S. House of Representatives, was appointed as a director of the Corporation. Mr. Buyer was a member of the United States House of Representatives, serving nine consecutive terms from January 1993 to January 2011. During Congressman Buyer's long tenure in Congress, he served on the Veterans Affairs, Armed Services, Judiciary, Energy and Commerce Committees, and also served on the Military Compensation and Retirement Modernization Commission. He is presently the Managing Partner of the 10-Square Solution, LLC, focusing on business development, mergers and acquisitions, and representation before the U.S. federal government.

On January 2, 2020, the Corporation announced further changes to its management team. The Corporation appointed Donal Carroll as the Chief Financial Officer on a permanent basis, Sandra Lottes as Vice President & Head of Clinical Research for the Corporation's BioSciences Division and Shahzad Shah as Chief Operating Officer of FV Pharma.

On January 22, 2020, the Corporation appointed Dr. Larry Kaiser to its board of directors. Dr. Kaiser continues to serve as the Chairman of the SAB. Dr. Kaiser is currently the Managing Director with the Healthcare Industry Group at Alvarez & Marsal, a global professional services firm.

Q4 2019 Private Placement

The Corporation completed a private placement of Class B Shares in two tranches closed on September 30, 2019 and November 4, 2019 (the "2019 Private Placement"). Under the 2019 Private Placement, the Corporation issued an aggregate of 228,671 Class B Shares to the purchasers under the private placement at a price of \$20.10 per Class B Share, for aggregate gross proceeds of \$4,593,777. Certain of the purchasers of Class B Shares in the Private Placement included members of senior management and the Board. The Corporation's leadership team, representing founders, directors and members of senior management collectively invested more than \$500,000. The net proceeds from the Private Placement will be used for the expansion of the Corporation's biosciences division, including the research and development of PP-101 micro-PEA plus pregabalin – the Corporation's pre-clinical drug candidate for the treatment of symptoms related to fibromyalgia – and for general corporate purposes, including working capital, potential investments and acquisitions.

Nasdaq Listing

On December 16, 2019, the Corporation announced that Nasdaq approved FSD's application to list the Class B Shares on the Nasdaq Capital Market. The Class B Shares commenced trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on January 9, 2020 under the symbol "HUGE".

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Overview

The Corporation is a licensed producer of cannabis in Canada under the Cannabis Act and Regulations. The Corporation operates two business divisions: one division is focused on bioscience, including R&D and clinical development of synthetic cannabinoid based treatments of certain disease conditions with an aim to improve patient outcomes. Our goal is for these compounds to ultimately be approved by the FDA and other international regulatory

agencies as prescription medications. The other division is focused on producing and extracting high-quality, hydroponic, pharmaceutical-grade cannabis leaf. The common denominator between the two divisions is the medicinal-grade cannabis plant and its derivative cannabinoids.

Licenses

Cannabis Licenses

The Corporation holds three licenses from Health Canada: (i) a Cultivation License (defined below); (ii) a Processing License; and (iii) a Sale for Medical Purposes License (defined below, and collectively, the "Cannabis Licenses"). FV Pharma received its initial Cultivation License under section 22(2) of the ACMPR on October 13, 2017, authorizing FV Pharma to cultivate and process cannabis (the "Cultivation License"). In addition, the Cultivation License permitted FV Pharma to acquire cannabis plants and/or seeds for the purpose of initiating plant growth and for conducting analytical testing. The Cultivation License subsequently migrated to the Cannabis Act and its Regulations, effective November 8, 2018, and expanded to allow FV Pharma to sell cannabis to other licensed producers in accordance with subsection 11(5) of the Regulations.

On February 19, 2019, the Corporation announced that FV Pharma had received its Processing License. The Processing License allows FV Pharma to produce cannabis, other than obtain it by cultivating, propagating or harvesting it (i.e. extract oils). Under Health Canada's new Cannabis Regulations, the Processing License is required for any facility that is processing more than the equivalent of 600 kg of dried flowers per year.

On April 22, 2019, the Corporation received a Sale for Medical Cannabis License (the "Sale for Medical Purposes License") to supply and sell certain cannabis products under the Cannabis Act, which was limited to cannabis plants and cannabis plant seed. The Sale for Medical Purposes License went into effect on April 18, 2019. On June 21, 2019, the Corporation received an amendment to its Sale for Medical Purposes License, which now permits FV Pharma to sell or provide fresh cannabis or dried cannabis oil to such other persons who are permitted to purchase medical cannabis products under the Cannabis Act. The Cannabis Licenses are valid until October 13, 2020.

The Corporation commenced sales of medical cannabis under the Cannabis Licenses in August 2019. The Corporation is not currently licensed to sell cannabis for adult recreational use, and has no immediate plans to apply for a license that would permit us to do so. However, the Corporation has made investments in certain recreational cannabis retailers in Canada. For additional information on our investments in recreational cannabis retailers in Canada, see "General Development of the Business – Three Year History."

FSD Biosciences - License to Micro-PEA

As a result of the acquisition of Prismic, the Corporation acquired an exclusive, worldwide (excluding Italy and Spain) license to use for pharmaceutical purposes patents and other intellectual property rights to micro-PEA owned by Epitech Group SpA. PEA is a naturally occurring substance that is produced within the body in response to inflammation and interacts with endocannabinoid receptors throughout the body, including the central nervous system. FSD is currently seeking to advance pharmaceutical development programs centered on ultra micro-PEA that meet one or more selected criteria. All efforts are intended to be founded on a biologic plausibility of an efficacious effect with a high safety profile.

The Facility

FV Pharma's plant and operations are located at its facility located at 520 William Street, Cobourg, Ontario, K9A 3A5 (the "Facility"). FV Pharma acquired the Facility in November 2017 and expanded operations into the Facility in 2018, following approval from Health Canada and the completion of financing to complete its proposed capital improvements. FV Pharma's Cannabis Licenses permit the cultivation and processing of cannabis at the Facility.

The Facility is licensed for 25,000 square feet. Within this area, the space is designated for several purposes: flowering, vegetation, drying, packaging and ancillary space. The overall square footage also includes truck traps, hallways, etc. 9,500 square feet is canopy space (flower rooms plus vegetation rooms). In total, the Facility hosts an

existing 620,000 square feet of building space. The Facility is situated only one hour east of Toronto in Cobourg, Ontario, off the 401 highway and has access by car or rail to Toronto, Ottawa and Montreal.

As of the date of this AIF, the Corporation has not entered into any contractual arrangements and has no current commitments for capital expenditures with respect to the build-out of the Facility. The Corporation owns the 70-acre property on which the Facility is located (the "Facility Property"). Approximately 32 acres of the Facility Property are utilized for the Facility's current building, with the remaining 38 acres available for additional development.

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Corporation is considering the continuing use or sale of the Facility.

Products and Sales

FV Pharma commenced medical sales under the Cannabis Licenses starting in August 2019, generating revenue from the sale of cannabis products during the financial year ended December 31, 2019 of \$275,000 (*December 31*, 2018 - \$0). Sales of medicinal cannabis during the most recently completed financial year accounted for 100% of our consolidated revenue in the previous year.

The Corporation continues to canvass, and as indicated above with respect to the agreement with Canntab and World Class has entered into, potential opportunities with respect to the commercial sale of products of FV Pharma.

FSD Bioscience is developing novel, non-addictive prescription drugs for the treatment of pain, inflammation, and neurological disorders, based on formulations utilizing Prismic's micro-PEA development platform. Prismic's first prescription drug candidate, PP-101, a 600 mg tablet of micro-PEA, is anticipated to commence a Phase 2/3 accelerated clinical development program in early 2020 as a concomitant medication to be administered with pregabalin (Pfizer's Lyrica®) for the treatment of fibromyalgia.

Specialized Knowledge and Personnel

Cannabis Business

Knowledge with respect to cultivating and growing medical cannabis is important to the industry. The nature of growing cannabis is not substantially different from the nature of growing other agricultural products. Variables such as temperature, humidity, lighting, air flow, watering and feeding cycles are defined and controlled to produce consistent product and to avoid contamination. The product is cut, sorted and dried under defined conditions that are established to protect the activity and purity of the product. Once processing is complete, each processing batch is subjected to testing against quality specifications set for activity and purity.

Dr. Sara May, President of FV Pharma, is a Ph.D. graduate with a multidisciplinary background in plant breeding and crop genetics. She has over 10 years' experience designing, implementing and managing large-scale projects in the field, lab and greenhouse. Dr. May has deep expertise in the medical cannabis industry, which includes managing large scale operations, developing and implementing quality control and quality assurance methods and standard operating procedures. Prior to joining FV Pharma, she grew high quality medical cannabis in California, and was responsible for cloning, up-keep, harvesting, processing and selling product into licensed dispensaries. Dr. May has co-authored ten peer-reviewed published manuscripts and is an active peer reviewer for national and international scientific journals.

FSD BioSciences

Each of Dr. Brennan, Dr. Kaiser, and Dr. Pollack are highly regarded within their respective fields of medicine, and, together with our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Bokhari, they help to guide the Corporation's future direction as an early stage pharmaceutical company. This leadership group brings a combination of skills, knowledge and experience that will be necessary for the execution of our business plan. Dr. Bokhari has served as an executive of a company that developed addiction screening and opioid prescription medication monitoring, including designer drugs and synthetic cannabinoids. He has experience investing in, acquiring, and operating life sciences and therapeutics companies. Dr. Brennan has more than 25 years' experience in leadership roles at major pharmaceutical

companies and clinical research organizations. He also has extensive experience in all phases of clinical development across multiple therapeutic areas, including overseeing advanced multiple compounds from precandidate selection (proof of concept) through clinical trial management and approval and coordinating external clinical activities for a large enterprise. Dr. Kaiser is an experienced medical administrator of post-secondary institutions and a recognized clinical executive. Dr. Pollack is the founder of the only comprehensive academic resource for education, research, and practice around the use of medicinal cannabinoids to be housed in a U.S. major university.

Our future growth and success depend on our ability to recruit, retain, manage and motivate our qualified employees. The inability to hire or retain experienced personnel in the pharmaceutical field could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan and harm our operating results. Due to the specialized scientific and managerial nature of our business, we rely heavily on our ability to attract and retain qualified scientific, technical and managerial personnel. The competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical field is intense. Due to this intense competition, we may be unable to continue to attract and retain qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business or to recruit suitable replacement personnel.

Competitive Conditions

Cannabis Business

The Corporation expects to compete with other Licensed Producers in Canada and, as it moves forward with execution of its international business plan, expects to compete with other exporting Canadian Licensed Producers as well as local foreign producers. While the Corporation is well positioned to deliver high-quality, consistent product to the market, its main competitive drawback is its size relative to the larger players in the industry. For further information, see "Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Cannabis Production Business" and "Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Medical Cannabis Industry" in this AIF.

FSD BioSciences

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid change. The industry continues to expand and evolve as an increasing number of competitors and potential competitors enter the market. Many of these competitors and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, managerial and research and development resources and experience than we have. Some of these competitors and potential competitors have more experience than we have in the development of pharmaceutical products, including validation procedures and regulatory matters. In addition, micro-PEA competes with, and our product candidates, if successfully developed, will compete with, product offerings from large and well-established companies that have greater marketing and sales experience and capabilities than we or our collaboration partners have. Other companies with greater resources than us may announce similar plans in the future. In addition, there are non-FDA approved CBD preparations being made available from companies

Environmental Matters

The Corporation's growing operations at the Facility are, by their nature, highly contained and have no material environmental impact. All growing and processing is conducted indoors in controlled rooms. All by-products and waste are disposed of and handled in strict compliance with the requirements of the Cannabis Act. The Corporation expects the financial and operational effects of environmental protection requirements on its capital expenditures, profit and competitive position in the current and future financial years to be minimal. For further information, see "Risk Factors" in this AIF.

Employees

As at December 31, 2019, the Corporation directly employed 17 full-time employees, one part-time employee and 5 consultants. The Corporation believes its relationship with its employees, consultants and contractors is good. None of the Corporation's employees are represented by a labour union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement nor are any FV Pharma's or Prismic's employees.

Cannabis Industry Overview

Licenses, Permits and Authorizations

The Cannabis Regulations establish six classes of licenses:

- cultivation licenses (standard cultivation, micro-cultivation and nursery cultivation)
- processing licenses (standard processing and micro-processing)
- analytical testing licenses;
- sales for medical purposes licenses;
- research licenses; and
- cannabis drug licenses.

The Cannabis Regulations also create subclasses for cultivation licenses (standard cultivation, micro-cultivation and nursery) and processing licenses (standard processing and micro-processing). Different licenses and each sub-class therein have different rules and requirements that are intended to be proportional to the public health and safety risks posed by each license category and each sub-class. Producers holding production and sale licenses under the ACMPR were transferred to similar licenses under the Cannabis Act pursuant to a two-stage process. Licenses issued pursuant to the Cannabis Regulations are valid for a period of no more than five years.

The Cannabis Regulations permit cultivation license holders to conduct both outdoor and indoor cultivation of cannabis. A holder of a license must only conduct authorized activities (except for destruction, antimicrobial treatment and distribution) at the location set out in the license. The implications of the proposal to allow outdoor cultivation are not yet known, but such a development could be significant as it may reduce start-up capital required for new entrants in the cannabis industry. It may also ultimately lower prices as capital expenditure requirements related to growing outside are typically lower than those associated with indoor growing.

Cannabis for Medical Purposes

Part 14 of the Cannabis Regulations entitled "Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes" sets out the regime for medical cannabis following legalization, which remains substantively the same as that which previously existed under the CDSA and the ACMPR, with adjustments to create consistency with rules for recreational use, improve patient access, and reduce the risk of abuse within the medical access system. The sale of medical cannabis remains federally regulated and, in each case, sales can only be made by an entity that holds a license to sell under the Cannabis Regulations to patients that have a medical document and have registered with the licensed entity. Just as with the medical cannabis regime under the ACMPR, under the Cannabis Regulations, customers (patients) need to obtain a medical document from their doctor and then register as a client with a cannabis company that has a license to sell (the registration is only good for up to a year). The client can then order from the cannabis company online or via telephone and the cannabis will be shipped directly to the client (to a maximum 150 grams per month).

Under the ACMPR regime, medical cannabis was sold online by Licensed Producers only. This did not change on October 17, 2018, with the introduction of the Cannabis Act, however users of medical cannabis may elect to purchase cannabis from retailers of recreational cannabis. The Federal Government intends to review the medical cannabis system in five years to determine if the introduction of retail cannabis sales has had an impact on the demand for medical cannabis.

Security Clearances

Certain people associated with cannabis licensees, including individuals occupying a "key position" such as directors, officers, large shareholders and individuals identified by the Minister, must hold a valid security clearance issued by the Minister. Under the Cannabis Regulations, the Minister may refuse to grant security clearances to individuals with associations to organized crime or with past convictions for, or in association with, drug trafficking,

corruption or violent offences. This was largely the approach in place previously under the ACMPR and other related regulations governing the licensed production of cannabis for medical purposes. Individuals who have histories of nonviolent, lower-risk criminal activity (for example, simple possession of cannabis, or small-scale cultivation of cannabis plants) are not precluded by legislation from participating in the legal cannabis industry. The grant of security clearance to such individuals is at the discretion of the Minister and such applications will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.

In addition, the Cannabis Regulations expand the ACMPR security clearance requirements to include:

- any "responsible person", "head of security", "master grower", "quality assurance person", or alternates for these positions;
- any partners of a partnership that hold a license; and
- any individuals who exercise, or are in a position to exercise, direct control over a corporate or cooperative license-holder, including all:
 - o directors and officers of the individual, if a corporation;
 - o partners of the individual, if a partnership; and,
 - o directors and officers of the individual if it is a corporate partner in a partnership.

For further discussion, see "Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Medical and Recreational Cannabis Industry – Certain key employees are subject to security clearance from Health Canada, and there can be no assurance that such personnel will be able to obtain or renew security clearances in the future."

Cannabis Tracking and Licensing System

Under the Cannabis Act, the Minister is authorized to establish and maintain a national cannabis tracking system. The purpose of this system is to track cannabis throughout the supply chain to help prevent the diversion of cannabis into, and out of, the illicit market. The Cannabis Regulations provide the Minister with the authority to make a ministerial order that would require certain persons named in such order to report specific information about their authorized activities with cannabis, in the form and manner specified by the Minister. Accordingly, the Minister has introduced the CTLS. License holders are required to use the CTLS to submit monthly reports to the Minister, among other things, pursuant to the *Cannabis Tracking System Order*, SOR/2018-178.

Cannabis Products

At the retail level, the Cannabis Regulations permit the sale to the public of dried cannabis, cannabis oil, fresh cannabis, cannabis plants, and cannabis seeds. The sale of edible cannabis products and concentrates (such as hashish, wax and vaping products) became permitted starting as of October 17, 2019. The Corporation is not currently licensed to sell cannabis for retail use.

The Cannabis Regulations acknowledge that a range of product forms should be enabled to help the legal industry displace the illegal market. Additional product forms that are mentioned under the Cannabis Regulations include vaporization cartridges manufactured with dried cannabis. Specific details related to these new products are to be set out in a subsequent regulatory proposal.

Packaging and Labelling

The Cannabis Regulations require plain packaging for cannabis products, including strict requirements for logos, colours and branding. The Cannabis Regulations further require mandatory health warnings, a standardized cannabis symbol and specific product information.

Advertising

The Cannabis Act places a general ban on the promotion of cannabis, cannabis accessories or any service related to cannabis, unless the promotional activity is specifically authorized under the Cannabis Act. Cannabis products may be promoted at their point of sale if the promotion indicates only its availability and/or price. Further, brand preference and informational promotion are permitted if such promotion is:

- in a communication that is addressed and sent to an individual who is 18 years of age or older and is identified by name;
- in a place where young persons are not permitted; or
- communicated by means of a telecommunication, where the person responsible for the content of the promotion has taken reasonable steps to ensure that the promotion cannot be accessed by a young person.

Health Products and Cosmetics Containing Cannabis

Health Canada has taken a scientific, evidence-based approach for the oversight of health products containing cannabis, including prescription and non-prescription drugs, natural health products, veterinary drugs and veterinary health products, and medical devices. Under the Cannabis Regulations, the use of cannabis-derived ingredients (other than certain hemp seed derivatives containing no more than 10 parts per million THC in cosmetics) is permitted, subject to the provisions of the Cannabis Act.

Provincial and Territorial Regulatory Regimes

While the Cannabis Act provides for the regulation of the commercial production of cannabis for adult-use purposes and related matters by the Government of Canada it also provides that provinces and territories of Canada have authority to regulate other aspects of recreational cannabis (similar to what is currently the case for liquor and tobacco products), such as sale and distribution, minimum age requirements, places where cannabis can be consumed, and a range of other matters.

Each Canadian jurisdiction has established a minimum age of 19 years for cannabis use, except for Québec and Alberta, where the minimum age is 18.

The Corporation is not currently licensed to sell cannabis for recreational use, and has no immediate plans to apply for a license that would allow it to do so.

CSA Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) Regarding Issuers with U.S. Marijuana-Related Activities

On February 8, 2018, the Canadian Securities Administrators revised their previously released CSA Notice, setting out disclosure expectations on the risks faced by issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. In particular, the CSA Notice confirmed that a disclosure-based approach remains appropriate, and provided guidance on disclosure expectations for issuers with direct and indirect involvement in the cultivation and distribution of cannabis, as well as issuers that provide goods and services to third parties, in the United States. As at the date of this AIF, the Corporation does not have any cannabis related operations in the United States.

Biosciences Division & Industry Overview

The Biosciences Division intends to leverage pharmaceutical synthetic compounds that target the endocannabinoid system of the human body, with a focus on pharmaceutical development through review and approval by the FDA and other international regulatory agencies. The specific mechanisms of action of the various compounds is not yet fully understood, but it is likely that they work by mimicking the effects of the body's own cannabinoids, or endocannabinoids. The discovery of endocannabinoids – neurotransmitters, neuromodulators, and specialized receptors that the body produces autonomously and naturally – and of cannabinoid receptors in the brain and central nervous system, the peripheral nervous system, the body's immune system, and the gastrointestinal and

genitourinary tracts, provided the basis for the belief these compounds may play an important medical role in impacting inflammation and disordered homeostasis in humans.

Endocannabinoids and their receptors play pivotal roles in the body's health and in many disease processes. In recent years, there has been considerable interest in cannabinoids for the treatment of human disease, through modulation of the endocannabinoid system. Scientific research since the 1960s shows that the endocannabinoid system may play a role in the management of many medical conditions and chronic diseases.

Such formulations take advantage of micro-PEA's "synergistic" or "entourage" effect on certain drugs impacting the endocannabinoid system. This means that lower doses of those drugs may be administered together with micro-PEA to achieve the desired therapeutic effect. This includes the potential combination or concomitant use of micro-PEA formulations with drugs such as THC, CBD, certain anticonvulsants, and opioids where studies have indicated opioid-sparing and tolerance delaying properties of micro-PEA may impact the development of dependence in patients. Prismic's first prescription drug candidate, PP-101, a 600 mg tablet of micro-PEA, is anticipated to commence a Phase 2/3 accelerated clinical development program in early 2020 as a concomitant medication to be administered with pregabalin (Pfizer's Lyrica®) for the treatment of fibromyalgia.

Our current goal is to launch ultra micro-PEA, which FSD acquired in the acquisition of Prismic. PEA is a naturally occurring substance that is produced within the body in response to inflammation and interacts with endocannabinoid receptors throughout the body, including the central nervous system. We are currently seeking to advance pharmaceutical development programs centered on ultra micro-PEA that meet one or more selected criteria. All efforts are intended to be founded on a biologic plausibility of an efficacious effect with a high safety profile. We intend to initiate Phase 1 first-in-human safety and tolerability trials for its lead candidate, PP 101 micro-PEA during the first quarter of 2020.

Reorganizations

Other than in connection with the Amalgamation, the Corporation has not completed any material reorganization within the three most recently completed financial years.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in securities of the Corporation should only be made by persons who can afford a significant or total loss of their investment.

There are various risk factors and uncertainties that we face. The risks and uncertainties described below are those we currently believe to be material, but these are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or risks that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks, or any other risks and uncertainties that we have not yet identified or that we currently consider not to be material, actually occur or become material risks, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and consequently the price of the Class B Shares, could be materially and adversely affected. The risks discussed below also include Forward-Looking Statements and our actual results may differ substantially from those discussed in these Forward-Looking Statements. See "Forward-Looking Statements" in this AIF.

Risks Related to the Cannabis Production Business

Failure to comply with the requirements of the License or any failure to maintain the License would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation.

The continuation and development of the Corporation's business is dependent on the good standing of the License and any other permits or approvals required to engage in such activities and upon adhering to all regulatory requirements related to such activities.

Failure to comply with the requirements of the License or any failure to maintain the License would have a

material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation. Although the Corporation believes it will meet the requirements of the Cannabis Act and Cannabis Regulations for future extensions or renewals of its Cannabis Licenses, there can be no guarantee that Health Canada will extend or renew the License or that, if extended or renewed, the Cannabis Licenses will be extended or renewed on the same or similar terms. Should Health Canada not extend or renew the Cannabis Licenses or should it renew the Cannabis Licenses on different terms, the business, financial condition and results of the operation of the Corporation would be materially and adversely affected.

The Corporation's limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate its current business and future prospects and may increase the risk that it will not be successful.

While FV Pharma was incorporated and began carrying on business in 2011 it has yet to generate significant revenue. Other than the Facility, the Corporation has no significant assets or other financial resources. The Corporation is therefore subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises, including undercapitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, financial, and other resources and lack of revenues. The Corporation's limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate its current business and future prospects. There is no assurance that the Corporation will be successful in achieving a return on shareholders' investment and the likelihood of success must be considered in light of the early stage of operations.

Future transfers by holders of Class A Shares to arm's length parties or other than to permitted holders will generally result in those shares converting to Class B Shares, which will have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class A Shares who retain their shares. Such holders could, in the future, control a significant percentage of the combined voting power of Class A Shares and Class B Shares.

Each of the Corporation's directors and officers owes a fiduciary duty to the Corporation and must act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of Corporation. However, any director and/or officer that is a shareholder, even a controlling shareholder, is entitled to vote its shares in its own interests, which may not always be in the interests of the Corporation's shareholders generally. The inability of the Class B Shares to control the matters affecting the Corporation, combined with the ability of holders of Class A Shares to control matters affecting the Corporation and to take actions that the holders of Class B may not view as beneficial, may adversely affect the market price of the class B Shares.

The Corporation is subject to risks inherent in an agricultural business.

The Corporation's business involves the growing of cannabis, an agricultural product. Such business is subject to the risks inherent in the agricultural business, such as insects, plant diseases and similar agricultural risks. Although all such growing is expected to be completed indoors under climate controlled conditions, there can be no assurance that natural elements will not have a material adverse effect on any such future production. In addition, if the Corporation cannot successfully develop its products, or if the Corporation experiences difficulties in the development process, such as quality control problems or other disruptions, the Corporation may not be able to develop market-ready commercial products at acceptable costs, which would affect its ability to successfully enter the market.

The Corporation is vulnerable to rising energy costs

The Corporation's cannabis growing operations consume considerable energy, which make the Corporation vulnerable to rising energy costs. Accordingly, rising or volatile energy costs may adversely impact the business of the Corporation and its ability to operate profitably.

Adverse changes affecting the development or construction of the Facility and commencement of production could have a material and adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and prospects.

Any adverse changes affecting the development or construction of the Facility and expansion of production could have a material and adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and prospects. There is a risk that these changes or developments could adversely affect the Facility due to a variety of factors, including some

that are discussed elsewhere in these risk factors and the following:

- delays in obtaining, or conditions imposed by, regulatory approvals;
- plant design errors;
- environmental pollution;
- non-performance by third party contractors;
- increases in materials or labour costs;
- construction performance falling below expected levels of output or efficiency;
- breakdown, aging or failure of equipment or processes;
- contractor or operator errors;
- labour disputes, disruptions or declines in productivity;
- inability to attract sufficient numbers of qualified workers;
- disruption in the supply of energy and utilities; or
- major incidents and/or catastrophic events such as fires, explosions, earthquakes or storms.

It is also possible that the costs of maintaining and expanding production may be significantly greater than anticipated by the Corporation's management, and may be greater than funds available to the Corporation, including through additional financing, in which case the Corporation may curtail or extend the timeframes for completing its business plans. This could have an adverse effect on the financial results of the Corporation.

The Corporation is required to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations.

Our operations are subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, among other things, zoning, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal of hazardous and nonhazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety. Failure to comply with applicable environmental laws, regulations and permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. We may be required to compensate those suffering loss or damage due to our operations and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations. In particular, the Corporation may face liabilities arising from environmental issues related to the former use of the Facility and the former owner of the Facility has no obligation to indemnify the Corporation in respect of any such liabilities. The Corporation is also subject to zoning and other local regulations that may interfere with the Corporation's activities. For example, several buildings on the Corporation's property have been designated by the Town of Cobourg as buildings of cultural heritage value under the Ontario Heritage Act and the Corporation is obligated to preserve, and in some cases to repair, such buildings. Changes in environmental, employee health and safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to our operations or give rise to material liabilities. If any of the foregoing matters were to occur it could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Corporation is subject to insurance risks.

The Corporation's business is subject to a number of risks and hazards generally, including adverse environmental conditions, cybersecurity and other information technology ("IT") systems risks, accidents, labour disputes, product liability and changes in the regulatory environment. Such occurrences could result in damage to assets, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in operations, monetary losses and possible legal liability.

Although the Corporation maintains and intends to continue to maintain insurance to protect against certain risks

in such amounts as it considers to be reasonable, its insurance will not cover all the potential risks associated with its operations. The Corporation may also be unable to maintain insurance to cover these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not continue to be available or may not be adequate to cover any resulting liability. Moreover, insurance against risks such as environmental pollution or other hazards encountered in the operations of the Corporation is not generally available on acceptable terms. The Corporation might also become subject to liability for pollution or other hazards which may not be insured against or which the Corporation may elect not to insure against because of premium costs or other reasons. Losses from these events may cause the Corporation to incur significant costs that could have a material adverse effect upon its business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Corporation may not be able to realize its cannabis production targets.

Our ability to produce cannabis is affected by a number of factors, including plant design errors, non-performance by third party contractors, increases in materials or labour costs, construction performance falling below expected levels of output or efficiency, environmental pollution, contractor or operator errors, breakdowns, aging or failure of equipment or processes, labour disputes, receipt of regulatory approvals as well as factors specifically related to indoor agricultural practices, such as reliance on provision of energy and utilities to the facility, and potential impacts of major incidents or catastrophic events on the facility, such as fires, explosions, earthquakes or storms. Should any such factors materialize it could have a material adverse effect on our cannabis production and results of operations.

Any significant interruption in the supply chain for key inputs could materially impact the Corporation's business.

Our business is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including raw materials and supplies related to our growing operations, as well as electricity, water and other local utilities. Any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain for key inputs could materially impact our business, financial condition and operating results. Any inability to secure required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operating results.

No assurances can be given that the Corporation will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, specialized knowledge, equipment, parts and components.

The ability of the Corporation to compete and grow cannabis will be dependent on it having access to, at a reasonable cost and in a timely manner, skilled labour, individuals with specialized knowledge, equipment, parts and components. No assurances can be given that the Corporation will be successful in maintaining its required supply of skilled labour, individuals with specialized knowledge, equipment, parts and components. It is also possible that the final costs of the major equipment contemplated by the Corporation may be significantly greater than anticipated by management, and may be greater than funds available, in which circumstance the Corporation may curtail, or extend the timeframes for completing, its capital expenditure plans. This could have an adverse effect on the operations and financial results of the Corporation.

In addition, competition for highly qualified personnel may be intense and there can be no assurance that we will be successful in identifying, attracting, hiring and retaining such personnel in the future. In particular, specialized knowledge with respect to cultivating and growing medical cannabis and processing such materials into THC and CBD concentrates and derivative products is important to the industry.

If we are unable to identify, attract, hire and retain qualified personnel in the future, such inability could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

The Corporation is reliant on the Facility as its only property for cannabis cultivation and related ancillary businesses, and adverse changes or developments affecting the Facility could have an adverse impact on the Corporation.

The proposed activities and resources of the Corporation's production division are primarily focused within the

Facility. The Corporation's operations and the conditions of the Facility are, and will be, subject to hazards inherent in the cannabis industry, including, but not limited to, equipment defects, equipment malfunctions, natural disasters, fire, explosions, disease or infestation of our crops, power failures or other accidents that may cause damage to the Facility, or a material failure of the Corporation's security infrastructure, could reduce or require us to entirely suspend our production of cannabis. A significant failure of the Facility's security measures and other requirements, including any failure to comply with regulatory requirements, could have an impact on our ability to continue operating under our existing Health Canada licenses. In addition, development impediments such as construction delays or cost over-runs in respect to the development of the Facility, will delay or prevent our ability to produce cannabis at the Facility. Any adverse changes or developments affecting the Facility could have a material and adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and prospects.

The expansion of the Facility is subject to various potential problems and uncertainties and may be delayed or adversely affected by a number of factors beyond the Corporation's control.

Any expansion of the Facility is subject to various potential problems and uncertainties, and may be delayed or adversely affected by a number of factors beyond the Corporation's control. These uncertainties include the failure to obtain regulatory approvals, permits, delays in the delivery or installation of equipment by suppliers, difficulties in integrating new equipment with existing facilities, shortages in materials or labor, defects in design or construction, diversion of management resources, and insufficient funding or other resource constraints. The actual cost of construction may exceed the amount budgeted for expansion. As the result of construction delays, cost overruns, changes in market circumstances or other factors, the Corporation may not be able to achieve the intended economic benefits from any expansion of operations at the existing facility, which in turn may affect the Corporation's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Three buildings that are part of the Facility have been designated by the Town of Cobourg as heritage buildings. The buildings must be retained, and the Corporation must follow the Town's by-laws and official plan regulations with respect to expansion and upkeep. The Corporation continues to work with various contractors and the Town to ensure the buildings are retained and restored. The cost to restore one of the buildings in particular is expected to be significant and future costs with respect to restoration and upkeep are unknown.

The Corporation was previously party to a joint venture with Auxly, whereby the parties agreed to combine their respective capabilities to develop and expand certain portions of the Facility in mutually agreed upon phases on identified areas within the Facility. Under the Auxly Agreement, Auxly assumed primary carriage through the implementation of each project phase at the Facility, including, but not limited to: the design of each phase of development at the Facility and the management and supervision of all professional services performed in connection therewith, including architectural services, engineering services, construction services and security services; assisting in the hiring, training and oversight of professional and operational staff; and assisting with the regulatory licensing process including facilitating interaction between the Corporation and Health Canada. The Auxly Agreement also provided that Auxly had primary responsibility for financing and/or sourcing the funds required for the capital expenditures for each project phase at the Facility, to be comprised of both equity and debt financing provided directly by Auxly or by a third party lender arranged for and designated by Auxly.

It had been anticipated by the Corporation and Auxly that the first phase of construction would be completed and ready for Health Canada approval by the end of December 2018, but this did not materialize. On February 6, 2019, the Corporation terminated the Auxly Agreement. Auxly claims that it identified contractual breaches relating to the Corporation's management and staffing obligations of the Facility, as well as significant concerns regarding certain aspects of the Facility's infrastructure. The Corporation maintains that it terminated the Auxly Agreement in response to Auxly's failure to perform its obligations under the Auxly Agreement to develop all aspects of the Facility in mutually agreed upon staged phases.

As a result of the termination of the Auxly Agreement along with subsequent developments within the cannabis industry and the Corporation's business, the completion of the first phase of the expansion of the Facility to create an approximately 30,000 square foot self-contained cultivation facility, including GMP processing spaces, has been delayed indefinitely. As of the date of this AIF, the Corporation has not entered into any contractual arrangements with contractors and has no current commitments for capital expenditures with respect to the build-out of the Facility.

Risks Related to the Medical Cannabis Industry

The Corporation faces regulatory risks, and any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals, changes in regulation and enforcement of regulations and violation of regulations could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation.

The Corporation operates in a new industry which is highly regulated and is in a market that is very competitive and evolving rapidly. The Corporation's operations are subject to various laws, regulations and guidelines by governmental authorities, particularly Health Canada, relating to the manufacture, marketing, management, transportation, storage, sale and disposal of medical cannabis, and also including laws and regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment. Laws and regulations, applied generally, grant government agencies and self-regulatory bodies broad administrative discretion over the activities of the Corporation, including the power to limit or restrict business activities as well as impose additional disclosure requirements on the Corporation's products and services. The Corporation's business objectives are, in part, contingent upon compliance with regulatory requirements enacted by these governmental authorities and obtaining all regulatory approvals, where necessary, for the sale of its products. The Corporation cannot predict the time required to secure all appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the extent of testing and documentation that may be required by governmental authorities. Any delays in obtaining, or failure to obtain regulatory approvals would significantly delay the development of markets and products and could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation.

Although the operations of the Corporation are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied in a manner which could limit or curtail the Corporation's ability to produce or sell medical or recreational cannabis, should it decide to apply for a license to sell recreational cannabis in the future. Amendments to current laws and regulations governing the importation, distribution, transportation and/or production of medical or recreational cannabis, more stringent implementation thereof or other unanticipated events could have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of Corporation. In addition, the Corporation incurs ongoing costs and obligations related to regulatory compliance. Failure to comply with regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or restrictions on our operations. In addition, changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to our operations, increased compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of our business.

To the knowledge of management, the Corporation is currently in compliance under the Cannabis Act. Failure to comply with the laws and regulations applicable to its operations may lead to possible sanctions including the revocation or imposition of additional conditions on its licenses to operate the Corporation's business; the suspension or expulsion from a particular market or jurisdiction or of its key personnel; and the imposition of fines and censures. To the extent that there are changes to the existing or the enactment of future laws and regulations that affect the sale or offering of the Corporation's product or services in any way it may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in laws, regulations and guidelines may result in significant compliance costs for our business, including in relation to restrictions on branding and advertising, regulation of provincial distribution and excise taxes.

The Corporation's operations are subject not only to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the manufacture, management, transportation, storage and disposal of medical cannabis, but also to regulations relating to health and safety, privacy, the conduct of operations and the protection of the environment in the jurisdictions in which they operate. Changes to such laws, regulations and guidelines, including changes related to government taxes and levies, may materially and adversely affect the Corporation's businesses, financial conditions and results of operations.

The Cannabis Act came into effect on October 17, 2018 to create a regulated adult-use recreational market for cannabis in Canada. The Cannabis Act and Cannabis Regulations prohibit testimonials, lifestyle branding and

packaging as well as certain other promotional activity that is appealing to youth and set out broad prohibitions on the promotion of cannabis at the federal level. Such regulations are applicable to both medical and recreational cannabis products. Provincial or territorial governments may add an additional layer of regulations on promotion of cannabis. The federal, provincial and territorial restrictions on advertising, marketing and the use of logos and brand names may reduce the value of certain of our products and brands or negatively impact our ability to compete with other companies in the cannabis market, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, the governments of every Canadian province and territory have enacted and implemented their respective regulatory regimes for the distribution and sale of cannabis for adult-use purposes within those jurisdictions. The provincial or territorial legislation and regulatory regimes may change in ways that impact our ability to continue our business as currently conducted or proposed to be conducted. There is no guarantee that provincial or territorial regulatory regimes governing the distribution and sale of cannabis for adult-use recreational purposes in each jurisdiction will remain as currently enacted or that any such legislation and regulation will create the growth opportunities that we currently anticipate. The federal and provincial or territorial legislation and regulatory regimes for cannabis products also include excise duties payable by licensed cannabis producers on adult-use recreational cannabis products, in addition to goods and services tax/harmonized sales tax in certain provinces and territories. The rate of the excise duties for cannabis products varies by province and territory. Any significant increase in the rate of excise duties on cannabis products in the future could reduce consumer demands for cannabis products and adversely impact the adult-use recreational cannabis industry and the medical cannabis market in general. In addition, any increase in the rate of excise duties on cannabis products in the future could reduce our margins and profitability in the event that we could not or chose not to pass along such increases to consumers. Any of the foregoing could result in a material adverse effect of our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The adult-use recreational cannabis industry and market in Canada shares many of the risks that are currently applicable to the medical cannabis market, which are described elsewhere in this "Risk Factors" section. If any of these shared risks occur, our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be adversely affected in a number of ways, including by not being able to successfully compete in the cannabis industry generally and by being subject to fines, damage awards and other penalties as a result of regulatory infractions or other claims brought against us.

Failure of the Corporation to comply with licensing requirements under the Cannabis Act could have a material adverse impact on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The market for cannabis (including medical and recreational cannabis) in Canada is regulated by the Cannabis Act, the Narcotic Control Regulations, and other applicable law. Health Canada is the primary regulator. The Cannabis Act aims to treat cannabis like any other narcotic used for medical purposes by creating conditions for a new commercial industry that is responsible for its production and distribution.

The Cannabis Act will subject the Corporation to stringent ongoing compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with the requirements of its Cannabis Licenses or any failure to maintain the License could have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition and operating results of the Corporation. Furthermore, the Cannabis Licenses have an expiry date of October 13, 2020. Upon expiration of the Cannabis Licenses, the Corporation will be required to submit an application for renewal to Health Canada containing information prescribed under the Cannabis Act and any such renewal cannot be assured.

Applicants and licensed producers are required to demonstrate compliance with regulatory requirements, such as quality control standards, record-keeping of all activities as well as inventories of cannabis, and physical security measures to protect against potential diversion. Licensed producers are also required to employ qualified quality assurance personnel who ultimately approve the quality of the product prior to making it available for sale. This approval process includes testing (and validation of testing) for microbial and chemical contaminants to ensure that they are within established tolerance limits for herbal medicines for human consumption as required under the Food and Drugs Act, and determining the percentage by weight of the two active ingredients of cannabis, delta-9-

Tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidoil.

The Corporation may not be able to successfully develop new products or find a market for their sale.

The medical cannabis industry and the recreational cannabis industry are in their early stages of development and it is likely that we, and our competitors, will seek to introduce new products in the future. In attempting to keep pace with any new market developments, we may need to expend significant amounts of capital in order to successfully develop and generate revenues from new products introduced by us. As well, we may be required to obtain additional regulatory approvals from Health Canada and any other applicable regulatory authority, which may take significant amounts of time. We may not be successful in developing effective and safe new products, bringing such products to market in time to be effectively commercialized, or obtaining any required regulatory approvals, which, together with any capital expenditures made in the course of such product development and regulatory approval processes, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The current medical and recreational cannabis industry is relatively undeveloped and there is no certainty that the market of patients or recreational users will expand as sufficiently as industry analysts predict.

The current medical and recreational cannabis industry is relatively undeveloped. There is no certainty that the market of patients or recreational users will expand as sufficiently as industry analysts predict. In particular, the federal legalization of the recreational use of cannabis effective on October 17, 2018 will have a significant impact on operations in terms of the competition that the Corporation will face from the recreational cannabis industry. It is unclear at this point what the form of such a market for cannabis generally will be and how the Corporation's participation in it will be permitted or restricted by any of the as-yet unidentified federal, provincial and municipal rules, by-laws and regulations.

In the future, cannabis producers in Canada may produce more cannabis than is needed to satisfy the collective demand of the Canadian adult-use recreational and medical markets, and they may be unable to export that oversupply into other markets where cannabis use is fully legal under all applicable jurisdictional laws. As a result, the available supply of cannabis could exceed demand, resulting in a significant decline in the market price for cannabis. If such supply or price fluctuations were to occur, our revenue and profitability may fluctuate materially and our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects may be adversely affected.

The barriers to entry into the Canadian cannabis market are low, as the most significant hurdle to becoming a licensed producer is obtaining a license from Health Canada. As seen in the market, there are currently hundreds of applications for licensed producer status being processed by Health Canada. As capacity comes online for new as well as existing licensed producers in the market, there is a potential for oversupply. The number of licensed producers ultimately authorized by Health Canada, a change in the difficulty of obtaining a license and the aggregate production capacity of these licensed producers could have an adverse impact on our ability to compete for market share in Canada's medical cannabis industry.

Certain key employees are subject to security clearance from Health Canada, and there can be no assurance that such personnel will be able to obtain or renew security clearances in the future.

As a Licensed Producer under the Cannabis Act, certain key employees are subject to a security clearance by Health Canada. Under the Cannabis Act a security clearance cannot be valid for more than five years and must be renewed before the expiry of a current security clearance. There is no assurance that any of our existing personnel who presently or may in the future require a security clearance will be able to obtain or renew such clearances or that new personnel who require a security clearance will be able to obtain one. A failure by a key employee to maintain or renew his or her security clearance, would result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if a key employee leaves us, and we are unable to find a suitable replacement that has a security clearance required by the Cannabis Act in a timely manner, or at all, there could occur a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Corporation's employees or shareholders could be prevented from entering the United States or become subject to a lifetime ban on entry into the United States.

U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP") has confirmed that border agents may seek to permanently ban any foreign visitor who admits to working or investing in the cannabis industry, or admits to have used cannabis, even legal use, but generally only if such foreign visitor is travelling to the United States for reasons related to the cannabis industry. CBP confirmed that investing even in publicly traded cannabis companies is considered facilitation of illicit drug trade under CBP policy. This policy is limited to citizens of foreign countries and not citizens of the United States. Therefore, any of our shareholders who are a not citizens of the United States, particularly if travelling to the United States for reason related to the cannabis industry, could be prevented from entering the United States or could become subject to a lifetime ban on entry into the United States.

Unfavorable publicity regarding the cannabis industry could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation, the demand for the Corporation's proposed products, and the results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Corporation.

Management of the Corporation believes the medical cannabis industry is highly dependent upon consumer perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical cannabis produced. Consumer perception of the Corporation's proposed products may be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of medical cannabis products. There can be no assurance that future scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity will be favorable to the medical cannabis market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity.

Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favorable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Corporation's proposed products and the business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Corporation. The Corporation's dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse scientific research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation, the demand for the Corporation's proposed products, and the results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of the Corporation.

Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of medical cannabis in general, or the Corporation's proposed products specifically, or associating the consumption of medical cannabis with illness or other negative effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could arise even if the adverse effects associated with such products resulted from consumers' failure to consume such products appropriately or as directed.

The Corporation may not succeed in promoting and sustaining its brands, which could have an adverse effect on its future growth and business.

A critical component of our future growth is our ability to promote and sustain our brands, which we believe can be achieved by providing a high-quality user experience. An important element of our brand promotion strategy is establishing a relationship of trust with our consumers. In order to provide a high-quality user experience, we have invested and will continue to invest substantial amounts of resources in the development products, infrastructure, fulfilment and customer service operations. If our consumers are dissatisfied with the quality of the products sold to them or the customer service they receive and their overall customer experience, our consumers may stop purchasing products from us.

Marketing constraints under the regulatory framework, including plain packaging regulations, limit the Corporation's ability to compete for market share in a manner similar to other industries.

The development of our business and operating results may be hindered by applicable restrictions on sales and

marketing activities imposed by Health Canada. The regulatory environment in Canada limits our ability to compete for market share in a manner similar to other industries. If we are unable to effectively market our products and compete for market share, or if the costs of compliance with government legislation and regulation cannot be absorbed through increased selling prices for our products, our sales and operating results could be adversely affected.

Moreover, the Cannabis Act imposes further packaging, labelling and advertising restrictions on producers. If we fail to comply with the packaging, labelling and advertising restrictions, we will be subject to monetary penalties, required to suspend sale of noncompliant products and/or be disqualified as a vendor by government-run provincial distributors.

The Corporation may be subject to product liability claims or regulatory action if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that cannabis use may increase the risk of serious adverse side effects.

If licensed as a distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, the Corporation faces an inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if its products are alleged to have caused significant loss or injury. In addition, the sale of the Corporation's products would involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination.

Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human consumption of the Corporation's products alone or in combination with other medications or substances could occur. The Corporation may be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that the Corporation's products caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product liability claim or regulatory action against the Corporation could result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Corporation's reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. There can be no assurances that the Corporation will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of the Corporation's potential products.

The shelf life of inventory could unexpectedly change and write-down of inventory may be required.

Management regularly reviews the amount of inventory on hand, reviews the remaining shelf life and estimates the time required to manufacture and sell such inventory; however, write-down of inventory may still be required due to extraneous factors such as lower prices in the market. Any such write-down of inventory could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Fair value adjustments to the biological assets could affect the results of operations of our business.

The fair value changes in biological assets included in inventory sold as well as unrealized gain on changes in fair value of biological assets are significant accounting estimates that go into the calculation of our earnings figures. These line items have the ability to change the profitability of the business from an accounting standpoint. These adjustments necessitate estimates relating to the ultimate selling price of cannabis as well as direct costs (such as cost of supplies, nutrients, materials, salaries for personnel directly involved in growing cannabis plants and depreciation of equipment directly related to production). Because there is no actively traded commodity market for cannabis products, the valuation of the biological assets is obtained using valuations techniques where the inputs are based on unobservable market data. The scope of estimates required combined with the magnitude of the biological asset adjustments creates a risk that the financials do not accurately reflect the underlying economics of our business. Further, any volatility in the input estimates could cause significant variability of results of operations across time periods.

The Corporation's products may be subject to recalls for a variety of reasons, which could require the

Corporation to expend significant management and capital resources.

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any of the Corporation's products are recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the Corporation could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection with the recall. The Corporation may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. Although the Corporation has detailed procedures in place for testing its products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits. Additionally, if one of the Corporation's significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and the Corporation could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for the Corporation's products and could have a material adverse effect on the results of the operations and financial condition of the Corporation. Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of the Corporation's operations by Health Canada or other regulatory agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses.

Companies existing in the markets for the medical and recreational cannabis products face substantial competition and in particular the legalization of recreational cannabis may result in increased levels of competition in the overall cannabis market.

The markets for the medical and recreational cannabis products appear to be sizable and Health Canada has only issued a limited number of licenses under the former ACMPR and the new Cannabis Act regime to produce and sell medical and recreational cannabis. There are several hundred existing applicants for licenses in queue. The number of licenses issued could have an impact on the operations of the Corporation. Because of the early stage of the industry in which the Corporation operates, the Corporation expects to face additional competition from new entrants. According to Health Canada, as of the date of this AIF there were 218 licensees under the Cannabis Act. If the number of users of medical and recreational cannabis in Canada increases, the demand for products will increase and the Corporation expects that competition will become more intense, as current and future competitors begin to offer an increasing number of diversified products. The Corporation expects significant competition from other companies applying for production licenses that may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources, which may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their products and services, and may have more extensive customer bases and broader customer relationships.

To remain competitive, the Corporation will require a continued level of investment in research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The Corporation may not have sufficient resources to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and client support efforts on a competitive basis, which could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation. If the Corporation is not successful in investing sufficient resources in these areas, their ability to compete in the market may be adversely affected, which in turn could materially and adversely affect the Corporation's business, financial conditions and results of operation.

The Corporation currently faces intense competition from other companies, many of which have longer operating histories and more financial resources and manufacturing and marketing experience than us. Many such companies are already producing large quantities of cannabis for both medical and recreational use, are generating significant revenues and are currently listed on national securities exchanges in the United States and Canada with superior access to the capital markets. Increased competition by larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation's business. Additionally, the Corporation is not currently licensed to sell cannabis for recreational use, and has no immediate plans for apply for a license that would allow it to do so.

The Corporation also faces competition from illegal cannabis dispensaries that are selling cannabis to individuals despite not having a valid license to do so. As well, the legal landscape for medical and recreational cannabis is

changing internationally. More countries have passed laws that allow for the production and distribution of medical cannabis in some form or another which increases import and export competition from international cannabis producers as well. Finally, there is potential that the industry will undergo consolidation, creating larger companies that may have increased geographic scope and other economies of scale. Increased competition by larger, better-financed competitors with geographic or other structural advantages could materially and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.

Results from future clinical research may draw opposing or negative conclusions regarding the facts and perceptions related to cannabis, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Research regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC) remains in early stages. There have been relatively few clinical trials on the benefits of CBD and THC. Although the Corporation believes that the articles, reports and studies support its beliefs regarding the therapeutic benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis, future research and clinical trials may prove such statements to be incorrect, or could raise concerns regarding, and perceptions relating to, cannabis. Given these risks, investors should not place undue reliance on such articles, reports and studies. Future research studies and clinical trials may draw opposing or negative conclusions regarding the facts and perceptions related to cannabis, which could have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Corporation's products with the potential to lead to a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects.

Third parties with whom we do business may perceive that they are exposed to reputational risk as a result of our cannabis-related business activities and may ultimately elect not to do business with us.

The parties with whom we do business may perceive that they are exposed to reputational risk as a result of our cannabis business activities. Failure to establish or maintain business relationships as a result of such perceived reputational risk could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The Corporation's ability to produce and sell its medical products in, and export its medical products to, other jurisdictions outside of Canada is dependent on compliance with additional regulatory and other requirements.

We would be required to obtain and maintain certain permits, licenses or other approvals from regulatory agencies in countries and markets outside of Canada in which we propose to operate or to export, in order to produce or export to, and sell our medical products in, these countries, including, in the case of certain countries, the ability to demonstrate compliance with GMP. There can be no assurance that we would be able to comply with these standards.

Any expansion into international operations would depend on our ability to secure the necessary permits, licenses or other approvals. An agency's denial of or delay in issuing or renewing a permit, license or other approval, or revocation or substantial modification of an existing permit or approval, could prevent us exporting our products internationally. In addition, Canada is a signatory to the Single Convention on Narcotic Drugs, 1961 as amended by the 1972 Protocol, the Convention on Psychotropic Substances, 1971, and the United Nations Convention Against Illicit Traffic in Narcotic Drugs and Psychotropic Substances, 1988. These drug control conventions establish a framework whereby trade in cannabis between countries is strictly limited to medical and scientific purposes and is subject to country-by-country quotas, which could limit the amount of medical cannabis we can export to any particular country.

In addition, any expansion into international operations could subject our business to certain risks relating to fluctuating exchange rates or require a number of up-front expenses, including those associated with obtaining regulatory approvals, as well as additional ongoing expenses, including those associated with infrastructure, staff and regulatory compliance. Due to the complexity and nature of cannabis operations and the dependence on various international regulatory requirements, we would be subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations domestically and internationally with respect to the flow of funds and product across international borders,

including those related to money laundering, financial recordkeeping and proceeds of crime, including the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* (Canada), as amended and the rules and regulations thereunder, the *Criminal Code* (Canada) and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by governmental authorities internationally.

The Corporation may decide to invest with certain strategic investors and/or other third parties through joint ventures or other entities from time to time, thereby subjecting it to co-investment risks.

The Corporation has, and may decide in the future to invest with certain strategic investors and/or other third parties through joint ventures or other entities. These parties may have different interests or superior rights to those of the Corporation. Although it is the general intent of the Corporation to retain control and superior rights associated with its investments, all of our current investments involve non-controlling stakes, and in respect of future acquisitions, under certain circumstances, it may be possible that the Corporation relinquishes such rights over certain of its investments and, therefore, may have a limited ability to protect its position therein. In those cases where the Corporation does maintain a control position with respect to its investments, the Corporation's investments may be subject to typical risks associated with third-party involvement, including the possibility that a third-party may have financial difficulties resulting in a negative impact on such investment, may have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with those of the Corporation, or may be in a position to take (or block) action in a manner contrary to the Corporation's objectives. The Corporation may also, in certain circumstances, be liable for the actions of its third party partners or co-investors.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations could subject the Corporation to regulatory or agency proceedings which could divert management's attention and resources and have a material adverse impact on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operation.

The Corporation's business requires compliance with many laws and regulations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could subject the Corporation to regulatory or agency proceedings or investigations and could also lead to damage awards, fines and penalties. The Corporation may become involved in a number of government or agency proceedings, investigations and audits. The outcome of any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations, audits, and other contingencies could harm the Corporation's reputation, require the Corporation to take, or refrain from taking, actions that could harm its operations or require the Corporation to pay substantial amounts of money, harming its financial condition. There can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations and audits will not result in substantial costs or a diversion of management's attention and resources or have a material adverse impact on the Corporation's business, financial condition and results of operation.

The Corporation must rely largely on its own market research to forecast future projected sales as detailed forecasts are not generally obtainable from other sources and prices for the Corporation's products may vary considerably from our forecasts at this early stage of the cannabis industry in Canada.

The Corporation must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are not generally obtainable from other sources and prices for the Corporation's products may vary considerably from our forecasts at this early stage of the cannabis industry in Canada. A failure in the demand for our products to materialize as a result of competition, technological change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Corporation. We must rely largely on our market research due to the early stages of the cannabis industry in Canada. As a result of these forecasts, if we underestimate the demand for our products, we may not be able to produce products to meet our stringent requirements, and this could result in delays in the shipment of our products and our failure to satisfy demand, as well as damage to our reputation and partner relationships. If we overestimate the demand for our products, we could face inventory levels in excess of demand, which could result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of excess inventory at discounted prices, which would harm our gross margins and our brand management efforts. In addition, failure to accurately predict consumption behavior of our products at the individual level (including average revenue per user, frequency of use and number of grams per year purchased) could cause a decline in revenue and harm our profitability and financial condition.

Further, the price of production, sale and distribution of cannabis, including the price per gram of dried flowers and extracts may fluctuate significantly due to how young the cannabis industry is and the lack of external market research and studies. In addition, prices are affected by numerous factors beyond our control including international, economic and political trends, expectations of inflation, currency exchange fluctuations, interest rates, global or regional consumptive patterns, speculative activities and increased production due to new production and distribution developments and improved production and distribution methods. The effect of these factors on the price of our products and, therefore, their economic viability may be difficult to predict accurately or at all.

Competition from synthetic production, the introduction of new products embodying new technologies, including new manufacturing processes, and the emergence of new industry standards may render our products obsolete, less competitive or less marketable.

The pharmaceutical industry may attempt to dominate the cannabis industry through the development and distribution of synthetic products which emulate the effects and treatment of organic cannabis. If they are successful, the widespread popularity of such synthetic products could change the demand, volume and profitability of the cannabis industry. This could adversely affect the ability of the Corporation to secure long-term profitability and success through the sustainable and profitable operation of its business. There may be unknown additional regulatory fees and taxes that may be assessed in the future.

In addition, rapidly changing markets, technology, emerging industry standards and frequent introduction of new products characterize our business. The process of developing our products is complex and requires significant continuing costs, development efforts and third-party commitments. Our failure to develop new technologies and products and the obsolescence of existing technologies could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. We may be unable to anticipate changes in our potential customer requirements that could make our existing technology obsolete. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to enhance our existing technologies, develop new technology that addresses the increasing sophistication and varied needs of the market, and respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and practices on a timely and cost-effective basis. The development of our proprietary technology entails significant technical and business risks. We may not be successful in using our new technologies or exploiting our niche markets effectively or adapting our businesses to evolving customer or medical requirements or preferences or emerging industry standards.

The Corporation may not be able to transport its products to consumers in a safe, secure and efficient manner.

Due to the perishable nature of its proposed products, the Corporation will depend on fast and efficient third party transportation services to distribute its product. Any prolonged disruption of third party transportation services could have an adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Corporation.

Due to the nature of our products, security of the product during transportation to and from our facilities is of the utmost concern. A breach of security during transport or delivery could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and prospects. Any breach of the security measures during transport or delivery, including any failure to comply with recommendations or requirements of Health Canada, could also have an impact on our ability to continue operating under the License or the prospect of renewing the License.

We may become subject to liability arising from any fraudulent or illegal activity by our employees, contractors, consultants and others.

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, consultants, service providers and licensors may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional undertakings of unauthorized activities, or reckless or negligent undertakings of authorized activities, in each case on our behalf or in our service that violate: (i) government regulations, specifically Health Canada regulations; (ii) manufacturing standards; (iii) Canadian federal and provincial healthcare laws and regulations; (iv) laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data; (v) U.S. federal laws banning the possession, sale or import of cannabis into the United States and prohibiting the financing of activities outside the United States that are unlawful under Canadian or other foreign laws; (vi) laws of the European Union, including

money laundering laws, extending their reach to proceeds from cannabis sales even if legal in the country in which the activity takes place or (vii) the terms of our agreements with insurers. In particular, we could be exposed to class action and other litigation, increased Health Canada inspections and related sanctions, the inability to obtain future GMP compliance certifications, lost sales and revenue or reputational damage as a result of prohibited activities that are undertaken in the growing or production process of our products without our knowledge or permission and contrary to our internal policies, procedures and operating requirements.

We cannot always identify and prevent misconduct by our employees and other third parties, including service providers and licensors, and the precautions taken by us to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown, unanticipated or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from such misconduct. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending our self or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal or administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines and contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings or curtailment of our operations.

The nascent status of the medical and recreational cannabis industry involves unique circumstances and there can be no assurance that the industry will continue to exist or grow as currently anticipated.

The Corporation is operating its business in a relatively new medical and adult-use recreational cannabis industry and market. In addition to being subject to general business risks, a business involving an agricultural product and a regulated consumer product, we need to continue to build brand awareness in this industry and market through significant investments in our strategy, our production capacity, quality assurance, and compliance with regulations. These activities may not promote our brand and products as effectively as intended, or at all.

Competitive conditions, consumer tastes, patient requirements and spending patterns in this new industry and market are relatively unknown and may have unique circumstances that differ from existing industries and markets.

In addition, the Cannabis Act also permits patients to produce a limited amount of cannabis for their own purposes or to designate a person to produce a limited amount of cannabis on their behalf. This could potentially significantly reduce the market for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Accordingly, there are no assurances that this industry and market will continue to exist or grow as currently estimated or anticipated, or function and evolve in a manner consistent with management's expectations and assumptions. Any event or circumstance that affects the medical cannabis industry and market could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

General Corporate Risks

There is substantial doubt about the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern and if the Corporation is unable to obtain additional financing from outside sources and/or eventually generate enough revenues, it may be forced to sell a portion or all of its assets or curtail or discontinue its operations.

The Corporation's auditor has indicated in the Corporation's audited annual financial statements that there is substantial doubt about the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern. The Corporation is in the preliminary stages of its planned operations and has not yet determined whether its processes and business plans are economically viable. The continued operations of the Corporation and the recoverability of amounts shown for property, plant and equipment in the Corporation's audited annual financial statements are dependent upon the ability of the Corporation to obtain sufficient financing to complete the development of its facilities and extraction processes, and if they are proven successful, the existence of future profitable production, or alternatively, upon the Corporation's ability to dispose of its interest on an advantageous basis, all of which are uncertain. Importantly, the inclusion in the Corporation's financial statements of a going concern opinion may negatively

impact the Corporation's ability to raise future financing and achieve future revenue. If the Corporation is unable to obtain additional financing from outside sources and/or eventually generate enough revenues, the Corporation may be forced to sell a portion or all of the Corporation's assets or curtail or discontinue its operations. If any of these events happens, a prospective purchaser could lose all or part of its investment. In addition, the Corporation's financial statements do not include any adjustments to the Corporation's recorded assets or liabilities that might be necessary if the Corporation becomes unable to continue as a going concern.

The Corporation has a history of losses and may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable or to generate positive cash flow on a sustained basis.

The Corporation has incurred losses since its inception in 2011. The Corporation may not be able to generate revenue, achieve or maintain profitability and may continue to incur significant losses in the future. In addition, the Corporation expects to continue to increase operating expenses as it implements initiatives to continue to grow its business. If the Corporation's revenues do not increase to offset these expected increases in costs and operating expenses, it will not be profitable.

Additionally, our costs are expected to increase in future periods, which could negatively affect our future operating results and ability to achieve and sustain profitability. We expect to continue to expend substantial financial and other resources on expanding our processing capability and production capacity and to pursue the commercialization of pharmaceutical products. These investments may not result in increased revenue or growth in the business. If we cannot successfully earn revenue at a rate that exceeds the costs associated with our business, we will not be able to achieve or sustain profitability or generate positive cash flow on a sustained basis and our revenue growth rate may decline. If we fail to continue to grow our revenue and overall business, our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects could be materially adversely affected.

The Corporation may be unable to raise the capital necessary for it to execute its strategy on favorable terms or at all.

There is no guarantee that the Corporation will be able to execute on its strategy. Developing biopharmaceutical products is expensive and time-consuming, and we expect to require substantial additional capital to conduct research, preclinical testing and human studies, to potentially establish pilot scale and commercial scale manufacturing processes and facilities, and to establish and develop quality control, regulatory, marketing, sales and administrative capabilities to support our existing programs and pursue potential additional programs. We are or may in the future also be responsible for the payments to third parties of expenses that may include milestone payments, license maintenance fees and royalties, including in the case of certain of our agreements with academic institutions or other companies from whom intellectual property rights underlying their respective programs have been licensed or acquired. Because the outcome of any preclinical or clinical development and regulatory approval process is highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development, regulatory approval process and commercialization of any product candidates we may identify.

Our future funding requirements for the development of pharmaceutical products will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

- time and cost necessary to complete ongoing and planned clinical trials;
- the time and cost necessary to pursue regulatory approvals for our product candidates, and the costs of post-marketing studies that could be required by regulatory authorities;
- the progress, timing, scope and costs of our nonclinical studies, preclinical studies, clinical trials and other related activities, including the ability to enroll patients in a timely manner, for the ongoing and planned clinical trials set forth above, and potential future clinical trials;
- the costs of obtaining clinical and commercial supplies of raw materials and drug products for our product candidates;

- our ability to successfully identify and negotiate acceptable terms for third-party supply and contract manufacturing agreements with contract manufacturing organizations ("CMOs");
- our ability to successfully commercialize product candidates;
- the manufacturing, selling and marketing costs associated with our product candidates, including the cost and timing of expanding our internal sales and marketing capabilities or entering into strategic collaborations with third parties to leverage or access these capabilities;
- the amount and timing of sales and other revenues from our product candidates, if any are approved, including the sales price and the availability of adequate third-party reimbursement;
- the cash requirements of any future acquisitions or discovery of product candidates;
- the time and cost necessary to respond to technological and market developments;
- the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing in intellectual property rights, products, product candidates and businesses;
- our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel; and
- the costs of maintaining, expanding and protecting our intellectual property.

Additional funds may not be available when we need them, on terms that are acceptable, or at all. If adequate funds are not available to us on a timely basis, we may be required to delay, limit or terminate one or more research or development programs or the commercialization of any product candidates or be unable to expand operations or otherwise capitalize on business opportunities, as desired, which could materially affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, the continued development of the Corporation's cannabis operations will require significant additional financing over several years. The failure to raise such capital could result in the delay or indefinite postponement of current business strategy or the Corporation ceasing to carry on business. There can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favorable to the Corporation, at times for reasons beyond the Corporation's control. For example, economic downturns or uncertain market conditions, whether affecting the economy in general or the cannabis industry in particular, could adversely impact the Corporation's ability to raise capital through equity or debt financing. In addition, any further issuances of equity securities could have a significant dilutive effect on the holders of Class B Shares.

In addition, from time to time, the Corporation may enter into transactions to acquire assets or the shares of other companies. These transactions may be financed wholly or partially with debt, which may temporarily increase the Corporation's debt levels above industry standards. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for the Corporation to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.

The success of the Corporation is dependent upon its senior management and key personnel and ability to hire skilled personnel, and any loss of the services of such individuals could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, operating results or financial condition.

Another risk associated with the production and sale of medical cannabis is the loss of important staff members. The success of the Corporation will be dependent upon the ability, expertise, judgment, discretion and good faith of its senior management and key personnel. While employment agreements are customarily used as a primary method of retaining the services of key employees, these agreements cannot assure the continued services of such employees. For example, during the 2019 fiscal year the Corporation experienced significant turnover of its senior management. Rupert Haynes was terminated as Chief Executive Officer on February 6, 2019, less than three months after his appointment, and Dr. Raza Bokhari was re-appointed interim Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. On March 13, 2019, the Corporation announced the departure of Thomas Fairfull as President of FV Pharma and the subsequent appointment of Dr. Sara May as President of FV Pharma. On June 3, 2019, the

Corporation announced that Dr. Raza Bokhari was appointed as permanent Chief Executive Officer. The Board has also engaged a consulting firm and has commenced the process of finding a permanent Chief Financial Officer to replace the Corporation's interim Chief Financial Officer. In addition, in connection with the closing of the Prismic acquisition, Prismic founders Zachary Dutton and Peter Moriarty have joined FSD in the roles of Chief Executive Officer of Prismic and Chairman of the Biosciences/Pharmaceuticals Industry Advisory Board, respectively. The Corporation may not be able to find appropriate replacements for key personnel on a timely basis. Furthermore, each of our executive officers may terminate their employment with us at any time. We do not maintain "key person" insurance for any of our executives or employees. Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and clinical personnel and, if we progress the development of our drug pipeline toward scaling up for commercialization, sales and marketing personnel, will also be critical to our success. The loss of the services of key personnel as well as the diversion of management's and the Board's attention to replace the services of such individuals, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, operating results or financial condition.

In addition, the Corporation's future success depends on its continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and the Corporation may incur significant costs to attract and retain them, if it is able to hire them at all.

The Corporation's dual class structure has the effect of concentrating voting control and the ability to influence corporate matters with a limited number of holders of Class A Shares.

The Corporation's dual class structure has the effect of concentrating voting control and the ability to influence corporate matters with those shareholders. Currently, all 72 outstanding Class A Shares are held by the Corporation's founders. Class A Shares have 276,660 votes per share and Class B Shares have one vote per share. Shareholders who hold Class A Shares together hold approximately 71% of the voting power of the Corporation's outstanding voting shares and therefore have significant influence over management and affairs of the Corporation and over all matters requiring shareholder approval.

In addition, because of the voting ratio between Class A Shares and Class B Shares, the holders of Class A Shares collectively continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of the voting shares even where the Class A Shares represent a substantially reduced percentage of the total outstanding shares. The different voting rights could diminish the value of the Class B Shares to the extent that investors or any potential future purchasers of the Class B Shares attribute value to the superior voting or other rights of the Class A Shares. Holders of the Class B Shares will only have a right to vote, as a class, in limited circumstances as described in its constating documents.

The concentrated voting control of holders of Class A Shares limits the ability of Class B Shareholders to influence corporate matters and all matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of directors as well as with respect to decisions regarding amendment of the Corporation's share capital, creating and issuing additional classes of shares, making significant acquisitions, selling significant assets or parts of our business, merging with other companies and undertaking other significant transactions

As a result, holders of Class A Shares have the ability to control substantially all matters affecting us and actions may be taken that our holders of Class B Shares may not view as beneficial. The market price of the Class B Shares could be adversely affected due to the significant influence and voting power of the holders of Class A Shares. Additionally, the significant voting interest of holders of Class A Shares may discourage transactions involving a change of control, including transactions in which an investor, as a holder of the Class B Shares, might otherwise receive a premium for the Class B Shares over the then-current market price, or discourage competing proposals if a going private transaction is proposed by one or more holders of Class A Shares.

The Corporation may be unable to manage its growth, including capacity constraints and pressure on our internal systems and controls, which may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, financial conditions and prospects.

The Corporation may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its internal systems and controls. The ability of the Corporation to manage growth effectively will require it to continue to

implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage its employee base. The inability of the Corporation to deal with this growth may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Management may not be able to successfully implement and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures.

Effective internal controls are necessary for the Corporation to provide reliable financial reports and to help prevent fraud. Although the Corporation has undertaken a number of procedures and has implemented a number of safeguards, in each case, in order to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, including those imposed on the Corporation under Canadian securities law, the Corporation cannot be certain that such measures will ensure that the Corporation will maintain adequate control over financial processes and reporting. Failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm the Corporation's results of operations or cause it to fail to meet its reporting obligations.

Effective systems of internal control over financial reporting ("ICFR") and disclosure are critical to the operation of a public corporation. However, we do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures ("DCP") or ICFR will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of such controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. Due to the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a timely manner or at all. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results could be materially adversely affected, which could cause investors to lose confidence in us and our reported financial information, which in turn could result in a reduction in the value of the Class B Shares.

To date, the Corporation has not been required to certify in connection with its reports under applicable Canadian securities legislation that it maintains effective internal control over financial reporting or effective disclosure controls and procedures.

In contrast to the certificates that are now required of the Corporation pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the U.S. Exchange Act, as a public corporation in the United States and the certificates required under National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings ("NI 52-109"), the Corporation utilizes the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate which does not include representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of DCP and ICFR. In particular, the certifying officers who have filed the Corporation's certificates have not previously made any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of: (a) controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities legislation; and (b) a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.

We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public corporation in the United States and our management will be required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public corporation in the United States, we will incur significant legal, accounting, insurance and other expenses that we did not incur prior to being listed in the United States. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), and rules implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq, impose various other requirements on public companies, and we will need to spend time and resources to ensure compliance with our reporting obligations under Canadian securities laws, as well as our obligations in the United States.

Being a public corporation in the United States and complying with applicable rules and regulations have made and will continue to make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may

continue to be required to incur substantially higher costs to obtain and maintain the same or similar coverage that is currently in place in Canada. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified executive officers and members of our board of directors.

Risks related to our status as a foreign private issuer.

As a foreign private issuer, in reliance on Nasdaq rules that permit a foreign private issuer to follow the corporate governance practices of its home country, the Corporation is permitted to follow certain Canadian corporate governance practices instead of those otherwise required under the corporate governance standards for U.S. domestic issuers.

Further, as a foreign private issuer, the Corporation is exempt from a number of requirements under U.S. securities laws that apply to public companies that are not foreign private issuers. In particular, the Corporation is exempt from the rules and regulations under the U.S. Exchange Act related to the furnishing and content of proxy statements, and its officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the U.S. Exchange Act. The Corporation is exempt from the provisions of Regulation FD, which prohibits the selective disclosure of material non-public information to, among others, broker-dealers and holders of a company's securities under circumstances in which it is reasonably foreseeable that the holder will trade in the company's securities on the basis of the information. Even though Canadian securities law requirements regarding the disclosure of material and non-public information by public companies are similar to U.S. securities law requirements and the Corporation voluntarily complies with Regulation FD, these exemptions and leniencies will reduce the frequency and scope of information and protections to which purchasers are entitled as investors.

We are an emerging growth corporation and intend to take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies, which could make the Class B Shares less attractive to investors.

We are an "emerging growth corporation" as defined in the JOBS Act and anticipate remaining an emerging growth corporation for the foreseeable future. For so long as we remain an emerging growth corporation, we are permitted to and intend to rely upon exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the JOBS Act.

We may take advantage of some, but not all, of the available exemptions available to emerging growth companies. We cannot predict whether investors will find the Class B Shares less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find the Class B Shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for the Class B Shares and our share price may be more volatile.

We may not be able to successfully identify and execute future acquisitions or dispositions or to successfully manage the impacts of such transactions on our operations.

The Corporation has made and may continue to pursue acquisition opportunities to advance its strategic plan. The successful integration of an acquired business typically requires the management of the pre-acquisition business strategy, including the retention and addition of senior management, customers, realization of identified synergies, retention of key staff and the development of a common corporate culture. Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends in part on successfully consolidating functions and integrating operations and procedures in a timely and efficient manner, as well as the ability to realize anticipated growth opportunities and synergies from newly formed partnerships. Any failure to integrate an acquired business or realize the anticipated benefits of new partnerships may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects, including its future prospects for acquisitions or partnerships. There is no assurance that the Corporation will be able to successfully integrate an acquired business in order to maximize or realize the benefits associated with an acquisition.

In addition, from time to time the Corporation enters into letters of intent and memoranda of understanding with respect to which definitive agreements have not yet been, but are expected to be, executed. The Corporation may

not be able to perform under these contracts as a result of operational or other breaches or due to events beyond its control, and the Corporation may not be able to ultimately execute a definitive agreement in cases where one does not currently exist.

Any expansion of our international operations will result in increased operational, regulatory and other risks.

We may in the future expand into other geographic areas, which could increase our operational, regulatory, compliance, reputational and foreign exchange rate risks. The failure of our operating infrastructure to support such expansion could result in operational failures and regulatory fines or sanctions.

The Corporation is reliant on the operations of its partners and has little or no control over such operations.

The Corporation has made investments in strategic partners and relies on such partners to execute on their business plans and produce cannabis products. Other than with respect to certain contractual arrangements, the Corporation has little or no control in or influence over the operations of its partners. Further, the interests of the Corporation and its partners may not always be aligned. As a result, the Corporation's projected cash flows that are dependent upon the operation of its partners are subject to the risk that its partners may: (i) have business interests or targets that are inconsistent with those of the Corporation; (ii) take action contrary to the Corporation's policies or objectives; (iii) be unable or unwilling to fulfill their obligations under their agreements with the Corporation; or (iv) experience financial, operational or other difficulties, including insolvency, which could limit or suspend a partner's ability to perform its obligations. In addition, payments may flow through the Corporation's partners and there is a risk of delay and additional expense in receiving such revenues. Failure to receive payments in a timely fashion, or at all, under the agreements to which the Corporation is entitled may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation. In addition, the Corporation must rely, in part, on the accuracy and timeliness of the information it receives from its partners and uses such information in its analyses, forecasts and assessments relating to its own business. If the information provided to the Corporation by its partners contains material inaccuracies or omissions, the Corporation's ability to accurately forecast or achieve its stated objectives, or satisfy its reporting obligations, may be materially impaired.

The Corporation may become party to litigation from time to time which could adversely affect its business.

The Corporation may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business which could adversely affect its business. In addition, the Corporation may become subject to class actions, securities litigation and other actions, including anti-trust and anti-competitive actions. Should any litigation in which the Corporation becomes involved be determined against the Corporation, such a decision could adversely affect the Corporation's ability to continue operating and the market price for Corporation's Class B Shares and could result in the use of significant resources. Even if the Corporation is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant corporate resources and management attention.

Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. and Class Action

The Corporation terminated the Auxly Agreement on February 6, 2019 by sending a Notice of Default to Auxly. Later that same day, Auxly sent a Notice of Default to the Corporation in response. Pursuant to the Auxly Agreement, Auxly purchased 37,313 Class B Shares and deposited \$7.5 million, the purchase price therefor, into trust to be spent on construction of the Facility. Due to the termination of the Auxly Agreement, it is indeterminable whether any of the funds will be released to the Corporation. To date, neither party has taken any steps to commence litigation with respect to the termination of the Auxly Agreement.

The Corporation is currently the defendant in a proposed class action lawsuit issued at the Ontario Superior Court of Justice in Toronto on February 22, 2019. The plaintiff shareholder alleges that the Corporation misrepresented information with respect to the progress of the build-out of the first phase the Facility by the Corporation and Auxly. The plaintiff further alleges that when the Corporation subsequently announced that the Auxly Agreement had been terminated, the price of the Class B Shares on the CSE decreased causing losses to her and the other shareholders of the Corporation. A motion to the court by the plaintiff has been scheduled for May 4, 2020, at which time the plaintiff will seek leave of the court to pursue the claim under the Securities Act (Ontario). If leave

is granted, the plaintiff will then bring a further motion to the court for an order certifying the claim as a class action. As of the date of this AIF, no date has been set for the certification motion.

Claims from suppliers

A dismissed contractor commenced a lien action combined with a breach of contract action in Cobourg Superior Court in early 2019 claiming approximately \$1.7 million in various purported damages, with a claim for lien component of \$188,309 which claim was registered November 26, 2018. The Corporation is defending the action and has taken steps to obtain particulars and inspect documents of the plaintiff which remain unaddressed to date. The Corporation has paid monies into court totalling \$235,387 to vacate the lien from title which funds stand as security for the lien claim and its costs in Cobourg Superior Court of Justice file no. CV-19-0002. As such, full provision for the lien claim and security for costs has been made; however, the 2019 breach of contract claim has not been provisioned as the Corporation intends to defend itself from this claim.

Conflicts of interest may arise between the Corporation and its directors and officers as a result of other business activities undertaken by such individuals.

Certain directors and officers of the Corporation are, and may in the future become, directors and officers of other entities, or are otherwise engaged, and will continue to be engaged, in activities that may put them in conflict with the business strategy of the Corporation. In particular: the Corporation's Executive Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Raza Bokhari, is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of PCL, Inc., a global diagnostic provider of addiction screening and opioid prescription medication monitoring, including designer drugs and synthetic cannabinoids, the managing partner of RBx Capital, LP and a board member of Akers Biosciences, a Nasdaq listed corporation; the Corporation's chief financial officer, Donal Carroll, currently is also a director of World Class and Bird River Resources Inc.; and the Corporation's Executive Co-Chairman of the Board, Anthony Durkacz, serves as a director and Executive Vice President at First Republic Capital Corporation, which has led \$53 million of financings for the Corporation. Mr. Durkacz is also a director of World Class and of iWallet Corporation. Dr. May, President of FV Pharma, is a director of Cannara. Dr. Brennan is a director of Solarvest. Gerry Goldberg, a director of the Corporation, is also a director of Capricorn Business Acquisition Inc., Baymount Incorporated, Leo Acquisitions Corp. and Osoyoos Cannabis Inc. David Urban, a director of the Corporation, is also a director of Virtu Financial, Inc. Consequently, there is a risk that such officers or directors will be in a position of conflict. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies available under the OBCA.

In addition, the Corporation's directors and the officers are required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to its best interests. However, in conflict of interest situations, the Corporation's directors and officers may owe the same duty to another corporation and will need to balance their competing interests with their duties to the Corporation. Circumstances (including with respect to future corporate opportunities) may arise that may be resolved in a manner that is unfavorable to the Corporation. These business interests could require the investment of significant time and attention by our executive officers and directors. In some cases our executive officers and directors may have fiduciary obligations associated with business interests that interfere with their ability to devote time to our business and affairs, which could adversely affect our operations.

The Corporation has not paid dividends in the past and does not anticipate paying dividends in the near future.

The Corporation has not paid dividends in the past and does not anticipate paying dividends in the near future. The Corporation expects to retain earnings to finance the development and enhancement of its products and to otherwise reinvest in the Corporation's businesses. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Board and will depend on, among other things, financial results, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that the Board may deem relevant. As a result, investors may not receive any return on investment in Class B Shares unless they sell them for a share price that is greater than that at which such investors purchased them.

The Corporation's operations depend, in part, on the maintenance and protection of its information technology systems and the information technology systems of its third-party research institution collaborators, CRO or other

contractors or consultants, which could face cyber-attacks that cause material losses to our business.

We have entered into agreements with third parties for hardware, software, telecommunications and other IT services in connection with our operations. Our operations depend, in part, on how well we, our future CROs, other contractors, consultants and our suppliers protect networks, equipment, IT systems and software against damage from a number of threats, including, but not limited to, cable cuts, damage to physical plants, natural disasters, terrorism, fire, power loss, hacking, computer viruses, vandalism and theft. Our operations also depend on the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment, IT systems and software, as well as pre-emptive expenses to mitigate the risks of failures. Any of these and other events could result in information system failures, delays and/or increase in capital expenses. The failure of information systems or a component of information systems could, depending on the nature of any such failure, adversely impact our reputation and results of operations.

For example, the loss of, or damage to, clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. Likewise, we rely or expect to rely on third parties for research and development, the manufacture and supply of drug product and to conduct clinical trials, and similar events relating to their computer systems could also have a material adverse effect on our business. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or systems, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further development and commercialization of our product candidates could be delayed.

Certain data breaches must also be reported to affected individuals and the certain regulatory bodies, and in some cases may be required to be publicly disclosed, under provisions of U.S. federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 ("HIPAA"), as amended, other U.S. federal and state law, and requirements of non-U.S. jurisdictions, including federal and provincial data protection legislation in Canada, European Union Data Protection Directive, and financial or other penalties may also apply.

Cyber incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events. Cyber-attacks could result in any person gaining unauthorized access to digital systems for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, including personally identifiable information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. Cyber- attacks could also result in important remediation costs, increased cyber security costs, lost revenues due to a disruption of activities, litigation and reputational harm affecting customer and investor confidence, which could materially adversely affect our business and financial results.

We have not experienced any material losses to date relating to cyber-attacks or other information security breaches, but there can be no assurance that we will not incur such losses in the future, which could be in excess of any available insurance and could materially adversely affect our business and financial results. Our risk and exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these threats. As a result, cyber security and the continued development and enhancement of controls, processes and practices designed to protect systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized access is a priority. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities.

Tax and accounting requirements may change in ways that are unforeseen to us and we may face difficulty or be unable to implement or comply with any such changes.

We are subject to numerous tax and accounting requirements, and changes in existing accounting or taxation rules or practices, or varying interpretations of current rules or practices, could have a significant adverse effect on our financial results, the manner in which we conduct our business or the marketability of any of our products. We currently have international operations and plans to expand such operations in the future. These operations, and any expansion thereto, will require us to comply with the tax laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions, which may vary substantially. Complying with the tax laws of these jurisdictions can be time consuming and expensive

and could potentially subject us to penalties and fees in the future if we were to fail to comply.

Tax risks related to our status as a "passive foreign investment corporation", or "PFIC".

Under the Code, we will be a PFIC for any taxable year in which (1) 75% or more of our gross income consists of passive income or (2) 50% or more of the average quarterly value of our assets consists of assets that produce, or are held for the production of, passive income. For purposes of these tests, passive income includes dividends, interest, gains from the sale or exchange of investment property and certain rents and royalties. In addition, for purposes of the above calculations, a non-U.S. corporation that directly or indirectly owns at least 25% by value of the shares of another corporation is treated as holding and receiving directly its proportionate share of assets and income of such corporation. If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. holder holds our shares, the U.S. holder may be subject to adverse tax consequences regardless of whether we continue to qualify as a PFIC, including ineligibility for any preferred tax rates on capital gains or on actual or deemed dividends, interest charges on certain taxes treated as deferred and additional reporting requirements.

Based on our analysis of our income, assets, activities and market capitalization, we believe that we were a PFIC in the 2019 taxable year. We have not yet determined our PFIC status for the current taxable year, but we expect to be a PFIC. The determination of whether we are a PFIC is a fact-intensive determination made on an annual basis applying principles and methodologies that in some circumstances are unclear and subject to varying interpretation. As a result, there can be no assurance regarding whether we will be treated as a PFIC for the current year, or may be treated as a PFIC in the future. In addition, for our current and future taxable years, the total value of our assets for PFIC testing purposes may be determined in part by reference to the market price of our Class B Shares from time to time, which may fluctuate considerably. Under the income test, our status as a PFIC depends on the composition of our income which will depend on the transactions we enter into in the future and our corporate structure. The composition of our income and assets is also affected by how we spend the cash we raise in any offering.

Risks Related to the Pharmaceutical Business

Drug development is a highly uncertain undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk. We have incurred significant losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.

Pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk. Prismic is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical corporation with a limited operating history upon which you can evaluate its business and prospects. In addition, PP-101 is in the pre-clinical development phase. Our product candidates will require substantial additional development time, including extensive clinical research, and resources before it would be able to apply for or receive regulatory approvals and begin generating revenue from product sales.

We have no pharmaceutical products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from pharmaceutical product sales. We will continue to incur significant R&D and other expenses related to ongoing operations and expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future. We anticipate these losses will increase and that we will not generate any revenue from product sales until after we have successfully completed clinical development and received regulatory approval for the commercial sale of one or more pharmaceutical product candidates.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with drug development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of its expenses, or when it will be able to generate any meaningful revenue or achieve or maintain profitability, if ever. In addition, our expenses could increase beyond our current expectations if we are required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to perform nonclinical or preclinical studies or clinical trials in addition to those that we currently anticipate, or if there are any delays in any of our or our future collaborators' clinical trials or the development of our pharmaceutical product candidates that it may identify. Even if our future pharmaceutical product candidates that we may identify are approved for commercial sale, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated with commercializing any approved pharmaceutical product

candidate and ongoing compliance efforts.

We may never be able to develop or commercialize a marketable drug or achieve profitability. Revenue from the sale of any product candidate for which regulatory approval is obtained will be dependent, in part, upon the size of the markets in the territories for which we obtain regulatory approval, the accepted price for the product, the ability to obtain reimbursement at any price and whether we own the commercial rights for that territory, as well as the efficiency and availability of any comparable products. Our growth strategy depends on our ability to generate revenue. In addition, if the number of addressable patients is less than anticipated, the indication approved by regulatory authorities is narrower than expected, or the reasonably accepted population for treatment is narrowed by competition, physician choice or treatment guidelines, we may not generate significant revenue from sales of such products, even if approved. Even if we are able to generate revenue from the sale of any approved products, we may not become profitable and may need to obtain additional funding to continue operations. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. Our failure to achieve sustained profitability would depress our value and could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, diversify our research and development pipeline, market our product candidates, if approved, that we may identify and pursue or continue our operations.

The Corporation's involvement in the cannabis industry may delay or materially impair its ability to complete any clinical trials and attain the regulatory approvals it requires to commercialize pharmaceutical products, which may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business and results of operations.

The Corporation was founded as a medical cannabis company and the growth and sale of cannabis remains a central part of the Corporation's business. While all pharmaceutical companies face risks in developing and bringing pharmaceutical products to market successfully, the Corporation's involvement in the cannabis industry may increase the risks that any pharmaceutical corporation would face. For example, while some U.S. states have legalized cannabis growth and possession, U.S. federal law continues to ban the possession, sale or import of cannabis into the United States and prohibits the financing of activities outside the United States that are unlawful under Canadian or other foreign laws. As a U.S. federal agency, the FDA may review the Corporation's activities, clinical trials, if any, and applications for approval with heightened scrutiny because of the Corporation's involvement in the Canadian cannabis industry, its stated goals of utilizing cannabis-based products such as THC and CBD in its pharmaceutical products and the limited history of medical research on cannabis products, and the Corporation's applications may be more likely to be subject to enhanced scrutiny. Finally, third-parties, especially those in the United States, may avoid doing business with the Corporation due to its involvement in the cannabis industry or may only provide their services and products to the Corporation at a premium to account for increased counter-party risks.

If any of the foregoing delay or prevent the Corporation from attaining the approvals it requires to commercialize its products, in addition to the risks inherent in the pharmaceutical business outlined below, it may have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our product candidates are in preclinical development, which is a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain outcomes and the potential for substantial delays. Our product candidates may not receive regulatory approval, which is necessary before they can be commercialized.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of our product candidates, we must conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of the product candidates in humans. To date, we have focused substantially all of our efforts and financial resources on identifying, acquiring, and developing our product candidates, including conducting lead optimization, nonclinical studies, preclinical studies and clinical trials, and providing general and administrative support for these operations. We cannot be certain that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. Our inability to successfully complete preclinical and clinical development could result in additional costs to us and negatively impact our ability to generate revenue. Our future success is dependent on our ability to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and then successfully commercialize and market product candidates. We currently have no pharmaceutical products approved for sale and have not generated any revenue from sales of pharmaceutical products, and we may never be able to develop or successfully commercialize a marketable pharmaceutical

product.

All of our product candidates require significant additional development; management of preclinical, clinical, and manufacturing activities; and regulatory approval. In addition, we will need to obtain adequate manufacturing supply; build a commercial organization; commence marketing efforts; and obtain reimbursement, or contract for such services, before we generate any significant revenue from commercial product sales, if ever. Many of our product candidates are in early-stage research or translational phases of development, and the risk of failure for these programs is high. We cannot be certain that any of our product candidates will be successful in clinical trials or receive regulatory approval. Further, our product candidates may not receive regulatory approval even if they are successful in clinical trials. If we do not receive regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we and our subsidiaries may not be able to continue operations, which may result in us out-licensing the technology or pursuing an alternative strategy.

If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval in one or more jurisdictions for any product candidates that we may identify and develop, our business will be substantially harmed.

We cannot commercialize a product until the appropriate regulatory authorities have reviewed and approved the product candidate. Approval by the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities is a lengthy and unpredictable process, and depends upon numerous factors, including substantial discretion of the regulatory authorities. Approval policies, regulations, or the type and amount of nonclinical or clinical data necessary to gain approval may change during the course of a product candidate's development and may vary among jurisdictions, which may cause delays in the approval or the decision not to approve an application. We have not obtained regulatory approval for any product candidates, and it is possible that our current product candidates and any other product candidates which we may seek to develop in the future will not ever obtain regulatory approval. We cannot be certain that any of our product candidates will receive regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized even if we receive regulatory approval.

Obtaining marketing approval is an extensive, lengthy, expensive and inherently uncertain process, and regulatory authorities may delay, limit or deny approval of our product candidates for many reasons, including but not limited to:

- the inability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities that the applicable product candidate is safe and effective as a treatment for our targeted indications;
- the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities may disagree with the design, endpoints or implementation of our clinical trials;
- the population studied in the clinical program may not be sufficiently broad or representative to assure safety or efficacy in the full population for which we seek approval;
- the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities may require additional preclinical studies or clinical trials beyond those that we currently anticipate;
- the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from nonclinical studies or clinical trials;
- the data collected from clinical trials of product candidates that we may identify and pursue may not be sufficient to support the submission of a New Drug Application ("NDA"), biologics license application ("BLA"), or other submission for regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere;
- we may be unable to demonstrate to the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities that a product candidate's risk-benefit ratio for its proposed indication is acceptable;
- the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities may identify deficiencies in the manufacturing processes, test procedures and specifications, or facilities of third-party manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and

• the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities may change in a manner that renders the clinical trial design or data insufficient for approval.

The lengthy approval process, as well as the unpredictability of the results of clinical trials and evolving regulatory requirements, may result in our failure to obtain regulatory approval to market product candidates that we may pursue in the United States or elsewhere, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

We may encounter substantial delays in clinical trials, or may not be able to conduct or complete clinical trials on the expected timelines, if at all.

Clinical testing is expensive, time consuming, and subject to significant uncertainty. We cannot guarantee that any of our ongoing and planned clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. Moreover, even if these trials are initiated or conducted on a timely basis, issues may arise that could result in the suspension or termination of such clinical trials. A failure of one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing, and our ongoing and future clinical trials may not be successful. Events that may prevent successful or timely initiation or completion of clinical trials include:

- inability to generate sufficient preclinical, toxicology, or other in vivo or in vitro data to support the initiation or continuation of clinical trials:
- delays in confirming target engagement, patient selection or other relevant biomarkers to be utilized in preclinical and clinical product candidate development;
- delays in reaching a consensus with regulatory agencies as to the design or implementation of our clinical studies;
- delays in reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs, and clinical trial sites, the terms
 of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and
 clinical trial sites;
- delays in identifying, recruiting and training suitable clinical investigators;
- delays in obtaining required Institutional Review Board approval at each clinical trial site;
- imposition of a temporary or permanent clinical hold by regulatory agencies for a number of reasons, including after review of an NDA or amendment, clinical trial application ("CTA") or amendment, or equivalent application or amendment, as a result of a new safety finding that presents unreasonable risk to clinical trial participants;
- a negative finding from an inspection of our clinical trial operations or study sites;
- developments in trials for other product candidates with the same targets or related modalities as our
 product candidates conducted by competitors that raise regulatory or safety concerns about risk to patients
 of the treatment; or if the FDA or other regulatory authorities find that the investigational protocol or plan
 is clearly deficient to meet stated objectives;
- difficulties in securing access to materials for the comparator arm of certain of our clinical trials;
- delays in identifying, recruiting and enrolling suitable patients to participate in clinical trials, and delays caused by patients withdrawing from clinical trials or failing to return for post-treatment follow-up;
- difficulty collaborating with patient groups and investigators;
- failure by CROs, other third parties, or us to adhere to clinical trial requirements;
- failure to perform in accordance with the FDA's or any other regulatory authority's current good clinical practices ("GCP"), requirements, or regulatory guidelines in other countries;
- occurrence of adverse events ("AEs") associated with the product candidate that are viewed to outweigh its potential benefits;

- changes in regulatory requirements and guidance that require amending or submitting new clinical protocols:
- changes in the standard of care on which a clinical development plan was based, which may require new or additional trials;
- the cost of clinical trials of any product candidates that we may identify and pursue being greater than we anticipate;
- clinical trials of any product candidates that we may identify and pursue producing negative or inconclusive
 results, which may result in our deciding, or regulators requiring us, to conduct additional clinical trials or
 abandon product development programs;
- transfer of manufacturing processes to larger-scale facilities operated by a CMO, or by us, and delays or failure by our CMOs or us to make any necessary changes to such manufacturing process; and
- delays in manufacturing, testing, releasing, validating, or importing/exporting sufficient stable quantities of product candidates that we may identify for use in clinical trials or the inability to do any of the foregoing.

Any inability to successfully initiate or complete clinical trials could result in additional costs to us or impair our ability to generate revenue. In addition, if we make manufacturing or formulation changes to our product candidates, we may be required to or we may elect to conduct additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials to bridge data obtained from our modified product candidates to data obtained from nonclinical and clinical research conducted using earlier versions. Clinical trial delays could also shorten any periods during which our products have patent protection and may allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do, which could impair our ability to successfully commercialize product candidates and may harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

We could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us or by the data safety monitoring board or similar regulatory authority. Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a product candidate, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

Moreover, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from time to time and receive compensation in connection with such services. Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities. The FDA or comparable other regulatory authority may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal investigator has created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the study. The FDA or comparable other regulatory authority may therefore question the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site and the utility of the clinical trial itself may be jeopardized. This could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA or comparable other regulatory authority, as the case may be, and may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of one or more of our product candidates.

Delays in the initiation, conduct or completion of any clinical trial of our product candidates will increase our costs, slow down the product candidate development and approval process and delay or potentially jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenue. In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates. In the event we identify any additional product candidates to pursue, we cannot be sure that submission of an IND or a CTA will result in the FDA or comparable other regulatory authority allowing clinical trials to begin in a timely manner, if at all. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our clinical trials may fail to demonstrate substantial evidence of the safety and/or effectiveness of product candidates that we may identify and pursue for their intended uses, which would prevent, delay or limit the scope of regulatory approval and commercialization.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any of our product candidates, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive nonclinical studies, preclinical studies and clinical trials that the applicable product candidate is both safe and effective for use in each target indication, and in the case of our product candidates regulated as biological products, that the product candidate is safe, pure, and potent for use in its targeted indication. Each product candidate must demonstrate an adequate risk versus benefit profile in its intended patient population and for its intended use.

Clinical testing is expensive and can take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure may occur at any time during the clinical development process. Most product candidates that begin clinical trials are never approved by regulatory authorities for commercialization. We have limited experience in designing clinical trials and may be unable to design and execute a clinical trial to support marketing approval.

We cannot be certain that our current clinical trials or any other future clinical trials will be successful. Additionally, any safety concerns observed in any one of our clinical trials in our targeted indications could limit the prospects for regulatory approval of our product candidates in those and other indications, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, even if such clinical trials are successfully completed, we cannot guarantee that the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities will interpret the results as we do, and more trials could be required before we submit our product candidates for approval. Moreover, results acceptable to support approval in one jurisdiction may be deemed inadequate by another regulatory authority to support regulatory approval in that other jurisdiction. To the extent that the results of the trials are not satisfactory to the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities for support of a marketing application, we may be required to expend significant resources, which may not be available to us, to conduct additional trials in support of potential approval of our product candidates. Even if regulatory approval is secured for a product candidate, the terms of such approval may limit the scope and use of the specific product candidate, which may also limit its commercial potential.

Results of earlier studies or clinical trials may not be predictive of future clinical trial results, and initial studies or clinical trials may not establish an adequate safety or efficacy profile for our product candidates to justify proceeding to advanced clinical trials or an application for regulatory approval.

The results of nonclinical and preclinical studies and clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of laterstage clinical trials, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. In addition, for certain of our product candidates that we acquired, we did not undertake the preclinical studies and clinical trials. The results of preclinical studies and clinical trials in one set of patients or disease indications, or from preclinical studies or clinical trials that we did not lead, may not be predictive of those obtained in another. In some instances, there can be significant variability in safety or efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due to numerous factors, including changes in trial procedures set forth in protocols, differences in the size and type of the patient populations, changes in and adherence to the dosing regimen and other clinical trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants. In addition, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to various interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy profile despite having progressed through nonclinical studies and initial clinical trials. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results in earlier studies, and we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. Even if early-stage clinical trials are successful, we may need to conduct additional clinical trials of our product candidates in additional patient populations or under different treatment conditions before we are able to seek approvals from the FDA and regulatory authorities outside the United States to market and sell these product candidates. Our failure to obtain marketing approval for our product candidates would substantially harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and

prospects.

We may encounter difficulties enrolling patients in clinical trials, and clinical development activities could thereby be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.

The timely completion of clinical trials in accordance with their protocols depends, among other things, on our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who remain in the trial until its conclusion and we may not be able to identify and enroll a sufficient number of patients, or those with required or desired characteristics and criteria, in a timely manner.

We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment in our clinical trials for a variety of reasons, including:

- the size and nature of a patient population;
- patient eligibility criteria defined in the applicable clinical trial protocols, which may limit the patient
 populations eligible for clinical trials to a greater extent than competing clinical trials for the same
 indication:
- the size of the study population required for analysis of the trial's primary endpoints;
- the proximity of patients to a trial site;
- the design of the trial;
- the ability to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;
- the approval or concurrent enrollment of clinical trials involving competing product candidates currently under development, or competing clinical trials for similar therapies or targeting patient populations meeting our patient eligibility criteria;
- clinicians' and patients' perceptions as to the potential advantages and side effects of the product candidate being studied in relation to other available therapies and product candidates;
- the ability to obtain and maintain patient consents; and
- the risk that patients enrolled in clinical trials will not complete such trials, for any reason.

If we have difficulty enrolling sufficient numbers of patients to conduct clinical trials as planned, we may need to delay or terminate ongoing or planned clinical trials, either of which would have an adverse effect on our business.

Use of our product candidates could be associated with side effects, adverse events or other properties or safety risks, which could delay or halt their clinical development, prevent their regulatory approval, cause us to suspend or discontinue clinical trials, abandon a product candidate, limit their commercial potential, if approved, or result in other significant negative consequences that could severely harm our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.

As is the case with pharmaceuticals generally, it is likely that there may be side effects and AEs associated with our product candidates' use. Results of our clinical trials could reveal a high and unacceptable severity and prevalence of side effects or unexpected characteristics. Undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities. The drug- related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

Moreover, if our product candidates are associated with undesirable side effects in preclinical studies or clinical trials or have characteristics that are unexpected, we may elect to abandon their development or limit their development to more narrow uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics

are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective, which may limit the commercial expectations for the product candidate if approved. We may also be required to modify or terminate our study plans based on findings in our preclinical studies or clinical trials. Many product candidates that initially show promise in early-stage testing may later be found to cause side effects that prevent further development. As we work to advance existing product candidates and to identify new product candidates, we cannot be certain that later testing or trials of product candidates that initially showed promise in early testing will not be found to cause similar or different unacceptable side effects that prevent their further development. It is possible that as we test our product candidates in larger, longer and more extensive clinical trials, or as the use of these product candidates becomes more widespread if they receive regulatory approval, illnesses, injuries, discomforts and other AEs that were observed in earlier trials, as well as conditions that did not occur or went undetected in previous trials, will be reported by subjects. If such side effects become known later in development or upon approval, if any, such findings may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

Additionally, adverse developments in clinical trials of pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical products conducted by others may cause the FDA or other regulatory oversight bodies to suspend or terminate our clinical trials or to change the requirements for approval of any of our product candidates.

In addition to side effects caused by the product candidate, the administration process or related procedures also can cause adverse side effects. If any such AEs occur, our clinical trials could be suspended or terminated. If we are unable to demonstrate that any AEs were caused by the administration process or related procedures, the FDA, Health Canada, the European Commission, the European Medicines Agency (the "EMA"), or other regulatory authorities could order us to cease further development of, or deny approval of, a product candidate for any or all targeted indications. Even if we can demonstrate that all future serious adverse events are not product-related, such occurrences could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial. Moreover, if we elect, or are required, to not initiate, delay, suspend or terminate any future clinical trial of any of our product candidates, the commercial prospects of such product candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates may be delayed or eliminated. Any of these occurrences may harm our ability to develop other product candidates, and may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

Additionally, if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, the FDA could impose a boxed warning in the labeling of our product and could require us to adopt a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy ("REMS"), and could apply elements to assure safe use to ensure that the benefits of the product outweigh its risks, which may include, among other things, a Medication Guide outlining the risks of the product for distribution to patients and a communication plan to health care practitioners. Furthermore, if we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates once approved, several potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

- regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw approvals of such product candidate;
- regulatory authorities may require additional warnings on the label;
- we may be required by the FDA to implement a REMS;
- we may be required to change the way a product candidate is administered or conduct additional clinical trials;
- we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and
- our reputation may suffer.

Any of these occurrences could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the particular product candidate, if approved, and may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

We may in the future conduct clinical trials for product candidates outside the United States, and the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities may not accept data from such trials.

We may in the future choose to conduct one or more clinical trials outside the United States, including in Canada, Europe or Asia. The acceptance of study data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States or another jurisdiction by the FDA or comparable other regulatory authority may be subject to certain conditions or may not be accepted at all. In cases where data from non-U.S. clinical trials are intended to serve as the basis for marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis of non-U.S. data alone unless (i) the data are applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice; and (ii) the trials were performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence and pursuant to GCP regulations. Additionally, the FDA's clinical trial requirements, including sufficient size of patient populations and statistical powering, must be met. Many non-U.S. regulatory authorities have similar approval requirements. In addition, such non-U.S. trials would be subject to the applicable local laws of the other jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the FDA or any comparable other regulatory authority will accept data from trials conducted outside of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or any comparable other regulatory authority does not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and delay aspects of our business plan, and which may result in product candidates that we may develop not receiving approval or clearance for commercialization in the applicable jurisdiction.

Even if we obtain FDA approval for product candidates that we may identify and pursue in the United States, we may never obtain approval to commercialize any product candidates outside of the United States, which would limit our ability to realize their full market potential.

In order to market any products outside of the United States, we must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and effectiveness. Clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries, and regulatory approval in one country does not mean that regulatory approval will be obtained in any other country. Approval processes vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and validation and additional or different administrative review periods from those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, as clinical trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we intend to charge for our products is also subject to approval.

Seeking non-U.S. regulatory approval could result in difficulties and costs and require additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials which could be costly and time-consuming. Regulatory requirements can vary widely from country to country and could delay or prevent the introduction of our product candidates in those countries. The non-U.S. regulatory approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval, as well as additional risks. We do not have any product candidates approved for sale in any jurisdiction, including international markets, and we do not have experience in obtaining regulatory approval in international markets. If we fail to comply with regulatory requirements in international markets or to obtain and maintain required approvals, or if regulatory approval in international markets is delayed, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our products will be harmed.

Interim, "top-line," and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become available or as additional analyses are conducted, and as the data are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, we may publish interim, "top-line," or preliminary data from our clinical studies. Interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Preliminary or "top-line" data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, interim and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Material adverse changes between preliminary, "top-line," or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business prospects.

We could experience manufacturing problems that result in delays in our development or commercialization programs or otherwise harm our business.

Our CMOs must employ multiple steps to control the manufacturing process to assure that the process is reproducible and the product candidate is made strictly and consistently in compliance with the process. Problems with the manufacturing process, even minor deviations from the normal process, could result in product defects or manufacturing failures that result in lot failures, product recalls, product liability claims or insufficient inventory to conduct clinical trials or supply commercial markets. We may encounter problems achieving adequate quantities and quality of clinical-grade materials that meet the FDA, the EMA or other applicable standards or specifications with consistent and acceptable production yields and costs.

In addition, the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities may require us to submit samples of any lot of any approved product together with the protocols showing the results of applicable tests at any time. Under some circumstances, the FDA, the EMA or other regulatory authorities may require that we not distribute a lot until the agency authorizes its release. Slight deviations in the manufacturing process, including those affecting quality attributes and stability, may result in unacceptable changes in the product that could result in lot failures or product recalls. Lot failures or product recalls could cause us to delay product launches or clinical trials, which could be costly to us and otherwise harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our CMOs also may encounter problems hiring and retaining the experienced scientific, quality assurance, quality-control and manufacturing personnel needed to operate our manufacturing processes, which could result in delays in production or difficulties in maintaining compliance with applicable regulatory requirements.

Any problems in our CMOs' manufacturing process or facilities could result in delays in planned clinical trials and increased costs, and could make us a less attractive collaborator for potential partners, including larger biotechnology companies and academic research institutions, which could limit access to additional attractive development programs. Problems in our manufacturing process could restrict our ability to meet potential future market demand for products.

If we are unable to successfully validate, develop and obtain regulatory approval for companion diagnostic tests for our drug candidates that require or would commercially benefit from such tests, or experience significant delays in doing so, we may not realize the full commercial potential of these drug candidates.

In connection with the clinical development of our drug candidates for certain indications, we may work with collaborators to develop or obtain access to *in vitro* companion diagnostic tests to identify patient subsets within a disease category who may derive selective and meaningful benefit from our drug candidates. Such companion diagnostics would be used during our clinical trials as well as in connection with the commercialization of our product candidates. To be successful, we or our collaborators will need to address a number of scientific, technical, regulatory and logistical challenges. The FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities regulate *in vitro* companion diagnostics as medical devices and, under that regulatory framework, will likely require the conduct of clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of any diagnostics we may develop, which we expect will require separate regulatory clearance or approval prior to commercialization.

We may rely on third parties for the design, development and manufacture of companion diagnostic tests for our therapeutic drug candidates that may require such tests. If we enter into such collaborative agreements, we will be dependent on the sustained cooperation and effort of our future collaborators in developing and obtaining approval for these companion diagnostics. It may be necessary to resolve issues such as selectivity/specificity, analytical validation, reproducibility, or clinical validation of companion diagnostics during the development and regulatory approval processes. Moreover, even if data from preclinical studies and early clinical trials appear to support development of a companion diagnostic for a product candidate, data generated in later clinical trials may fail to support the analytical and clinical validation of the companion diagnostic. We and our future collaborators may encounter difficulties in developing, obtaining regulatory approval for, manufacturing and commercializing companion diagnostics similar to those we face with respect to our therapeutic candidates themselves, including issues with achieving regulatory clearance or approval, production of sufficient quantities at commercial scale and

with appropriate quality standards, and in gaining market acceptance. If we are unable to successfully develop companion diagnostics for these therapeutic drug candidates, or experience delays in doing so, the development of these therapeutic drug candidates may be adversely affected, these therapeutic drug candidates may not obtain marketing approval, and we may not realize the full commercial potential of any of these therapeutics that obtain marketing approval. As a result, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially harmed. In addition, a diagnostic corporation with whom we contract may decide to discontinue selling or manufacturing the companion diagnostic test that we anticipate using in connection with development and commercialization of our product candidates or our relationship with such diagnostic corporation may otherwise terminate. We may not be able to enter into arrangements with another diagnostic corporation to obtain supplies of an alternative diagnostic test for use in connection with the development and commercialization of our product candidates or do so on commercially reasonable terms, which could adversely affect and/or delay the development or commercialization of our therapeutic candidates.

If approved, our investigational products regulated as biologics may face competition from biosimilars approved through an abbreviated regulatory pathway.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (collectively, the "ACA"), includes a subtitle called the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act of 2009 ("BPCIA") which created an abbreviated approval pathway for biological products that are biosimilar to or interchangeable with an FDA-licensed reference biological product. Under the BPCIA, an application for a biosimilar product may not be submitted to the FDA until four years following the date that the reference product was first licensed by the FDA. In addition, the approval of a biosimilar product may not be made effective by the FDA until 12 years from the date on which the reference product was first licensed. During this 12-year period of exclusivity, another corporation may still market a competing version of the reference product if the FDA approves a BLA for the competing product containing the sponsor's own preclinical data and data from adequate and well- controlled clinical trials to demonstrate the safety, purity, and potency of the other corporation's product. The law is complex and is still being interpreted and implemented by the FDA. As a result, its ultimate impact, implementation, and meaning are subject to uncertainty.

We believe that any of our product candidates approved as a biological product under a BLA should qualify for the 12-year period of exclusivity. However, there is a risk that this exclusivity could be shortened due to congressional action or otherwise, or that the FDA will not consider our investigational medicines to be reference products for competing products, potentially creating the opportunity for generic competition sooner than anticipated. Other aspects of the BPCIA, some of which may impact the BPCIA exclusivity provisions, have also been the subject of recent litigation. Moreover, the extent to which a biosimilar, once licensed, will be substituted for any one of our reference products in a way that is similar to traditional generic substitution for non-biological products is not yet clear, and will depend on a number of marketplace and regulatory factors that are still developing.

If competitors are able to obtain marketing approval for biosimilars referencing our products, our products may become subject to competition from such biosimilars, with the attendant competitive pressure and consequences.

Changes in funding for the FDA and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products or take action with respect to other regulatory matters can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved, or for other actions to be taken, by relevant government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example,

over the last several years, including for 35 days beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA and other government employees and stop critical activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Similarly, a prolonged government shutdown could prevent the timely review of our patent applications by the USPTO, which could delay the issuance of any U.S. patents to which we might otherwise be entitled. Further, in our operations as a public corporation, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and could limit commercialization of any product candidates that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of product candidates in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk if we commercially sell any medicines that we may develop. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our product candidates or medicines caused injuries, we could incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

- decreased demand for any product candidates or medicines that we may develop;
- injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;
- withdrawal of clinical trial participants;
- significant costs to defend the related litigation;
- substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;
- loss of revenue; and
- the inability to commercialize our product candidates.

Although we intend to maintain product liability insurance, including coverage for clinical trials that we plan to sponsor, it may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We anticipate that we will need to increase our insurance coverage as we commence additional clinical trials and if we successfully commercialize any product candidates. The market for insurance coverage is increasingly expensive, and the costs of insurance coverage will increase as our clinical programs increase in size. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

Our employees, directors, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.

We are exposed to the risk of fraud, misconduct or other illegal activity by our employees, directors, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and negligent conduct that fails to: comply with the laws of the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities; provide true, complete and accurate information to the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities; comply with manufacturing standards we have established; comply with healthcare fraud and abuse laws in the United States and similar other fraudulent misconduct laws; or report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized activities. If we obtain FDA approval of our product candidates and begin commercializing those products in the United States, our potential exposure under such laws will increase significantly, and our costs associated with compliance with such laws are also likely to increase. In particular, research, sales, marketing, education and other business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, educating, marketing and promotion,

sales and commission, certain customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. We intend to adopt a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees, directors and third parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our product candidates.

If any of our product candidates are approved, they will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements for manufacturing, labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, conduct of post-marketing studies, and submission of safety, efficacy, and other post-market information, including both U.S. federal and state requirements in the United States and requirements of comparable other regulatory authorities.

Manufacturers and manufacturers' facilities are required to comply with extensive requirements imposed by the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities, including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to GMP, regulations. As such, we and our CMOs will be subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with GMP and adherence to commitments made in any NDA, BLA or marketing authorization application ("MAA"). Accordingly, we and others with whom we work must continue to expend time, money, and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production and quality control.

Any regulatory approvals that we may receive for our product candidates will be subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed and promoted or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product candidate. We will be required to report certain adverse reactions and production problems, if any, to the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities. Any new legislation addressing drug safety issues could result in delays in product development or commercialization, or increased costs to assure compliance.

The FDA and other agencies, including the Department of Justice, closely regulate and monitor the post-approval marketing, labeling, advertising and promotion of products to ensure that they are manufactured, marketed and distributed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. We will have to comply with requirements concerning advertising and promotion for our products. Promotional communications with respect to prescription drugs are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the information in the product's approved label. As such, we may not promote our products for indications or uses for which they do not have approval.

The holder of an approved NDA, BLA or MAA must submit new or supplemental applications and obtain approval for certain changes to the approved product, product labeling, or manufacturing process. We could also be asked to conduct post-marketing clinical trials to verify the safety and efficacy of our products in general or in specific patient subsets. If original marketing approval was obtained via the accelerated approval pathway, we could be required to conduct a successful post-marketing clinical trial to confirm clinical benefit for our products. An unsuccessful post-marketing study or failure to complete such a study could result in the withdrawal of marketing approval.

If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as AEs of unanticipated

severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, or disagrees with the promotion, marketing or labeling of a product, such regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market. If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency or enforcement authority may, among other things:

- issue warning letters that would result in adverse publicity;
- impose civil or criminal penalties;
- suspend or withdraw regulatory approvals;
- suspend any of our ongoing clinical trials;
- refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications submitted by us;
- impose restrictions on our operations, including closing our CMOs' facilities;
- seize or detain products; or
- require a product recall.

Any government investigation of alleged violations of law could require us to expend significant time and resources in response, and could generate negative publicity. Any failure to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements may significantly and adversely affect our ability to commercialize and generate revenue from our products. If regulatory sanctions are applied or if regulatory approval is withdrawn, the value of our corporation and our operating results will be adversely affected.

The FDA's and other regulatory authorities' policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates.

We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad. For example, certain policies of the Trump administration may impact our business and industry. Namely, the Trump administration has taken several executive actions, including the issuance of a number of Executive Orders, that could impose significant burdens on, or otherwise materially delay, the FDA's ability to engage in routine regulatory and oversight activities such as implementing statutes through rulemaking, issuance of guidance, and review and approval of marketing applications. If these executive actions impose constraints on FDA's ability to engage in oversight and implementation activities in the normal course, our business may be negatively impacted.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of offlabel uses.

If any of our product candidates are approved and we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses of those products, we may become subject to significant liability. The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products, if approved. In particular, while FDA permits the dissemination of truthful and non-misleading information about an approved product, a manufacturer may not promote a product for uses that are not approved by the FDA or such other regulatory agencies as reflected in the product's approved labeling. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability. The U.S. federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion of off-label use and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements or permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct must be changed or curtailed. If we cannot successfully manage the promotion of our product candidates, if approved, we could become subject to significant liability, which would materially adversely affect our business and financial

condition.

Even if any product candidates we develop receive marketing approval, they may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payors, and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

The commercial success of our product candidates will depend upon their degree of market acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payors, and others in the medical community. Even if any product candidates we may develop receive marketing approval, they may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by physicians, patients, healthcare payors, and others in the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of any product candidates we may develop, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

- the efficacy and safety of such product candidates as demonstrated in pivotal clinical trials and published in peer-reviewed journals;
- the potential and perceived advantages compared to alternative treatments, including any similar generic treatments;
- the ability to offer these products for sale at competitive prices;
- the ability to offer appropriate patient access programs, such as co-pay assistance;
- convenience and ease of dosing and administration compared to alternative treatments;
- the clinical indications for which the product candidate is approved by FDA or comparable regulatory agencies;
- product labeling or product insert requirements of the FDA or other comparable regulatory authorities, including any limitations, contraindications or warnings contained in a product's approved labeling;
- restrictions on how the product is distributed;
- the timing of market introduction of competitive products;
- publicity concerning these products or competing products and treatments;
- the strength of marketing and distribution support;
- favorable third-party coverage and sufficient reimbursement; and
- the prevalence and severity of any side effects or AEs.

Sales of medical products also depend on the willingness of physicians to prescribe the treatment, which is likely to be based on a determination by these physicians that the products are safe, therapeutically effective and cost effective. In addition, the inclusion or exclusion of products from treatment guidelines established by various physician groups and the viewpoints of influential physicians can affect the willingness of other physicians to prescribe the treatment. We cannot predict whether physicians, physicians' organizations, hospitals, other healthcare providers, government agencies or private insurers will determine that our product is safe, therapeutically effective and cost effective as compared with competing treatments. If any product candidates we develop do not achieve an adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenue, and we may not become profitable.

If, in the future, we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third

parties to sell and market any product candidates we may develop, we may not be successful in commercializing those product candidates if and when they are approved.

We do not have a sales or marketing infrastructure and have little experience in the sale, marketing, or distribution of pharmaceutical products. To achieve commercial success for any approved product for which we retain sales and marketing responsibilities, we must either develop a sales and marketing organization or outsource these functions to third parties. In the future, we may choose to build a focused sales, marketing, and commercial support infrastructure to market and sell our product candidates, if and when they are approved. We may also elect to enter into collaborations or strategic partnerships with third parties to engage in commercialization activities with respect to selected product candidates, indications or geographic territories, including territories outside the United States, although there is no guarantee we will be able to enter into these arrangements even if the intent is to do so.

There are risks involved with both establishing our own commercial capabilities and entering into arrangements with third parties to perform these services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force or reimbursement specialists is expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing and other commercialization capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition commercialization personnel.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize any approved product on our own include:

- the inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales, marketing, reimbursement, customer service, medical affairs, and other support personnel;
- the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to prescribe any future approved products;
- the inability of reimbursement professionals to negotiate arrangements for formulary access, reimbursement, and other acceptance by payors;
- the inability to price products at a sufficient price point to ensure an adequate and attractive level of profitability;
- restricted or closed distribution channels that make it difficult to distribute our products to segments of the patient population;
- the lack of complementary products to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with more extensive product lines; and
- unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent commercialization organization.

If we enter into arrangements with third parties to perform sales, marketing, commercial support, and distribution services, our product revenue or the profitability of product revenue may be lower than if we were to market and sell any products we may develop internally. In addition, we may not be successful in entering into arrangements with third parties to commercialize our product candidates or may be unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us or them. We may have little control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our products effectively or may expose us to legal and regulatory risk by not adhering to regulatory requirements and restrictions governing the sale and promotion of prescription drug products, including those restricting off-label promotion. If we do not establish commercialization capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our product candidates, if approved.

The insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly-approved products is uncertain. Our product candidates may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party coverage and reimbursement practices, or healthcare reform initiatives, which would harm our business. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for new or current products could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

The regulations that govern marketing approvals, pricing, coverage, and reimbursement for new drugs vary widely from country to country. In the United States, recently enacted legislation may significantly change the approval requirements in ways that could involve additional costs and cause delays in obtaining approvals. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing or product licensing approval is granted. In some non-U.S. markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenue we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more product candidates, even if any product candidates we may develop obtain marketing approval.

Our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates also will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers, and other organizations. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. The availability of coverage and extent of reimbursement by governmental and private payors is essential for most patients to be able to afford treatments such as gene therapy products. Sales of these or other product candidates that we may identify will depend substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates will be paid by health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit and similar healthcare management organizations, or reimbursed by government health administration authorities, private health coverage insurers and other third-party payors. If coverage and adequate reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain pricing sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our investment.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. In many countries, the prices of medical products are subject to varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. In general, the prices of medicines under such systems are substantially lower than in the United States. Other countries allow companies to fix their own prices for medicines, but monitor and control corporation profits. Additional price controls or other changes in pricing regulation could restrict the amount that we are able to charge for our product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the reimbursement for products may be reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate commercially reasonable revenues and profits.

There is also significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the medicine is approved by the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities. In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS"), an agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. CMS decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree. No uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for products exists among third-party payors and coverage and reimbursement levels for products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time consuming and costly process that may require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be applied consistently or obtained in the first instance. It is difficult to predict what CMS will

decide with respect to reimbursement for fundamentally novel products such as ours, as there is no body of established practices and precedents for these new products. Reimbursement agencies in Europe may be more conservative than CMS. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any drug will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale, and distribution. Interim reimbursement levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the use of the drug and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs and may be incorporated into existing payments for other services. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable payment rates from both government-funded and private payors for any approved products we may develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize product candidates, and our overall financial condition.

Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable reimbursement rates from third-party payors for any approved products that we develop could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition.

Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for any product candidate that we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. In order to obtain reimbursement, physicians may need to show that patients have superior treatment outcomes with our products compared to standard of care drugs, including lower-priced generic versions of standard of care drugs. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product candidates, due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products.

Additionally, we may develop companion diagnostic tests for use with our product candidates. We, or our collaborators, may be required to obtain coverage and reimbursement for these tests separate and apart from the coverage and reimbursement we seek for our product candidates, once approved. Even if we obtain regulatory approval or clearance for such companion diagnostics, there is significant uncertainty regarding our ability to obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement for the same reasons applicable to our product candidates. Medicare reimbursement methodologies, whether under Part A, Part B, or clinical laboratory fee schedule may be amended from time to time, and we cannot predict what effect any change to these methodologies would have on any product candidate or companion diagnostic for which we receive approval. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and adequate reimbursement from both third-party payors for the companion diagnostic tests that we develop and for which we obtain regulatory approval could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Healthcare legislative measures aimed at reducing healthcare costs may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The United States and many other jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislative and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates or any future product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product for which we obtain marketing approval. Changes in regulations, statutes or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact our business in the future by requiring, for example: (i) changes to our manufacturing arrangements; (ii) additions or modifications to product labeling; (iii) the recall or discontinuation of our products; or (iv) additional record-keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the operation of our business.

There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals in other jurisdictions as well as at the U.S. federal and state levels directed at containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our product. Such reforms could have an adverse effect on anticipated revenue from product candidates that we may successfully develop and for which we may obtain regulatory approval and may affect our overall financial condition and ability to develop product candidates. We cannot predict the initiatives that may be adopted in the future. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or reduce costs of healthcare and/or impose price controls may adversely affect:

- the demand for our product candidates, if approved;
- our ability to receive or set a price that we believe is fair for our products;
- our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;
- the amount of taxes that we are required to pay; and
- the availability of capital.

We expect that the ACA, as well as other healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, more rigorous coverage criteria, lower reimbursement, and new payment methodologies. This could lower the price that we receive for any approved product. Any denial in coverage or reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government-funded programs may result in a similar denial or reduction in payments from private payors, which may prevent us from being able to generate sufficient revenue, attain profitability or commercialize our product candidates, if approved.

If we fail to comply with healthcare laws, we could face substantial penalties and our business, operations and financial conditions could be adversely affected.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors in the United States and elsewhere play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of pharmaceutical products. Arrangements with third-party payors and customers can expose pharmaceutical manufacturers to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, including, without limitation, the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the U.S. federal False Claims Act, which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which such companies sell, market and distribute pharmaceutical products. In particular, the promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business arrangements in the healthcare industry, are subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of ownership, pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain customer incentive programs and other business arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical trials.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of the statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors available, it is possible that some of our business activities, including compensation of physicians with stock or stock options, could, despite efforts to comply, be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. Additionally, FDA or other regulators may not agree that we have mitigated any risk of bias in our clinical trials due to payments or equity interests provided to investigators or institutions which could limit a regulator's acceptance of those clinical trial data in support of a marketing application. Moreover, efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental and enforcement authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of

significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, monetary fines, exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other U.S. federal healthcare programs, integrity and oversight agreements to resolve allegations of non-compliance, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. In addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product candidates outside the United States will also likely subject us to international equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other local laws.

Failure to comply with health and data protection laws and regulations could lead to government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties), private litigation, and/or adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business.

We and any potential collaborators may be subject to U.S. federal, state, and international data protection laws and regulations (i.e., laws and regulations that address privacy and data security). In the United States, numerous U.S. federal and state laws and regulations, including U.S. federal health information privacy laws, state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws, and U.S. federal and state consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the U.S. Federal Trade Commission Act), that govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and other personal information could apply to our operations or the operations of our collaborators. In addition, we may obtain health information from third parties (including research institutions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA, as amended by the U.S. Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be subject to civil, criminal, and administrative penalties if we knowingly obtain, use, or disclose individually identifiable health information maintained by a HIPAA- covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA.

Compliance with U.S. and international data protection laws and regulations could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions (which could include civil, criminal and administrative penalties), private litigation, and/or adverse publicity and could negatively affect our operating results and business. Moreover, clinical trial subjects, employees and other individuals about whom we or our potential collaborators obtain personal information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may limit our ability to collect, use and disclose the information. Claims that we have violated individuals' privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws, or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business.

We face significant competition in an environment of rapid technological and scientific change, and there is a possibility that our competitors may achieve regulatory approval before us or develop therapies that are safer, more advanced or more effective than ours, which may negatively impact our ability to successfully market or commercialize any product candidates we may develop and ultimately harm our financial condition.

The development and commercialization of new drug products is highly competitive. We may face competition with respect to any product candidates that we seek to develop or commercialize in the future from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies, and biotechnology companies worldwide. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies, and other public and private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection, and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing, and commercialization.

If any of these competitors or competitors for our other product candidates receive FDA approval before we do, our product candidates would not be the first treatment on the market, and our market share may be limited.

In addition to competition from other companies targeting our target indications, any products we may develop may also face competition from other types of therapies.

Many of our current or potential competitors, either alone or with their strategic partners, have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals, and marketing approved products than we do.

Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient, or are less expensive than any products that we may develop. Furthermore, currently approved products could be discovered to have application for treatment of our targeted disease indications or similar indications, which could give such products significant regulatory and market timing advantages over our product candidates. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours and may obtain orphan product exclusivity from the FDA for indications that we are targeting, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able to enter the market. Additionally, products or technologies developed by our competitors may render our potential product candidates uneconomical or obsolete and we may not be successful in marketing any product candidates we may develop against competitors.

In addition, we could face litigation or other proceedings with respect to the scope, ownership, validity and/or enforceability of our patents relating to our competitors' products and our competitors may allege that our products infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate their intellectual property. The availability of our competitors' products could limit the demand, and the price we are able to charge, for any products that we may develop and commercialize.

We expect to rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and some aspects of our research and preclinical testing, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials, research, or testing.

We currently rely and expect to continue to rely on third parties, such as CROs, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions, and clinical investigators, to conduct some aspects of research and preclinical testing and clinical trials. Any of these third parties may terminate their engagements with us or be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations. If any of our relationships with these third parties terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative third parties on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we need to enter into alternative arrangements, it would delay product development activities.

Our reliance on these third parties for research and development activities reduces control over these activities but does not relieve us of our responsibilities. For example, we remain responsible for ensuring that each of our respective clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial and applicable legal, regulatory, and scientific standards, and our reliance on third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. In addition, the FDA and comparable other regulatory authorities require compliance with GCPs for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible, reproducible and accurate and that the rights, integrity, and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCPs through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators, and trial sites. If we or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable GCP regulations, some or all of the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or comparable other regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional nonclinical or clinical trials or to enroll additional patients before approving our marketing applications. We cannot be certain that, upon inspection, such regulatory authorities will determine that any of our clinical trials complies with the GCP regulations. For any violations of laws and regulations during the conduct of clinical trials, we could be subject to untitled and warning letters or enforcement action that may include civil penalties up to and including criminal prosecution. We also are required to register ongoing clinical trials and post the results of completed clinical trials on a governmentsponsored database within certain timeframes. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity, and civil and criminal sanctions.

If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or conduct clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for any product candidates we may develop and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our medicines. Our failure or the failure of these third parties to comply applicable regulatory requirements or our stated protocols could also subject us to enforcement action.

We also expect to rely on other third parties to store and distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Any performance failure on the part of our distributors could delay clinical development or marketing approval of any product candidates we may develop or commercialization of our medicines, producing additional losses and depriving us of potential product revenue.

The drug substance and drug product for certain of our product candidates are currently acquired from single-source suppliers. The loss of these suppliers, or their failure to supply us with the drug substance or drug product, could materially and adversely affect our business.

The drug substance and drug product for certain of our product candidates, are grown or manufactured by single-source suppliers or CMOs under development and manufacturing contracts and services and quality agreements and purchase orders. We do not currently have any other suppliers for the drug substance or drug product of these product candidates and, although we believe that there are alternate sources of supply that could satisfy our clinical and commercial requirements, we cannot assure you that identifying alternate sources and establishing relationships with such sources would not result in significant delay in the development of our product candidates.

Our dependence on single-source suppliers exposes us to certain risks, including the following:

- our suppliers may cease or reduce production or deliveries, raise prices or renegotiate terms;
- delays caused by supply issues may harm our reputation; and
- our ability to progress our business could be materially and adversely impacted if our single-source suppliers upon which we rely were to experience significant business challenges, disruption or failures due to issues such as financial difficulties or bankruptcy, issues relating to regulatory or quality compliance issues, or other legal or reputational issues.

Additionally, we may not be able to enter into supply arrangements with alternative suppliers on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. A delay in the development of our product candidates or having to enter into a new agreement with a different third party on less favorable terms than we have with our current suppliers could have a material adverse impact upon on our business.

If the contract manufacturing facilities on which we rely do not continue to meet regulatory requirements or are unable to meet our supply demands, our business will be harmed.

All entities involved in the preparation of product candidates for clinical trials or commercial sale, including our existing CMOs for all of our product candidates, are subject to extensive regulation. Components of a finished therapeutic product approved for commercial sale or used in late-stage clinical trials must be manufactured in accordance with GMP, or similar regulatory requirements outside the United States. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures, including recordkeeping, and the implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational products and products approved for sale. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of contaminants or to inadvertent changes in the properties or stability of our product candidates. Our failure, or the failure of third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines,

injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, suspension of production, seizures or recalls of product candidates or marketed drugs, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect clinical or commercial supplies of our product candidates.

We or our CMOs must supply all necessary documentation in support of an NDA, BLA or MAA on a timely basis and must adhere to regulations enforced by the FDA and other regulatory agencies through their facilities inspection program. Some of our CMOs have never produced a commercially approved pharmaceutical product and therefore have not obtained the requisite regulatory authority approvals to do so. The facilities and quality systems of some or all of our third-party contractors must pass a pre-approval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition of regulatory approval of our product candidates or any of our other potential products. In addition, the regulatory authorities may, at any time, audit or inspect a manufacturing facility involved with the preparation of our product candidates or our other potential products or the associated quality systems for compliance with the regulations applicable to the activities being conducted. Although we oversee the CMOs, we cannot control the manufacturing process of, and are completely dependent on, our CMO partners for compliance with the regulatory requirements. If these facilities do not pass a pre-approval plant inspection, regulatory approval of the products may not be granted or may be substantially delayed until any violations are corrected to the satisfaction of the regulatory authority, if ever.

The regulatory authorities also may, at any time following approval of a product for sale, audit the manufacturing facilities of our third-party contractors. If any such inspection or audit identifies a failure to comply with applicable regulations or if a violation of our product specifications or applicable regulations occurs independent of such an inspection or audit, we or the relevant regulatory authority may require remedial measures that may be costly and/or time consuming for us or a third party to implement, and that may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a clinical study or commercial sales or the temporary or permanent closure of a facility. Any such remedial measures imposed upon us or third parties with whom we contract could materially harm our business.

Additionally, if supply from one approved manufacturer is interrupted, an alternative manufacturer would need to be qualified through an NDA, BLA supplement or MAA variation, or equivalent other regulatory filing, which could result in further delay. The regulatory agencies may also require additional studies if a new manufacturer is relied upon for commercial production. Switching manufacturers may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in our desired clinical and commercial timelines.

These factors could cause us to incur higher costs and could cause the delay or termination of clinical trials, regulatory submissions, required approvals, or commercialization of our product candidates. Furthermore, if our suppliers fail to meet contractual requirements and we are unable to secure one or more replacement suppliers capable of production at a substantially equivalent cost, our clinical trials may be delayed or we could lose potential revenue.

The legalization and use of medical and recreational cannabis in the United States may impact our business.

There is a substantial amount of change occurring in the U.S. regarding the use of medical and recreational marijuana products. While federal laws prohibit the sale and distribution of most marijuana products not approved or authorized by the FDA, at least 30 jurisdictions and the District of Columbia have enacted state laws to enable possession and use of marijuana for medical purposes, and at least ten jurisdictions for recreational purposes. Under the U.S. Farm Bill, enacted in late 2018, certain extracts and other material derived from certain marijuana plants are now de-scheduled. Although the marketing of such products as a food, dietary supplement, or for medical purposes remains subject to FDA requirements and is not permitted, the FDA is currently evaluating regulatory pathways to permit CBD in conventional foods and dietary supplements and held a public meeting on the subject in May 2019. In addition, proposed legislation in Congress could result in broader legalization of marijuana products. Although the business of our BioSciences Division is distinct from that of unapproved marijuana and dietary supplement companies, future legislation or FDA action authorizing the sale, distribution, use, and insurance reimbursement of non-FDA approved marijuana products could affect our business.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our products, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize product candidates similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products may be impaired.

As is the case with other pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies, our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection of the intellectual property we may own solely and jointly with others, particularly patents, in the United States and other countries with respect to our product candidates and technology. We seek to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to micro-PEA or other product candidates that we may identify.

Obtaining and enforcing pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical patents is costly, time consuming and complex, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications, or maintain, enforce and license any patents that may issue from such patent applications, at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. We may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the rights to patents licensed to third parties. Therefore, these patents and applications may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal, technological and factual questions and has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. In addition, the laws of other countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, or vice versa. Further, we may not be aware of all third-party intellectual property rights potentially relating to our product candidates. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing or, in some cases, not at all. Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. Furthermore, the scope of a patent claim is determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and the patent's prosecution history and can involve other factors such as expert opinion. Our analysis of these issues, including interpreting the relevance or the scope of claims in a patent or a pending application, determining applicability of such claims to our proprietary technologies or product candidates, predicting whether a third party's pending patent application will issue with claims of relevant scope, and determining the expiration date of any patent in the United States or abroad that we consider relevant may be incorrect, which may negatively impact our ability to develop and market our product candidates. We do not always conduct independent reviews of pending patent applications of and patents issued to third parties. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued that protect our product candidates, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive product candidates. Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative product candidates in a non-infringing manner.

Our ability to enforce patent rights also depends on our ability to detect infringement. It may be difficult to detect infringers who do not advertise the components or methods that are used in connection with their products and services. Moreover, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain evidence of infringement in a competitor's or potential competitor's product or service. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded if we were to prevail may not be commercially meaningful. If we initiate lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents, or litigate against third-party claims, such proceedings would be expensive and would divert the attention of our management and technical personnel. Such proceedings could also provoke third parties to assert claims against us, including that some or all of the claims in one or more of our patents are invalid or otherwise unenforceable.

Moreover, we may be subject to a third-party pre-issuance submission of prior art to the USPTO, or become involved in opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter partes review, post-grant review or interference proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize our product candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize drugs without infringing third- party patent rights. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates.

In addition, the issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity or enforceability, and our patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Such challenges may result in loss of exclusivity or freedom to operate or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical product candidates to ours, or limit the duration of the patent protection of our product candidates. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing drugs similar or identical to ours.

Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement may prevent or delay our development and commercialization efforts.

Our commercial success depends in part on our avoiding infringement of the patents and proprietary rights of third parties. However, our research, development and commercialization activities may be subject to claims that we infringe or otherwise violate patents or other intellectual property rights owned or controlled by third parties. There is a substantial amount of litigation, both within and outside the United States, involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, including patent infringement lawsuits, interferences, oppositions and inter partes re-examination proceedings before the USPTO, and corresponding patent offices in other countries. Numerous U.S. and international issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we are pursuing development candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our products may be subject to claims of infringement of the patent rights of third parties.

Other third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. There may be other third-party patents or patent applications with claims to materials, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods for treatment related to the use or manufacture of micro-PEA. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications which may later result in issued patents that micro-PEA or other product candidates that we may identify may infringe. In addition, third parties may obtain patents in the future and claim that use of our technologies infringes upon these patents. If any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover the manufacturing process of micro-PEA or other product candidates that we may identify, any molecules formed during the manufacturing process or any final product itself, the holders of any such patents may be able to block our ability to commercialize such product candidate unless we obtained a license under the applicable patents, or until such patents expire.

Similarly, if any third-party patents were held by a court of competent jurisdiction to cover aspects of our formulations, processes for manufacture or methods of use, including combination therapy, the holders of any such patents may be able to block our ability to develop and commercialize the applicable product candidate unless we obtained a license or until such patent expires. In either case, such a license may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or it may be non-exclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property.

Parties making claims against us may obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could effectively block our

ability to further develop and commercialize micro-PEA or other product candidates that we may identify. Defense of these claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of employee resources from our business. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys' fees for willful infringement, pay royalties, redesign our infringing products or obtain one or more licenses from third parties, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure.

Parties making claims against us, may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation or administrative proceedings, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have material adverse effect on ability to raise additional funds or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on product candidates for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years from its earliest U.S. non-provisional or international patent application filing date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the patent life has expired, we may be open to competition from competitive products, including generics or biosimilars. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

If we are not able to obtain patent term extension or non-patent exclusivity in the United States under the Hatch-Waxman Act and in other countries under similar legislation, thereby potentially extending the marketing exclusivity term of our product candidates, our business may be materially harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA marketing approval of our product candidates, one of the U.S. patents covering each of such product candidates or the use thereof may be eligible for up to five years of patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act allows a maximum of one patent to be extended per FDA approved product as compensation for the patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval and only those claims covering such approved drug product, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. Patent term extension also may be available in certain other countries upon regulatory approval of our product candidates. Nevertheless, we may not be granted patent term extension either in the United States or in any other country because of, for example, failing to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the term of extension, as well as the scope of patent protection during any such extension, afforded by the governmental authority could be less than we request.

If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or restoration, or the term of any such extension is less than we request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product may be shortened and our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following our patent expiration sooner, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially.

It is possible that we will not obtain patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act for a U.S. patent covering a product candidate even where that patent is eligible for patent term extension, or if we obtain such an extension, it may be for a shorter period than we had sought. Further, for certain of our licensed patents, we do not have the

right to control prosecution, including filing with the USPTO, a petition for patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act. Thus, if one of our licensed patents is eligible for patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act, we may not be able to control whether a petition to obtain a patent term extension is filed, or obtained, from the USPTO.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our technology could be materially adversely affected and our business would be harmed.

We seek to protect our confidential proprietary information, in part, by confidentiality agreements and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, scientific advisors, contractors and collaborators. These agreements are designed to protect our proprietary information. However, we cannot be certain that such agreements have been entered into with all relevant parties, and we cannot be certain that our trade secrets and other confidential proprietary information will not be disclosed or that competitors will not otherwise gain access to our trade secrets or independently develop substantially equivalent information and techniques. For example, any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose proprietary information, including trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. We also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our confidential proprietary information by maintaining physical security of our premises and physical and electronic security of our information technology systems, but it is possible that these security measures could be breached. If any of our confidential proprietary information were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent such competitor from using that technology or information to compete with us, which could harm our competitive position.

Unauthorized parties may also attempt to copy or reverse engineer certain aspects of our products that we consider proprietary. We may not be able to obtain adequate remedies in the event of such unauthorized use. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret can be difficult, expensive and timeconsuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. Trade secrets will also over time be disseminated within the industry through independent development, the publication of journal articles and the movement of personnel skilled in the art from corporation to corporation or academic to industry scientific positions. Though our agreements with third parties typically restrict the ability of our advisors, employees, collaborators, licensors, suppliers, third-party contractors and consultants to publish data potentially relating to our trade secrets, our agreements may contain certain limited publication rights. In addition, if any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent such competitor from using that technology or information to compete with us, which could harm our competitive position. Despite employing the contractual and other security precautions described above, the need to share trade secrets increases the risk that such trade secrets become known by our competitors, are inadvertently incorporated into the technology of others, or are disclosed or used in violation of these agreements. If any of these events occurs or if we otherwise lose protection for our trade secrets, the value of this information may be greatly reduced and our competitive position, business, results of operations, financial conditions, and prospects would be harmed.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be adversely affected.

Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or determined to be infringing on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name recognition among potential collaborators or customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement claims brought by owners of other trademarks or trademarks that incorporate variations of our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected. We may license our trademarks and trade names to third parties, such as distributors. Though these license agreements may provide guidelines for how our trademarks and trade names may be used, a breach of these agreements or misuse of our trademarks and

tradenames by our licensees may jeopardize our rights in or diminish the goodwill associated with our trademarks and trade names. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade names, trade secrets, domain names, copyrights or other intellectual property may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could adversely affect our competitive position, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

We may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of our patents and other intellectual property.

Our agreements with employees and our personnel policies provide that any inventions conceived by an individual in the course of rendering services to us shall be our exclusive property. Although our policy is to have all such individuals complete these agreements, we may not obtain these agreements in all circumstances, and individuals with whom we have these agreements may not comply with their terms. The assignment of intellectual property may not be automatic upon the creation of an invention and despite such agreement, such inventions may become assigned to third parties. In the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets or proprietary information, these agreements, even if obtained, may not provide meaningful protection, particularly for our trade secrets or other confidential information.

We or our licensors may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in our owned or licensed patents, trade secrets, or other intellectual property as an inventor or co- inventor. For example, we or our licensors may have inventorship disputes arise from conflicting obligations of employees, consultants or others who are involved in developing our product candidates. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other claims challenging inventorship or our or our licensors' ownership of our owned or licensed patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property. If we or our licensors fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, intellectual property that is important to our product candidates. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees.

Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Issued patents covering our product candidates could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court.

If we or one of our licensing partners initiated legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering one or more of our product candidates, the defendant could counterclaim that the patent covering the relevant product candidate is invalid and/or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity and/or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including novelty, non-obviousness, written description or enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may also raise similar claims before administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post grant review, and equivalent proceedings in other jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in revocation or amendment to our patents in such a way that they no longer cover our product candidates. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity and/or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on our product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impact on our business.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties or that our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry, we employ individuals who were previously employed at universities or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants and independent contractors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any of our employee's former employer or other third parties. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel, which could adversely impact our business. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws of some other countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and may also export infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the U.S. These products may compete with our products and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in other jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology and pharmaceutical products, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in other jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The future payment of dividends will be dependent upon the financial requirements of the Corporation to fund further growth, the financial condition of the Corporation and other factors which the Board may consider in the circumstances. It is not contemplated that any dividends will be paid in the immediate or foreseeable future, if at all.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Corporation's authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A Shares and an unlimited number of Class B Shares. As of the date of this AIF, there were 72 Class A Shares issued and outstanding and 8,158,678 Class B Shares issued and outstanding. As of the date of this AIF, the Class B Shares represented approximately 29% of the voting rights attached to outstanding voting securities of the Corporation. The following is a summary of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Class B Shares.

Voting Rights

Except as otherwise prescribed by the OBCA, at a meeting of the Shareholders, each Class B Share entitles the holder thereof to one vote and each Class A Share entitles the holder thereof to 276,660 votes on all matters.

Rank

The Class A Shares and Class B Shares rank pari passu with respect to the payment of dividends, return of capital and distribution of assets in the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation. In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation or any other distribution of its assets among its shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, the holders of Class A Shares and the holders of Class B Shares are entitled to participate equally, share for share, subject always to the rights of the holders of any class of shares ranking senior to the Class A Shares and the Class B Shares, in the remaining property and assets of the Corporation available for distribution to shareholders, without preference or distinction among or between the Class A Shares and the Class B Shares.

Dividends

Holders of Class A Shares and Class B Shares are entitled to receive, subject always to the rights of the holders of any class of shares ranking senior to the Class A Shares and Class B Shares, dividends out of the assets of the Corporation legally available for the payment of dividends at such times and in such amount and form as the Board may from time to time determine and the Corporation will pay dividends thereon on a pari passu basis, if, as and when declared by the Board.

Conversion

The Class B Shares are not convertible into any other class of shares. Each outstanding Class A Share may, at any time at the option of the holder, be converted into one Class B Share. Upon the first date that any Class A Share is held other than by a permitted holder, the permitted holder which held such Class A Share until such date, without any further action, shall automatically be deemed to have exercised his, her or its rights to convert such Class A Share into a fully paid and non-assessable Class B Share.

Subdivision or Consolidation

No subdivision or consolidation of the Class A Shares or the Class B Shares may be carried out unless, at the same time, the Class A Shares or the Class B Shares, as the case may be, are subdivided or consolidated in the same manner and on the same basis.

On October 16, 2019, the Corporation completed the Consolidation of all of its issued and outstanding Class A Shares and Class B Shares. Pursuant to the Consolidation of all of the issued and outstanding Class A Shares and Class B Shares on the basis of one post-Consolidation share for every 201 pre-Consolidation shares of each class.

Change of Control Transactions

The holders of Class B Shares are entitled to participate on an equal basis with holders of Class A Shares in the event of a "Change of Control Transaction" requiring approval of the holders of Class A Shares and Class B Shares under the OBCA, unless different treatment of the shares of each such class is approved by a majority of the votes cast by the holders of outstanding Class A Shares and by a majority of the votes cast by the holders of outstanding Class B Shares each voting separately as a class.

Proposals to Amend the Articles of Amendment

Neither the holders of the Class A Shares nor the holders of the Class B Shares are entitled to vote separately as a class upon a proposal to amend the Articles of Amendment in the case of an amendment referred to in paragraph (a) or (e) of subsection 170(1) of the OBCA.

Neither the holders of the Class A Shares nor the holders of the Class B Shares shall be entitled to vote separately as a class upon a proposal to amend the Articles of Amendment in the case of an amendment referred to in paragraph (b) of subsection 170(1) of the OBCA unless such exchange, reclassification or cancellation: (a) affects only the holders of that class; or (b) affects the holders of Class A Shares and Class B Shares differently, on a per share basis, and such holders are not otherwise entitled to vote separately as a class under any applicable law in respect of such exchange, reclassification or cancellation.

Take-Over Bid Protection

Under applicable Canadian law, an offer to purchase Class A Shares would not necessarily require that an offer be made to purchase Class B Shares. In accordance with the rules of the CSE designed to ensure that, in the event of a take-over bid, the holders of Class B Shares will be entitled to participate on an equal footing with holders of Class A Shares, the holders of not less than 80% of the outstanding Class A Shares have entered into a customary coattail agreement with the Corporation and a trustee (the "Coattail Agreement"). The Coattail Agreement contains provisions customary for dual class, publicly-traded corporations designed to prevent transactions that otherwise would deprive the holders of Class B Shares of rights under the take-over bid provisions of applicable Canadian securities legislation to which they would have been entitled if the Class A Shares had been Class B Shares.

The undertakings in the Coattail Agreement do not apply to prevent a sale of Class A Shares by a holder of Class A Shares party to the Coattail Agreement if concurrently an offer is made to purchase Class B Shares that:

- (a) offers a price per Class B Share at least as high as the highest price per share paid or required to be paid pursuant to the take-over bid for the Class A Shares;
- (b) provides that the percentage of outstanding Class B Shares to be taken up (exclusive of shares owned immediately prior to the offer by the offeror or persons acting jointly or in concert with the offeror) is at least as high as the percentage of outstanding Class A Shares to be sold (exclusive of Class A Shares owned immediately prior to the offer by the offeror and persons acting jointly or in concert with the offeror);
- (c) has no condition attached other than the right not to take up and pay for Class B Shares tendered if no shares are purchased pursuant to the offer for Class A Shares; and
- (d) is in all other material respects identical to the offer for Class A Shares.

In addition, the Coattail Agreement does not prevent the sale of Class A Shares by a holder thereof to a permitted holder, provided such sale does not or would not constitute a take-over bid or, if so, is exempt or would be exempt from the formal bid requirements (as defined in applicable securities legislation). The conversion of Class A Shares into Class B Shares, shall not, in of itself constitute a sale of Class A Shares for the purposes of the Coattail Agreement.

Under the Coattail Agreement, any sale of Class A Shares (including a transfer to a pledgee as security) by a holder of Class A Shares party to the Coattail Agreement is conditional upon the transferee or pledgee becoming a party to the Coattail Agreement, to the extent such transferred Class A Shares are not automatically converted into Class B Shares in accordance with the Articles of Amendment.

The Coattail Agreement contains provisions for authorizing action by the trustee to enforce the rights under the Coattail Agreement on behalf of the holders of the Class B Shares. The obligation of the trustee to take such action

will be conditional on the Corporation or holders of the Class B Shares providing such funds and indemnity as the trustee may require. No holder of Class B Shares has the right, other than through the trustee, to institute any action or proceeding or to exercise any other remedy to enforce any rights arising under the Coattail Agreement unless the trustee fails to act on a request authorized by holders of not less than 10% of the outstanding Class B Shares and reasonable funds and indemnity have been provided to the trustee.

The Coattail Agreement may not be amended, and no provision thereof may be waived, unless, prior to giving effect to such amendment or waiver, the following have been obtained: (a) the consent of the CSE and any other applicable securities regulatory authority in Canada and (b) the approval of at least 66^{2/3}% of the votes cast by holders of Class B Shares represented at a meeting duly called for the purpose of considering such amendment or waiver, excluding votes attached to Class B Shares held directly or indirectly by holders of Class A Shares, their affiliates and related parties and any persons who have an agreement to purchase Class A Shares on terms which would constitute a sale for purposes of the Coattail Agreement other than as permitted thereby.

No provision of the Coattail Agreement limits the rights of any holders of Class B Shares under applicable law.

At the annual and special meeting of Shareholders of the Corporation held December 16, 2019, the Shareholders approved an amendment to the Corporation's articles of incorporation (the "Articles") to authorize certain transfers of Class A Shares. The Shareholders approved an amendment to permit the holders of Class A Shares to complete transfers of Class A Shares to a director, executive officer or Founder of the Corporation, such that a Founder who is no longer actively involved in the business and affairs of the Corporation could transfer that Founder's Class A Shares to those individuals who remain active.

MARKETS FOR SECURITIES

Trading Price and Volume

The Class B Shares commenced trading on the CSE on May 29, 2018 under the symbol "HUGE". Prior to the CSE listing, there was no public trading in any securities of the Corporation. The following table sets out the high and low prices and aggregate volume of the Class B Shares traded through the CSE on a monthly basis for the most recent financial year ended December 31, 2019.

<u>Month</u>	<u>High</u>	<u>Low</u>	Volume Traded
December 2019	\$8.00	\$5.11	3,071
November 2019	\$8.15	\$5.50	2,490
October 2019	\$9.25	\$9.045	290,049
September 2019	\$21.105	\$18.09	154,348
August 2019	\$25.125	\$18.09	206,158
July 2019	\$34.17	\$22.11	224,346
June 2019	\$41.21	\$27.14	328,895
May 2019	\$52.26	\$39.20	258,881
April 2019	\$63.32	\$44.22	613,246
March 2019	\$56.28	\$38.19	900,616
February 2019	\$72.36	\$51.26	768,763
January 2019	\$89.45	\$56.28	1,260,683

All figures provided in the table above are presented on a post-Consolidation basis. Trading data prior to October 16, 2019 has been adjusted to show the post-Consolidation equivalent prices and trading volumes.

Our outstanding Class B Shares are also listed and posted for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the trading symbol "HUGE" and on the Börse Frankfurt or Frankfurt Stock Exchange under "WKN: A2JM6M" and the trading symbol "0K9A".

Prior Sales

The following table sets forth details regarding all issuances of securities by the Corporation, including all convertible securities, during the most recently completed financial year ended December 31, 2019. All figures are shown on a post-Consolidation basis.

		Number of	Exercise or Weighted Average Issue Price
Date of Issuance	Securities(3)	Securities(3)	per Security ⁽³⁾
December 20, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	187,500	\$7.63
December 6, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	1,250	\$7.63
November 7, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	15,000	\$7.63
November 4, 2019	Class B Shares ⁽²⁾	12,995	\$20.10
October 28, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	199,004	\$7.17
October 3, 2019	Class B Shares ⁽⁷⁾	61,893	\$23.54
September 30, 2019	Class B Shares ⁽²⁾	215,676 ⁽²⁾	\$20.10
September 27, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	286,066	\$20.10
September 11, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	199,044	\$20.10
August 29, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	12,437	\$21.11
July 31, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	9,950	\$24.12
July 31, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	95,767	\$50.25
June 28, 2019	Class B Shares ⁽⁴⁾	510,945	\$45.7275
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	15,811	\$5.43
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	18,405	\$16.08
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	36,030	\$2.61
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	3,730	\$10.65
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	10,853	\$13.07
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	894	\$13.47
June 28, 2019	Options ⁽⁴⁾	4,177	\$17.89
June 28, 2019	Warrants (4)	16,786	\$2.61
June 28, 2019	Warrants (4)	26,858	\$5.43
June 28, 2019	Warrants (4)	7,311	\$16.08
June 28, 2019	Warrants (4)	3,357	\$13.07
June 28, 2019	Warrants (4)	13,284	\$26.73
June 13, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	497	\$47.24
June 12, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	29,850	\$40.20
May 29, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	2,487	\$44.22
May 29, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	125,620	\$50.25
May 14, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	497	\$47.24
May 7, 2019	Class B Shares ⁽⁵⁾	49,751	\$60.30
April 16, 2019	Class B Shares ⁽⁶⁾	65,577	\$45.7476
April 14, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	497	\$47.24
April 12, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	5,472	\$50.25
March 15, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	497	\$52.26
February 13, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	497	\$55.28
January 14, 2019	Options ⁽¹⁾	497	\$75.38

Notes:

- (1) Represents the issuance of Stock Options issued to a director, officer, employee, or consultant of the Corporation (or any of its subsidiaries) under the Stock Option Plan.
- (2) Represents the issuance of Class B Shares issued pursuant to the first tranche of the non-brokered private placement completed September 30, 2019.
- (3) On October 16, 2019, the Corporation amended its Articles to effect the Consolidation of its issued and outstanding share capital. Each issued and outstanding share was consolidated on the basis of one post-Consolidation Class B Share for each 201 pre-Consolidation Class B Shares. Options to acquire Class B Shares were consolidated on the same basis. Figures shown in the table above have been adjusted to reflect the Consolidation, and are presented on a post-Consolidation basis.
- (4) Represent securities of the Corporation issued to the former shareholders of Prismic pursuant to the Prismic Exchange Agreement.
- (5) Represents the Class B Shares issued to Solarvest pursuant to the Solarvest Agreement.
- (6) Represents the Class B Shares issued to Aura (Pharmadrug) pursuant to the Aura Exchange Agreement.
- (7) Represents Class B Shares issued to Aura (Pharmadrug) pursuant to the make-whole provision under the Aura Exchange Agreement.

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

As required under the policies of the CSE, principals of the Corporation entered into an escrow agreement in connection with the Business Combination as if the Corporation was subject to the requirements of NP 46-201. The escrowed securities were released in accordance with scheduled periods specified in NP 46-201 for emerging issuers, that is, 10% was released upon listing followed by six subsequent releases of 15% each every six months thereafter. The final release of securities subject to this escrow in connection with the Business Combination was November 28, 2019.

In accordance with the terms of the Prismic Exchange Agreement, all of the outstanding Prismic shares, stock options and warrants were exchanged for equivalent securities of the Corporation. All such securities issued by the Corporation to former Prismic securityholders are subject to an 18 month staggered release from escrow. The table below shows the securities issued to former Prismic securityholders which were subject to contractual restrictions on transfer, shown as at December 31, 2019.

Designation of class held in escrow	Number of securities held in escrow	Percentage of class
Class B Shares	204,375	2.50%
Stock Options	32,722	2.26%
Warrants	27,040	5.95%

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Name, Occupation and Security Holding

The following table sets out certain information regarding the directors and executive officers of the Corporation as at the date of this AIF. Each of the directors is elected to hold office until the next annual meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation or until a successor is duly elected or appointed. All figures are shown on a post-Consolidation basis.

Name, Position and Province of Residence	Principal Occupation During Last Five Years	Date Became Director or Executive Officer	Class A Shares Owned or Controlled ⁽¹⁾	Class B Shares Owned or Controlled ⁽¹⁾
Dr. Raza Bokhari, Executive Co- Chairman and Director ⁽¹⁶⁾ Pennsylvania, United States	Managing Partner, RBx Capital LP; Chairman and CEO, Parkway Clinical Laboratories Inc.	July 17, 2018	Nil ⁽²¹⁾	217,068 ⁽⁷⁾
Dr. Edward Brennan, President, BioSciences Division Ontario, Canada	Medical Director, Wyeth-Ayerst Research and GlaxoSmithKline; Founder, IndiPharm	May 28, 2019	Nil	6,567 ⁽²³⁾
Stephen Buyer, Director ⁽¹²⁾⁽¹³⁾ Indiana, United States	Managing Partner, 10-Square Solution, LLC; former Congressman, United States House of Representatives	October 11, 2019	Nil	23,312 ⁽¹⁷⁾
Donal Caroll, Chief Financial Officer, Former Director Ontario, Canada	Interim Chief Financial Officer, FSD Pharma; Directors and Audit Committee Chairman, World Class Extractions	July 23, 2018	Nil	4,777 ⁽¹⁹⁾

Name, Position and Province of Residence	Principal Occupation During Last Five Years	Date Became Director or Executive Officer	Class A Shares Owned or Controlled ⁽¹⁾	Class B Shares Owned or Controlled ⁽¹⁾
Robert J. Ciaruffoli, Director ⁽¹⁰⁾⁽¹³⁾⁽¹⁶⁾ Pennsylvania, United States	Co-Founder and Vice-Chairman, Broad Street Angels; Former Chairman and CEO, Parente Beard/Baker Tilly	June 12, 2019	Nil	13,462
James A. Datin, Director ⁽⁹⁾⁽¹¹⁾⁽¹⁴⁾ North Carolina, United States	President & Chief Executive Officer, BioAgilytix	June 12, 2019	Nil	6,895
Anthony Durkacz, Executive-Co Chairman and Director ⁽⁴⁾ Ontario, Canada	Director and Executive Vice- President, First Republic Capital Corporation; Director and CFO, Snipp Interactive Inc.	June 18, 2018	24 ⁽²⁾⁽²¹⁾	288,898 ⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾
Zachary Dutton, CEO, Prismic Massachusetts, United States	Co-Founder and CEO, Prismic	June 28, 2019	Nil	164,412 ⁽²⁰⁾
Gerald Goldberg, Director ⁽¹⁵⁾ Ontario, Canada	Executive Chairman, Osoyoos Cannabis Inc.; Interim CEO, Canada House Wellness Group Inc.; CEO and President, Leo Acquisitions Corp.; Senior Partner, Schwartz, Levitsky, Feldman LLP; President, Victory Capital Corp.	May 24, 2018	Nil	4,975
Dr. Larry Kaiser, Director Pennsylvania, United States	Managing Director, Healthcare Industry Group, Alvarez and Marsal; formerly President and CEO, Temple University Health System; formerly Dean, Lewis Katz School of Medicine, Temple University; Senior Executive Vice President, Health Science, Temple University	January 22, 2020	Nil	Nil ⁽¹⁸⁾
Dr. Sara May, President, FV Pharma Ontario, Canada	President, FV Pharma; formerly Quality Assurance, FV Pharma; formerly Ecologist and GIS Manager, Beacon Environmental	March 13, 2019	Nil	1,869
Zeeshan Saeed, President and Director Ontario, Canada	Director and Executive Vice- President, FV Pharma; CEO, Platinum Telecommunications Inc.	May 24, 2018	24 ⁽⁵⁾⁽²¹⁾	317,543 ⁽⁶⁾
David Urban, Director ⁽⁹⁾⁽¹¹⁾ District of Columbia, United States	President, American Continental Group	November 12, 2018	Nil	6,895(8)

Notes:

- (1) The information as to the number of Class A Shares and/or Class B Shares beneficially owned or over which control or direction is exercised has been furnished by the respective nominee and has not been independently verified by the Corporation.
- (2) Fortius Research and Trading Corp., a corporation controlled by Anthony Durkacz, is the registered owner of the Class A Shares.
- (3) Fortius Research and Trading Corp., a corporation controlled by Anthony Durkacz, is the registered owner of 106,043 Class B Shares and First Republic Capital Corporation, a corporation majority owned by Anthony Durkacz, is the registered owner of 170,418 Class B Shares.
- (4) Anthony Durkacz also holds 199,004 warrants, and is the beneficial owner of 107,962 warrants registered to First Republic.
- (5) Xorax Family Trust, a trust of which Zeeshan Saeed is a beneficiary, is the registered owner of the Class A Shares.
- (6) Mr. Saeed also holds 99,502 Stock Options.
- (7) Mr. Bokhari also holds 199,004 Stock Options.
- (8) Mr. Urban holds 25,000 Stock Options.
- (9) Member of Audit Committee.
- (10) Chairman of the Audit Committee.
- (11) Member of the Governance Committee.

- (12) Chairman of the Governance Committee.
- (13) Member of the Compensation Committee.
- (14) Chairman of the Compensation Committee.
- (15) Member of the Disclosure Committee.
- (16) Chairman of the Disclosure Committee.
- (17) Mr. Buyer also holds 15,000 Stock Options.
- (18) Dr. Kaiser also holds 15,000 Stock Options.
- (19) Mr. Carroll also holds 50,000 Stock Options.
- (20) Jacqueline Dutton, a trustee of the Dutton Family Trust, also holds 13,986 Class B Shares for the Dutton Family Trust.
- (21) In connection with his departure from the Corporation, Thomas Fairfull, co-founder and former director and executive officer, entered into an agreement to transfer his 24 Class A Shares ratably to Anthony Durkacz and Zeeshan Saeed. That transfer is expected to be completed before March 31, 2020. Pending formalization of such transfer, Messrs. Durkacz and Saeed control the voting rights relating to such Class A Shares. Immediately upon completion of the transfer of Mr. Fairfull's Class A shareholdings, Mr. Durkacz and Mr. Saeed have committed to transferring such Class A Shares to Dr. Bokhari, such that each of Mr. Durkacz, Mr. Saeed and Dr. Bokhari will own 24 Class A Shares (or 1/3 of the total class). These transfers are also expected to be completed by March 31, 2020.

Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, Penalties or Sanctions

Corporate Cease Trade Orders

To the best of management's knowledge, other than set out below, no director or executive officer of the Corporation is, or within the ten years before the date of this AIF has been, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any Corporation that:

- (a) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order, or an order that denied the relevant corporation access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or
- (b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease trade order, or an order that denied the relevant corporation access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

Gerry Goldberg was the Interim Chief Executive Officer of Canada House when a MCTO was issued by the Ontario Securities Commission on September 13, 2017. The MCTO was issued in respect of Canada House's failure to file its audited financial statements and management discussion and analysis for the year ended April 30, 2017 before the August 28, 2017 filing deadline. The MCTO was lifted effective November 22, 2017.

Bankruptcies

To the best of management's knowledge, no director or executive officer of the Corporation has: (i) within ten years before the date of this AIF, been a director or officer of any corporation that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or (ii) within ten years before the date of this AIF, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or executive officer.

Penalties and Sanctions

To the best of management's knowledge, no director or executive officer of the Corporation has been subject to: (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with any securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable security holder in deciding whether to vote for a director or executive officer.

Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Corporation also holding positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be directors and officers of the Corporation have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and officers of the Corporation will be in direct competition with the Corporation. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies provided under the OBCA.

PROMOTERS

There are currently no individuals who would be considered promoters of the Corporation.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS

Auxly Agreement

The Corporation is currently the defendant in a proposed class action lawsuit issued at the Ontario Superior Court of Justice in Toronto on February 22, 2019. The plaintiff shareholder alleges that the Corporation misrepresented information with respect to the progress of the build-out of the first phase the Facility by the Corporation and Auxly. The plaintiff further alleges that when the Corporation subsequently announced that the Auxly Agreement had been terminated, the price of the Class B Shares on the CSE decreased causing losses to her and the other shareholders of the Corporation. A motion to the court by the plaintiff has been scheduled for May 4, 2020, at which time the plaintiff will seek leave of the court to pursue the claim under the Securities Act (Ontario). If leave is granted, the plaintiff will then bring a further motion to the court for an order certifying the claim as a class action. As of the date of this AIF, no date has been set for the certification motion. See "Risk Factors – General Corporate Risks - Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. and Class Action".

Dismissed Supplier

A dismissed contractor commenced a lien action combined with a breach of contract action in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Coburg) in early 2019 claiming approximately \$1,700,000 in various purported damages, with a claim for lien component of \$188,309 which claim was registered November 26, 2018. We are defending the action and have taken steps to obtain particulars and inspect documents of the plaintiff which remain unaddressed to date. The Corporation has paid monies into court totalling \$235,387 to vacate the lien from title, which funds stand as security for the lien claim and its costs in Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Coburg) file no. CV-19-0002. As such, full provision for the lien claim and security for costs has been made; however, the 2019 breach of contract claim has not been provisioned as the Corporation intends to defend itself from this claim. See "Risk Factors – General Corporate Risks – Claims from suppliers".

Other than stated above, there are no material legal proceedings or regulatory actions that the Corporation is or was a party to, or that any of its property is or was the subject of, during the years ended December 31, 2019, and no such proceedings are known by the Corporation to be contemplated. From time to time, however, the Corporation may be subject to various claims and legal actions arising in the course of its business.

The Corporation is not aware of any settlement agreements, penalties or sanctions the Corporation has entered into before a court relating to securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority or that would be material to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this AIF, no: (a) director or executive officer of the Corporation; (b) person or Corporation who beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of any class or series of the Corporation's outstanding securities; or (c) any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing, has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three most recently completed financial years or

during the current financial year that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Corporation, other than an interest arising solely from the ownership of Shares where such person received no extra or special benefit or advantage not shared on a pro rata basis by all shareholders.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar of the Corporation is Computershare at its office located at 100 University Avenue, 8th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 2Y1.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than those listed below, elsewhere in this AIF, and those entered into in the ordinary course of the Corporation's business, there are no material contracts of the Corporation which were entered into in the most recently completed financial year or which were entered into before the most recently completed financial year but are still in effect as of the date of this AIF:

- (a) the Amalgamation Agreement;
- (b) the Escrow Agreement;
- (c) the Coattail Agreement;
- (d) the License; and
- (e) the Processing License.

AUDIT COMMITTEE INFORMATION

The Audit Committee is governed by an Audit Committee charter, a copy of which is attached as Schedule "A".

Composition of the Audit Committee

As of the date of this AIF, the following are the members of the Audit Committee:

Name	Independent	Financially Literate
Robert J. Ciaruffoli (Chair)	Yes	Yes
James A. Datin	Yes	Yes
David Urban	Yes	Yes

The Audit Committee's function include, but are not limited to: reviewing the integrity of the Corporation's financial statements, financial disclosures and internal controls over financial reporting; monitoring the Corporation's ongoing compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; selecting the external auditor for shareholder approval; and reviewing the qualifications, independence and performance of the external auditor. Information concerning the relevant education and experience of the Audit Committee members is set forth below.

Relevant Education and Experience

The Board believes that the composition of the Audit Committee reflects financial literacy and expertise. Currently, all members of the Audit Committee have been determined by the Board to be "independent" and "financially literate" as such terms are defined under National Instrument 52-110 – *Audit Committees*. The Board has made these determinations based on the education as well as breadth and depth of experience of each member of the Audit Committee.

All the members of the Audit Committee have the education and/or practical experience required to understand and evaluate financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the

Corporation's financial statements. The following is a brief summary of the education and experience of each member of the Committee that is relevant to the performance of his or her responsibilities as an Audit Committee member:

Robert Ciaruffoli (Chair)

Mr. Ciaruffoli is a co-founder and vice-chairman of Broad Street Angels, a 100 member Philadelphia based angel investor network which invests in start-up entrepreneurial businesses with high growth potential. Broad Street Angels is the largest angel investor network in the Philadelphia region.

Mr. Ciaruffoli holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Kings College, Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania. He holds the CPA designation and served as the Chairman and CEO of the Parente Beard/Baker Tilly accounting and advisory firm. During his tenure as Chairman and CEO, he and his team transitioned the firm from a Pennsylvania practice to a multi-state, super-regional firm. In 2014, he orchestrated a merger of the Parente Beard and Baker Tilly Virchow Krause firms to create the 12th largest U.S. accounting and advisory firm.

Mr. Ciaruffoli also served on the board of directors and executive committee of Baker Tilly International, the eighth largest global accounting network. During his tenure on the board and the executive committee, Baker Tilly International grew from an unranked network to the eighth largest global accounting network.

Throughout his career, Mr. Ciaruffoli has served on numerous for-profit and not-for-profit boards. Presently, he is the President of the board of directors of The Pennsylvania Society, a board member of Ben Franklin Technology Partners, a board member of eureQa – a SaaS cloud based automated platform for testing digital applications, and a member of the finance committee of the Archdiocese of Philadelphia. He was also the past chairman of the Pennsylvania State Board of Accountancy.

James (Jim) Datin

Mr. Datin is the current President & Chief Executive Officer of BioAgilytix, a leading global bioanalytical CRO that supports the development of novel therapeutic biologics. BioAgilytix was recently acquired by Cobepa, a PE fund. Mr. Datin was previously Executive Vice President and Managing Director at Safeguard Scientifics, Inc., where he led the deal/investment team. He was also CEO of Touchpoint Solutions and is a former board member of Intralinks, where he chaired the audit committee. That company was acquired by TA & Associates. Mr. Datin was also Chairman of the Board for five years at Clarient, a cancer diagnostics company, when it was acquired by GE Healthcare in December 2010. In addition, Mr. Datin was Chairman of the Board of Laureate Pharma.

Mr. Datin holds an Advanced Management Degree from the Wharton School at The University of Pennsylvania, a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of New Haven and a Bachelor of Business Administration Degree from Marshall University.

David Urban

Mr. Urban is an accomplished business and government relations executive. He and his company advise organizations ranging in size from start-ups to the Fortune 100 on interaction with government in order to maximize stakeholder and shareholder value. In the field of politics, Mr. Urban has achieved success serving as an advisor to campaigns at the highest levels, including the President of the United States, the United States Senate and United States House of Representatives. In addition to his role as a business consultant and political advisor, Mr. Urban is a frequent contributor to CNN as a political commentator.

Mr. Urban earned a Bachelor of Science degree from the United States Military Academy at West Point, a Master of Public Administration degree from the University of Pennsylvania and a Juris Doctor degree from Temple University.

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee will pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Corporation by its external auditors. The Audit Committee may delegate to one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve non-audit services but preapproval by such member or members so delegated shall be presented to the full Audit Committee at its first scheduled meeting following such pre-approval.

Audit Committee Oversight

Dale Matheson Carr-Hill Labonte LLP ("DMCHL") resigned as auditors of the Corporation effective as of April 8, 2019 at our request. The Audit Committee and Board of Directors considered the resignation of DMCHL and approved the appointment of McGovern Hurley LLP (formerly known as UHY McGovern Hurley LLP) ("MH") as the successor auditor of the Corporation. The Notice of Change of Auditor package in respect of this change of auditor was filed by the Corporation on April 22, 2019 and is available on the Corporation's SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.

MH resigned as auditors of the Corporation effective as of November 19, 2019 at our request. The Audit Committee and Board of Directors considered the resignation of MH and approved the appointment of MNP as the successor auditor of the Corporation. The Notice of Change of Auditor package in respect of this change of auditor was filed by the Corporation on November 29, 2019 and is available on the Corporation's SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.

Reliance on Certain Exemptions

At no time since the commencement of the most recently completed financial year of the Corporation has the Corporation relied on the exemption in section 2.4 of NI 52-110 (De Minimis Non-Audit Services), or an exemption from the application of NI 52-110, in whole or in part, granted under Part 8 of NI 52-110 (Exemptions). The Corporation is relying upon the exemption in section 6.1 of NI 52-110.

Auditors' Fees

The following table sets forth the fees paid by the Corporation to its auditor for services rendered during the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Fee	For the year ended December 31, 2018	For the year ended December 31, 2019
Audit Fees ⁽¹⁾	\$118,260	\$198,750
Audit-Related Fees ⁽²⁾	\$5,000	Nil
Tax Fees ⁽³⁾	\$4,000	Nil
All Other Fees ⁽⁴⁾	Nil	Nil
Total	\$127,260	\$198,750

Notes:

- (1) "Audit Fees" include fees necessary to perform the annual audit and quarterly reviews of the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. Audit Fees include fees for review of tax provisions and for accounting consultations on matters reflected in the financial statements. Audit Fees also include audit or other attest services required by legislation or regulation, such as comfort letters, consents, reviews of securities filings and statutory audits.
- (2) "Audit-Related Fees" include services that are traditionally performed by the auditor. These audit-related services include employee benefit audits, due diligence assistance, accounting consultations on proposed transactions, internal control reviews and audit or attest services not required by legislation or regulation.
- (3) "Tax Fees" include fees for all tax services other than those included in "Audit Fees" and "Audit-Related Fees". This category includes fees for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice. Tax planning and tax advice includes assistance with tax audits and appeals, tax advice related to mergers and acquisitions, and requests for rulings or technical advice from tax authorities.
- (4) "All Other Fees" include all other non-audit services.

All permissible categories of non-audit services require pre-approval by the Audit Committee, subject to certain statutory exemptions.

INTERESTS OF EXPERTS

No person or corporation whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or corporation and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this AIF or as having prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this AIF holds any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the Corporation or of any associate or affiliate of the Corporation and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, senior officer or employee of the Corporation or of any associate or affiliate of the Corporation and no such person is a promoter of the Corporation or any associate or affiliate of the Corporation.

MNP is independent of the Corporation in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario and within the meaning of the applicable rules and regulations adopted by the SEC and the PCAOB. Further, MH was, at all relevant times, independent of the Corporation in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario and within the meaning of the applicable rules and regulations adopted by the SEC and the PCAOB.

As of the date of this AIF, to the best of our knowledge, MNP and the partners and associates of MNP, and MH, and the partners and associates of MH, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in their respective groups, less than 1% of our outstanding securities.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information relating to the Corporation may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Additional information including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness, principal holders of the Corporation's securities and securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans are contained in the Corporation's management information circular dated November 14, 2019, in respect of the annual and special meeting of Shareholders held on December 16, 2019, which is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Additional financial information is provided in the Corporation's audited consolidated financial statements and management's discussion and analysis thereon for the financial year ended December 31, 2019, which are also available under the Corporation's SEDAR profile.

SCHEDULE "A"

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

(See attached)

PURPOSE AND AUTHORITY

The Audit Committee (the "Committee") of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of FSD Pharma Inc. (the "Company") assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibility for oversight of: (a) the integrity of the Company's financial statements (b) the qualifications, independence and performance of the Company's independent auditors, (c) the Company's compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and (d) the quality and integrity of the accounting, auditing and reporting practices of the Company and such other duties as directed by the Company's Board.

The Committee shall maintain free and open communication with the independent accountants and the management of the Company. In discharging this oversight role, the Committee is empowered to investigate any matter brought to its attention. In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee, in its sole discretion, has the authority to appoint, compensate and provide oversight of, and retain or obtain the advice of, external auditors, outside counsel or other experts or advisors. The Company shall at all times make adequate provisions for the payment of all fees and other compensation approved by the Committee for such auditors, counsel, experts or advisors. The Committee also has the authority to obtain advice and assistance from internal accounting or other advisers or employees. The Committee shall perform its Committee functions for all FSD Pharma Inc. subsidiaries.

While the Committee has the authority, duties and responsibilities set forth in this Charter, the Committee's function is one of oversight. The Company's management is responsible for preparing the Company's financial statements and for developing and maintaining systems of internal accounting and financial controls, while the independent accountants will assist the Committee and the Board in fulfilling their responsibilities for their review of these financial statements and internal controls.

The Committee expects the independent accountants to call to the Committee's attention any accounting, auditing, internal accounting control, regulatory or other related matters that the independent accountants believe warrant consideration or action. The Committee recognizes that the Company's management and the internal and outside accountants have more knowledge and information about the Company than do Committee members. Further, the Company's management is responsible for business risk management processes including the identification, assessment, mitigation and monitoring of risks on a Company-wide basis. Consequently, in carrying out its oversight responsibilities, the Committee does not provide any expert or special assurance as to the Company's financial statements, business risk management processes, or internal controls or any professional certification as to the independent accountants' work.

COMPOSITION AND MEETINGS

The Committee shall be composed of three or more directors as determined by the Board, each of whom shall satisfy, as determined by the Board: (i) the independence requirements of National Instrument 52-110 - Audit Committees, and (ii) meet the other applicable requirements of any stock exchange on which the Company's securities are listed from time to time, and

(iii) the Company's Policy Regarding Nominations of Directors. At least one member of the Committee shall: (a) qualify as an "audit committee financial expert" within the meaning of the rules of the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission ("SEC"), and (b) meet the experience requirements within applicable securities and stock exchange rules. Committee members shall not simultaneously serve on the audit committees of more than two additional audit committees of other public companies, unless the Board determines that service by any member of the Committee on more than two additional audit committees of other public companies (other than controlled companies of FSD Pharma Inc.) would not impair the ability of such member to effectively serve on the Company's Audit Committee. Directors' fees (including fees for attendance at meetings of committees of the Board) are the only compensation that a Committee member may receive from the Company.

The Board shall appoint the Chair and the other members of the Committee annually and as vacancies or newly created positions occur, considering the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and the Board may remove members of the Committee at any time. The members of the Committee shall serve until their successors are appointed and qualified to serve on the Committee. The Chair shall be responsible for leadership of the Committee, including overseeing the agenda, presiding over the meetings and reporting to the Board. The Committee may invite to its meetings any member of Company management and such other persons as it deems appropriate to carry out its responsibilities.

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly each calendar year (or more frequently if circumstances require) and hold such other meetings from time to time as may be called by its Chair, or requested by the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of the Company or any two members of the Committee. Meetings may be held in person, by video conference or by telephone. Committee actions may be taken by unanimous written consent of the members. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum of the Committee. The vote of a majority of the members of the full Committee shall be the act of the Committee.

Except as expressly provided in this Charter or the By-Laws of the company or as required by law, regulations or stock exchange listing standards, the Committee shall fix its own rules of procedures.

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

In addition to any other responsibilities which may be assigned from time to time by the Board, the Committee shall be responsible for the following matters:

- 1. The Committee is directly responsible for the appointment, pre-approval of compensation, retention and oversight of the work of the independent accountants employed by the Company (including resolution of disagreements between management and the accountants regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company. The independent accountants shall report directly to the Committee.
- 2. The Committee shall have the sole authority to appoint or replace the independent accountants who audit the financial statements of the Company. The Committee shall have the ultimate authority and responsibility to evaluate the performance of the independent accountants

and, where appropriate, replace the independent accountants. In the process, the Committee will discuss and consider the accountants' written affirmation that the accountants are in fact independent, will discuss the nature and rigor of the audit process, receive and review all reports and will provide to the independent accountants full access to the Committee (and the Board) to report on any and all appropriate matters.

- 3. The Committee shall ensure that the independent accountants submit on at least a quarterly basis to the Committee a statement delineating all relationships between the independent accountants (or any of their affiliates) and the Company and actively engage in a dialogue with the independent accountants with respect to any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the accountants' objectivity and independence; and, if deemed appropriate by the Committee, recommend that the Board take appropriate action to ensure the independence of the accountants.
- 4. The Committee shall review with the independent accountants the independent accountants' responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, the proposed scope and timing of the annual audit (including planning, staffing, budget, locations and reliance upon management), past audit experience and other matters bearing upon the scope of the audit.
- 5. The Committee shall pre-approve all audit and audit-related engagement fees and terms and other significant compensation to be paid to the independent accountants as well as pre-approve all non-audit engagements with the independent accountants. The Committee shall consult with management but shall not delegate these responsibilities.
- 6. The Committee shall review and discuss with management and the independent accountants the Company's annual audited financial statements, including: (a) the related "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," (b) matters regarding accounting and auditing principles as well as internal controls that could have a significant effect on the Company's financial statements, and (c) any other matters required to be discussed by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") Auditing Standard No. 16, as modified or supplemented, relating to the conduct of the audit, prior to the filing of the Company's annual audited financial statements. The Committee shall also recommend to the Board that the Company's annual financial statements, together with the report of their independent accountants as to their examination, be approved.
- 7. The Committee shall review and discuss with management and the independent accountants the Company's quarterly financial statements, including the related "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the matters required to be discussed pursuant to PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 16 and AU Section 722, as modified or supplemented, prior to the filing of the Company's interim financial statements, including the results of the independent accountants' reviews of the quarterly financial statements to the extent applicable.
- 8. The Committee shall review and discuss with the independent accountants any other matters required to be discussed by PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 16, as modified or supplemented.
- 9. The Committee shall review and discuss with management and the independent accountants, as applicable:

- (a) major issues regarding accounting principles and financial statement presentations, including any significant changes in the Company's selection or application of accounting principles, and reports from management and the independent accountants as to the Company's internal controls over financial reporting and any special audit steps adopted in light of material control deficiencies:
- (b) analyses prepared by management or the independent accountants setting forth significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of the financial statements, including analyses of the effects of alternative GAAP methods on the financial statements;
- (c) any management letter provided by the independent accountants and management's response to that letter;
- (d) the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives, as well as off-balance sheet structures, derivatives and liquidity exposures, on the financial statements of the Company;
- (e) the critical accounting policies and practices of the Company;
- (f) earnings press releases (paying particular attention to any use of "pro forma," or "adjusted" non-GAAP, information);
- (g) financial information and earnings guidance, if any, that are given to analysts and rating agencies, provided that such review and discussion may address the general types of information disclosed and types of presentations made and need not take place in advance of each instance in which the Company may provide such information or earnings guidance; and
- (h) suggestions or recommendations of the independent accountants or the internal auditors regarding any of the foregoing items.
- 10. The Committee shall review and discuss with the independent accountants any audit problems, difficulties or differences encountered and management's responses thereto, such as:
 - (a) any restrictions on the scope of the independent accountants' activities or on access to requested information;
 - (b) any accounting adjustments that were noted or proposed by the auditor but were "passed" (as immaterial or otherwise);
 - (c) any communications between the audit team and the audit firm's national office respecting auditing or accounting issues presented by the engagement;

- (d) any management or internal control letter issued, or proposed to be issued, by the independent accountants; and
- (e) any significant disagreements between management and the independent accountants.
- 11. The Committee shall, in conjunction with the CEO and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") of the Company, review the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. The review of internal controls over financial reporting shall include whether there are any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and any fraud involving management or other employees with a significant role in internal controls over financial reporting.
- 12. The Committee shall evaluate the qualifications, performance and independence of the independent accountants, including a review and evaluation of the lead partner of the independent accountant and taking into account the opinions of management and the Company's internal auditors, and shall present its conclusions with respect to the independence of the independent accountants to the full Board on at least an annual basis. The Committee shall obtain and review a report from the independent accountants at least annually regarding: (a) the independent accountants' internal quality control procedures, (b) any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality control review, peer review of the independent accountants or PCAOB review or inspection of the firm, or by any other inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities within the preceding five years respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm, (c) any steps taken to deal with any such issues, and (d) all relationships between the independent accountants and the Company consistent with applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the independent accountant's communications with the audit committee concerning independence.
- 13. The Committee shall ensure that the lead audit partner of the independent accountants and the concurring audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit are rotated at least every five years, and further consider rotation of the independent accountant firm itself.
- 14. The Committee shall recommend to the Board policies for the Company's hiring of employees or former employees of the independent accountants who were engaged on the Company's account.
- 15. The Committee shall obtain and review disclosures made by the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer regarding compliance with their certification obligations as required under National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers Annual and Interim Filings, including the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls for financial reporting and evaluations thereof.

16. The Committee shall review the independent accountants' assessment of the Company's internal controls.

- 17. The Committee shall maintain and review annually procedures for: (a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.
- 18. The Committee shall meet on a regular basis with members of management to review business risk management processes, which include the identification, assessment, mitigation and monitoring of risks on a Company-wide basis.
- 19. The Committee shall coordinate its oversight of business risk management processes with other committees of the Board having primary oversight responsibility for specific risks and annually review for the Board which committees maintain such oversight responsibilities and the overall effectiveness of business risk management processes. The Committee shall oversee an annual audit of the political contributions of the Company.
- 20. The Committee shall review policies and procedures related to officers' expense accounts and perquisites, including use of corporate assets.
- 21. The Committee shall review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material effect on financial statements, related Company compliance policies, and reports to regulators.
- 22. The Committee shall regularly report to the Board. This report shall include a review of any issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of the Company's financial statements, the Company's compliance with legal or regulatory requirements, the independence and performance of the Company's independent accountants, the Company's internal controls over financial reporting, and any other matters that the Committee deems appropriate or is requested to include by the Board, including reporting all important matters relating to managing significant business risks.
- 23. The Committee shall prepare a report for inclusion in the Company's annual proxy and information statements as required by securities laws and stock exchange regulations and submit it to the Board for approval.
- 24. The Committee shall annually conduct a self-assessment of its activities under the terms of its charter and report any conclusions and/or recommendations to the Board.
- 25. The Committee shall annually review and assess the adequacy of this Charter and submit any recommended changes to the Board for approval.

Dated: November 8, 2019